PENSIONS COMMITTEE
Date:

Wednesday 6 October 2021

Time:

6.30 pm

Venue:

*

*In line with legislation and continuing Covid-19 precautions, committee members will attend the meeting
in person at Lambeth Town Hall, with members of the public and press, visiting members and officers
invited to attend virtually. Instructions overleaf.
Copies of agendas, reports, minutes and other attachments for the Council’s meetings are available on
the Lambeth website. www.lambeth.gov.uk/moderngov

Members of the Committee
Councillor Mary Atkins, Councillor Anna Birley (Chair), Councillor Pete Elliott, Councillor Peter Ely and
Councillor Iain Simpson

Co-optees
Shankar Siva Ananthan and Peter Woodward

Further Information
If you require any further information or have any queries please contact:
Marianna Ritchie, Telephone: 020 7926 8640; Email: mritchie@lambeth.gov.uk

Published on: Tuesday 28 September 2021

Queries on reports
Please contact report authors prior to the meeting if you have questions on the reports or wish to inspect
the background documents used. The contact details of the report author are shown on the front page of
each report.

@LBLdemocracy on Twitter http://twitter.com/LBLdemocracy or use #Lambeth
Lambeth Council – Democracy Live on Facebook http://www.facebook.com/

How to access the meeting
In line with legislation, Committee members will attend the meeting in person at Lambeth Town Hall.
Reflecting current government guidance to help prevent the spread of Covid-19, members of the public,
visiting Members and officers are invited to attend virtually. If you wish to attend the meeting in person,
public access can be made available for limited numbers, but please contact Democratic Services
(details on the front sheet of the agenda or Democracy@lambeth.gov.uk) before the meeting so that
arrangements can be made.

For Members of the Public
If you want to watch the live broadcast, this meeting is available to view as a Microsoft Teams Live
Event. If you are new to Microsoft Teams, clicking here will take you to the meeting page where you will
be prompted to download the app or watch on the web instead. Please follow the instructions to watch
on the web. On doing so, you can join our live event anonymously.
Members of the public wishing to make representations at this meeting must inform Democratic Services
(see front page for contact details) by 12pm on Tuesday 5 October 2021.

For Members of the Committee
In line with legislation, committee members will attend the meeting in person at Lambeth Town Hall.

For elected Members of the Council
Councillors who are not members of the Committee but wish to attend the meeting must inform
Democratic Services by 12pm on Tuesday 5 October 2021. Upon doing so they will be invited to attend
the meeting virtually.

Digital engagement
We encourage people to use Social Media and we normally tweet from most Council meetings. To get
involved you can tweet us @LBLDemocracy.

Audio/Visual Recording of meetings
Everyone is welcome to record meetings of the Council and its Committees using whatever, nondisruptive, methods you think are suitable. If you have any questions about this please contact
Democratic Services (members of the press please contact the Press Office).
Please note that the Chair of the meeting has the discretion to halt any recording for a number of
reasons including disruption caused by the filming or the nature of the business being conducted.
Persons making recordings are requested not to put undue restrictions on the material produced so that
it can be reused and edited by all local people and organisations on a non-commercial basis.

Representation
Ward Councillors may be contacted directly to represent your views to the Council: (details via the
website www.lambeth.gov.uk)

Security
Please be aware that you may be subject to bag searches and asked to sign in at meetings that are held
in public. Failure to comply with these requirements could mean you are denied access to the meeting.
There is also limited seating which is allocated on a first come first serve basis, and you should aim to
arrive at least 15 minutes before the meeting commences. For more details please visit: our website.
Please contact Democratic Services for further information – 020 7926 2170 or the number on the front
page.

Directions to Lambeth Town Hall, London, SW2 1RW
Lambeth Town Hall is located at the southern end of Brixton Road and is a highly visible landmark. It can
be accessed via a number of bus routes and is a short walk from both Brixton Station and Brixton
Underground Station.

AGENDA

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE ORDER OF THE AGENDA MAY BE CHANGED AT THE MEETING

Page
Nos.
1

Declarations of Pecuniary Interests
Under Standing Order 4.4, where any councillor has a Disclosable
Pecuniary Interest (as defined in the Members’ Code of Conduct
(para.4)) in any matter to be considered at a meeting of the Council, a
committee, sub-committee or joint committee, they must withdraw from
the meeting room during the whole of the consideration of that matter
and must not participate in any vote on that matter unless a
dispensation has been obtained from the Monitoring Officer.

2

Minutes of the Previous Meeting
To approve the minutes of the meeting held 7 July 2021

1-8

3

Investment Performance Report - Q2 2021
Robert Browning, Head of Treasury and Pensions, 07394
402801, rbrowning@lambeth.gov.uk

9 - 26

4

Risk Register - September 2021
Linda D’Souza, Head of Payroll and Pensions – 07854 752186,
ldsouza@lambeth.gov.uk : Robert Browning, Head of Treasury and
Pensions – 07394 402801, rbrowning@lambeth.gov.uk.

27 - 36

5

Training Policy and Plan - October 2021
Robert Browning, Head of Treasury and Pensions, 07394
402801, rbrowning@lambeth.gov.uk

37 - 70

6

UK Stewardship Code
Robert Browning, Head of Treasury and Pensions, 07394
402801, rbrowning@lambeth.gov.uk

71 - 102

7

General Update - October 2021
Robert Browning, Head of Treasury and Pensions, 07394
402801, rbrowning@lambeth.gov.uk

103 - 206

8

LDI Hedging Review
Robert Browning, Head of Treasury and Pensions, 07394
402801, rbrowning@lambeth.gov.uk

207 - 234

9

Climate Change Scenario Analysis
Robert Browning, Head of Treasury and Pensions, 07394
402801, rbrowning@lambeth.gov.uk

235 - 278

10

Investment Performance (Manager) Report - Q2 2021

279 - 316

Robert Browning, Head of Treasury and Pensions, 07394
402801, rbrowning@lambeth.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 1

Agenda Item 2

PENSIONS COMMITTEE MINUTES
Wednesday 7 July 2021 at 6.30 pm
Council Chamber - Lambeth Town Hall, Brixton, London, SW2 1RW.

Members Present:

Councillor Mary Atkins, Councillor Anna Birley (Chair), Councillor Pete
Elliott and Councillor Iain Simpson

Co-optees Present:

Shankar Siva Ananthan

Apologies:

Peter Woodward

Also present
online:

Councillor John Kazantzis

1

Declarations of Pecuniary Interests
There were none.

2

Minutes of the Previous Meeting
The rebalancing policy had not been circulated to members. Members requested this be
done and that the timeline for the rebalancing process be circulated.
RESOLVED:
To agree the minutes with the above action.

3

Action Log and Work Programme
Officers apologised that the document on ESG had not been circulated prior to the
meeting and agreed to do this afterwards.
RESOLVED:
To note the Action Log and Work Programme for the year.

4

Lambeth Pension Fund - Funding Issues Update
Rob Browning, Head of Treasury and Pensions introduced the actuary from Hymans
Robertson to do a presentation. They summarised that:


The funding level had increased since 2019;

Page 2




Covid-19 and longevity had had an effect on the funding level, but the ongoing
impact remained unknown;
They were focussing on embedding climate risk into the advice they would give
about pension contributions after the 2022 valuation;
They would be including the potential impacts of different outcomes from climate
policies in the 2022 valuation.

RESOLVED:
That the report, together with the information in the accompanying presentation
prepared by the Fund’s actuary, be noted.

5

Investment Performance Report - Q1 2021
Rob Browning, Head of Treasury and Pensions, presented the report and stated that:









A rebalancing exercise would be undertaken to address over and underweight
allocations in the fund;
They would bring a paper about the LDI Fund top-up allocation as it was also still
underweight;
Actuarial valuation would inform de-risking the fund;
The Pensions team would add a plan with accompanying timeline for delivering
the rebalancing strategy on the action log and bring to the next committee
meeting;
The fund had committed to two further funds with Churchill and Permira as
agreed at the March Committee meeting; the private debt allocation was still
underweight as managers were yet to call up committed capital, but they
expected it to rise in the short- to medium-term as capital is called, and;
The warehousing strategy was ensuring the funds allocated to private debt were
achieving a good return in an active mandate.

RESOLVED:
That the report, together with the information in the accompanying performance report,
be noted.

6

Business Plan 2021/22
Rob Browning, Head of Treasury and Pensions, presented the report and, in response
to questions, clarified that the Council was not yet a signatory to the stewardship code,
but that it was aiming to do so. Rob Browning also explained that the stewardship code
was a set of principles which asset managers were encouraged to set out compliance
with. The deadline for outlining how the Council would adhere to those principles was
the end of October, and officers would be sending out the LCIV stewardship report after
the meeting as an example of a stewardship report.

Page 3
RESOLVED:
That the Business Plan for 2021/22 be approved, as appended at Appendix 1.

7

Draft Annual Report 2020/21
Rob Browning, Head of Treasury and Pensions, presented the report, stating that:







There had been very strong performance for the year overall;
The Fund’s audit was about to begin and should be completed by the end of
November, which would not meet the statutory deadlines for the Council’s
accounts;
There were some challenges presented for completing the audits as Mazars was
still working on NHS audits due to capacity issues, but the team had prepared for
expected delays;
A consultation was underway to make a plan for avoiding late accounts in the
future.

RESOLVED:
To note the draft Annual Report as appended and delegate approval of the final audited
report and financial statements to the Chair.

8

General Update - July 2021
Rob Browning, Head of Treasury and Pensions, presented the report noting in particular
that:







A new Chair had been elected at the LCIV which would come into effect in
September;
The LCIV’s climate change policy, stewardship outcomes report and their TCFD
report had been published, and the Pensions team would circulate those after the
meeting;
The actuarial contract with Hymans Robertson had been extended for a further
three years;
A routine retendering exercise would be carried out over the summer for the
investment advisory service;
A list of suggested conferences and events for member training had been put
together, and the Pensions team would present a more formal training plan in
October.

RESOLVED:
That the report, together with the information in the accompanying papers, be noted.

9

Investment Performance (Manager) Report - Q1 2021

Page 4
That under section 100A-H of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be
excluded from the remainder of the meeting on the grounds that, for the item of
business summarised below, it was likely that exempt information, as defined by Section
1001 and Schedule 12a of the Local Government Act 1972 and as specified by
reference to the appropriate paragraph thereof, would be disclosed to them:
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person
including the authority holding that information.

10

LCIV Multi Asset Credit Fund
That under section 100A-H of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be
excluded from the remainder of the meeting on the grounds that, for the item of
business summarised below, it was likely that exempt information, as defined by Section
1001 and Schedule 12a of the Local Government Act 1972 and as specified by
reference to the appropriate paragraph thereof, would be disclosed to them:
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person
including the authority holding that information.

The meeting ended at 7.40 pm
CHAIR
PENSIONS COMMITTEE
Wednesday 6 October 2021
Date of Despatch: Wednesday 14 July 2021
Contact for Enquiries: Marianna Ritchie
Tel: 020 7926 8640
E-mail: mritchie@lambeth.gov.uk
Web: www.lambeth.gov.uk

Pensions Committee Action Monitoring
Outstanding Actions
Meeting Date

Agenda Item Description
Item

Action

Owner

Due Date

Latest Update

07-Jul-2021

2

Minutes

Officers to distribute a timeline for
the drafting and/or updating of the
Fund’s Rebalancing Policy.

Robert
Browning

Postmeeting

RB send out wc 27/9

7-Jul-2021

4

March-2022

Date added

11

Officers to report on potential
impacts of climate change
policies in 2022 valuation
Officers to circulate the correct
London CIV structure chart to the
Committee.

Robert
Browning

24-Mar-2021

Lambeth Pension
Fund – Funding Issues
Update
LCIV Quarterly Update

Robert
Browning

July-2021

RB send out wc 27/9

Page 5

Completed Actions
Agenda Item Description
Item

Action

Owner

Due Date

Latest Update

08-Jul-2020

8

LCIV Quarterly Update

Officers to circulate to members
the Brunel report on ESG of
pooled funds.

Robert
Browning

July-2021

Emailed to Members 09-Jul-2021.

20-Nov-2019

8

Action Log and Work
Programme

To conduct LDI and local
investment strategy training
sessions once consultation was
concluded.

Robert
Browning

Sept-2020

LDI Training delivered on 16-Jul-2021.

7-Jul-2021

3

07-Jul-2021

5

Action Log and Work
Programme
Investment
Performance Report Q1 2021

Officers to circulate document on
ESG
Present a timeline for expected
drawdown of Private Debt
commitments.

Robert
Browning
Robert
Browning

Postmeeting
Oct-2021

24-Mar-2021

6

Carbon Metrics
Analysis

The Committee requested carbon
literacy/decarbonisation/net zero
training.

Robert
Browning

Oct-2021

Training has been commissioned from
Mercer; dates will be set once material has
been prepared.

07-Jul-2021

5

Investment
Performance Report Q1 2021

Present a timeline/plan for
rebalancing the Fund’s
overweight equity allocation.

Robert
Browning

Oct-2021

Has been incorporated into October
meeting / completed

7-Jul-2021

6

Business Plan 2021/22

7-Jul-2021

8
5

Robert
Browning
Robert
Browning
Robert
Browning

Postmeeting
Oct-2021

07-Jul-2021

General Update – July
2021
Investment
Performance Report Q1 2021

Officers circulate LCIV
Stewardship report
Officers present a formal training
plan
Present a timeline/plan for
rebalancing the Fund’s
overweight equity allocation.

Oct-2021

Completed
Has been incorporated into October
meeting / completed

Page 6

Meeting Date

Wednesday 7 July 2021
Start time 18:30
Lead Officer/ Author
Democratic Services
Linda D’Souza/Robert Browning
Robert Browning
Robert Browning
Robert Browning
Robert Browning
Robert Browning
Robert Browning

Report Title
Action Log and Work Programme
Lambeth Pension Fund – Funding Issues Update
Investment Performance Report – Q1 2021
Business Plan 2021/22
Draft Annual Report 2020/21
General Update – July 2021
Investment Performance (Manager) Report – Q1 2021
LCIV Multi Asset Credit Fund

Comments (part II)

Part II
Part II

Lead Officer/ Author
Democratic Services
Robert Browning
Linda D’Souza/Robert Browning
Linda D’Souza/Robert Browning
Robert Browning
Robert Browning
Robert Browning
Robert Browning
Robert Browning

Report Title
Action Log and Work Programme
Investment Performance Report – Q2 2021
Pension Fund Risk Register
Training Policy and Programme
Stewardship Code Report
General Update – October 2021
LDI Hedging Review
Climate Change Strategy
Investment Performance (Manager) Report – Q2 2021

Comments (part II)

Part II

Page 7

Wednesday 6 October 2021
Start time 18:30

Wednesday 15 December 2021
Start time 18:30
Lead Officer/ Author
Democratic Services
Linda D’Souza/Robert Browning
Robert Browning
Robert Browning
Robert Browning

Report Title
Action Log and Work Programme
Governance and Funding Update
Investment Performance Report – Q3 2021
General Update – December 2021
Investment Performance (Manager) Report – Q3 2021

Comments (part II)

Part II

Wednesday 16 March 2022 (TBC)
Start time 18:30
Report Title
Action Log and Work Programme
Investment Performance Report – Q4 2021
Pension Fund Risk Register
Closing and Audit Plan – 2021/22
General Update – March 2022
Investment Performance (Manager) Report – Q4 2021

Comments (part II)

Part II

Page 8

Lead Officer/ Author
Democratic Services
Robert Browning
Linda D’Souza/Robert Browning
Robert Browning
Robert Browning
Robert Browning

Page 9

Agenda Item 3

PENSIONS COMMITTEE 06 OCTOBER 2021
Report title: Lambeth Pension Fund – Investment Performance Review – 30 June
2021
Wards: All
Portfolio: Cabinet Member for Finance and Performance: Councillor Andy Wilson
Report Authorised by: Strategic Director for Finance and Investment: Fiona
McDermott:
Contact for Enquiries: Robert Browning, Head of Treasury and Pensions, 07394
402801, rbrowning@lambeth.gov.uk

REPORT SUMMARY
The Pensions Committee considers fund managers' performance on a quarterly
basis in order to assess the performance of the council's Pension Fund investments
and the market outlook.
This report informs members of the fund managers’ performance as measured by
Mercer, the Fund's investment adviser, and keeps members up to date on managing
the implemented investment strategy, including any rebalancing required to maintain
the strategic asset allocation.

FINANCE SUMMARY
For the quarter ended 30 June 2021, the pension fund costs in respect of fund
managers’ fees totalled £1,940,392.99 of which only £1,192.17 was remitted; the
remainder was deducted in the daily pricing of the individual portfolio’s net asset
value. The Fund meets all fees and there are no additional financial implications for
the Council.

1.

RECOMMENDATIONS
That the report, together with the information in the accompanying performance
report, be noted.

Page 10
1
1.1

CONTEXT
The Pensions Committee reviews the performance of the Fund investments and
administration on a quarterly basis and considers the market outlook. In addition, the
Committee considers Fund arrangements and pension policy issues in line with its
investment strategy. The following narrative summarises the investment performance
report from Mercer, with additional updates on rebalancing and funding levels.

2

PROPOSALS AND REASONS

2.1

Performance to 30 June 2021
The market value of the Fund’s assets at 30 June 2021 was £1,870.8m, an increase
of £77.6m, or 4.3%, over the previous quarter (£1,793.2m as at 31 March 2021).

2.2

The Fund outperformed the benchmark over the quarter to 30 June 2021, primarily
as a result of outperformance in the sustainable global equity fund managed by RBC
(9.3% against a benchmark of 7.6%) and the multi-asset credit fund managed by
CQS (2% against a benchmark of 1%). The main detractors to performance were the
Invesco UK PRS fund (returning 0.5% against a benchmark of 3.7%) and the JP
Morgan emerging equity fund (3.2% against a benchmark of 4.9%).

2.3

The Fund has also outperformed its overall benchmark over a twelve-month, threeyear and five-year period; performance over the twelve-month period was particularly
strong at 16.3%, 4.6% ahead of benchmark.

2.4

The full performance report from Mercer is attached at Appendix One; the table
below summarises asset class performance over three months, one year, three
years, and five years.

Asset Class

Last Quarter
Last Year
Fund B’mark Fund B’mark

Last 3 Years
Fund B’mark
(%
(%
p.a.)
p.a.)

Last 5 Years
Fund B’mark
(%
(%
p.a.)
p.a.)

(%)

(%)

(%)

(%)

Global Equity

8.1

7.5

31.7

24.7

21.4

13.3

20.3

14.3

Emerging
Markets
Equity
Property

3.2

4.9

30.6

26.0

8.5

9.6

-

-

2.4

2.0

(5.1)

8.0

(0.2)

8.0

3.3

8.0

0.5

3.7

2.5

6.9

-

-

-

-

1.7

1.0

12.6

4.1

-

-

-

-

(0.1)

1.0

0.5

4.1

-

-

-

-

3.9

3.9

(5.0)

(4.3)

(4.3)

-

-

4.7

4.1

16.3

10.2

8.1

9.8

8.2

UK PRS
Property
Multi-Asset
Credit
Private Debt
LDI
Total (exAdams Street)

(5.0)
11.7

Page 11

Notes on table:
 Figures shown are net of fees and based on performance provided by the
investment managers, Mercer estimates and Thomson Reuters Datastream.
 For periods over one year the figures in the table above have been
annualised.
 Total scheme returns include quarterly returns for Private Debt calculated by
Mercer using a Modified Dietz approach based on data provided by Churchill,
Invesco and Thomson Reuters Datastream. Over the long-term returns are
chain linked using quarterly Total Fund returns.
 Property benchmark return taken as an absolute return target of 8% p.a. for
performance measurement purposes.
 Multi-Asset Credit benchmark return taken as 3 Month Sterling LIBOR +4%
p.a. for performance measurement purposes.
 UK Private Rented Sector Property and Private Debt figures shown for all
periods are calculated by Mercer using a Modified Dietz approach over each
period and are based on data provided by Churchill, Invesco and Thomson
Reuters Datastream.

2.5

Rebalancing and Investment Strategy Update
As at 30 June 2021 the Fund’s allocation to global equities was approximately 12.2%
over benchmark allocation (due to increases in market value), most notably with
Baillie Gifford (8.3% over benchmark) and RBC (3.3% over benchmark), whilst the
overall property allocation was 6.4% under benchmark and the LDI allocation 2.6%
under benchmark (all set out on slide 5 of the attached report at Appendix One). In
addition, whilst the multi-asset credit and private debt allocations are over and
underweight respectively, the Fund’s warehousing policy agreed as part of its revised
investment strategy in March 2020 will see funds drawn down from multi-asset credit
holdings to finance private debt commitments as and when they fall due.

2.6

As at 30 June 2021 approximately £48m, or 65% of the Fund’s original £75m
commitment to its two private debt managers, Churchill and Permira, had been
called. The first capital call against the Fund’s additional 7%, or circa £125m
commitment to private debt, agreed in March 2020, was issued in August for
approximately £3m. The Committee is reminded that the investment period of these
funds is up to three years from final close, with the total term expected to last up to
eight years; as such, the under-allocation to private debt against the strategic
allocation is likely to continue for the medium-term.

2.7

The subscription and due diligence process for the Permira Credit Solutions V fund
(PCS5) is now underway, with a first close targeted for October 2021.

2.8

To address the Fund’s overweight allocation to equities, in late July 2021 officers
instructed the London CIV to redeem 8% of the Fund’s overweight position to global
and sustainable equities, or £143m, which was executed in early August. The sales
proceeds will be used to finance the top-up to the Fund’s LDI allocation (as set out

Page 12
elsewhere in the agenda) and property allocation; officers are in discussion with LCIV
regarding their London Fund and future plans for property mandates, and are
exploring an additional allocation to PRS property.
2.9

2.10

2.11

2.12

A formal policy on rebalancing will be introduced into the revised Investment Strategy
Statement when reviewed in early 2022 alongside the actuarial valuation.
Fund Management Fees
For the quarter ended 30 June 2021 the costs in respect of fund managers’ fees
totalled £1,940,392.99 of which only £1,192.17 was remitted; the remainder was
deducted in the daily pricing of the individual portfolio’s net asset value. Fees are
calculated on market value of the portfolio as at the end of the quarter after adjusting
for changes in capital value. All fees are met by the Pension Fund.
Fossil Fuel Exposure
As at 30 June 2021 the Fund’s direct exposure to fossil fuels was nil; indirect
exposure was estimated at 0.95% of the Fund, or £17.7m. Further information is
provided elsewhere in this agenda under the Investment Performance (Managers)
report.
Funding Level as at 30 June 2021
The funding level at the last formal valuation as at 31 March 2019 was 82%. The
actuary’s estimated funding level as at the end of 30 June 2021 had improved to
99%, an increase of approximately 17% over the current valuation period and due
largely to an excess return on assets. However, it should be noted that market
reactions to the Chancellor’s announcement on RPI reform have indicated their
estimate of long-term CPI may be viewed as optimistic; as a result, the true
underlying funding level may be slightly lower than indicated in this update.

3
3.1

FINANCE
This report outlines the financial performance of the Pension Fund over the quarter to
30 June 2021. There are no further financial implications in agreeing to the
recommendations in this report.

4
4.1

LEGAL AND DEMOCRACY
The Lambeth Pension Fund is run in accordance with the Local Government Pension
Scheme Regulations 2013 enacted along with other Regulations under the
Superannuation Act 1972 and the Public Service Pension Act 2013, and is for the
benefit of Council employees and outside organisations which have entered into an
agreement with Lambeth to provide pensions for their staff.

4.2

The Pension Committee must be mindful of their fiduciary duty to obtain the best
possible financial return on the investments it administers within the investment
strategy framework.

4.3

There are no additional comments from Democratic Services.

Page 13

5
5.1

CONSULTATION AND CO-PRODUCTION
Not Applicable.

6
6.1

RISK MANAGEMENT
Investment decisions involve taking risks that Members of the Committee should
always bear in mind. Generally, risk is taken to mean the variability of returns.
Investments with greater risk must usually promise higher returns than more ‘stable’
investments before investors will buy them. Members must consider the risk/reward
trade-off; generally, the higher the potential return expected the higher the associated
risk. Members in their capacity as Trustees bear that risk.

7
7.1

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT
None for the purposes of this report.

8
8.1

COMMUNITY SAFETY
None for the purposes of this report.

9

ORGANISATIONAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

Environmental
None for the purposes of this report.

9.2

Health
None for the purposes of this report.

9.3

Corporate Parenting
None for the purposes of this report.

9.4

Staffing and accommodation
None for the purposes of this report.

9.5

Responsible Procurement
None for the purposes of this report.

10
10.1

TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
Not Applicable.

Page 14
AUDIT TRAIL
Consultation
Name/Position
Councillor Andrew
Wilson, Cabinet
Member
Fiona McDermott,
Strategic Director
Christina Thompson,
Director of Finance
Hamant Bharadia,
Assistant Director of
Finance
Andrew Pavlou,
Legal Services
Marianna Ritchie,
Democratic Services
Mercer (External)

Lambeth
directorate/
division or
partner

Date Sent

Date
Received

Finance and
Performance

20.09.2021

23.09.2021

20.09.2021

23.09.2021

20.09.2021

20.09.2021

20.09.2021

23.09.2021

20.09.2021

21.09.2021

20.09.2021

21.09.2021

20.09.2021

20.09.2021

Finance and
Investment
Finance and
Investment
Finance and
Investment
Legal and
Democratic
Services
Legal and
Democratic
Services
Consultant

REPORT HISTORY
Original discussion with Cabinet
Member
Report deadline
Date final report sent
Part II Exempt from
Disclosure/confidential
accompanying report?
Key decision report
Date first appeared on forward plan
Key decision reasons
Background information
Appendices

Comments
in para:

N/A
15 September 2021
23 September 2021
No
No
N/A
N/A
N/A
 Appendix One – Lambeth Pension
Fund Investment Performance
Report June 2021

Page 15

Page 16

Page 17

Page 18

Page 19

Page 20

Page 21

Growth Assets - Index Performance
5.6

UK Equities

Overseas Equities

US Equities
Europe (ex-UK) Equities
-0.5

Japanese Equities

Sterling Return

7.3
7.1
7.6
7.4
8.6
8.8
8.3
7.2

Global Equity

Local Currency Return

0.1

5.0
4.9
5.1
4.1
5.7
5.9

Asia Pacific (ex-Japan) Equities

Emerging Markets Equities
Global Small Cap Equities

High Yield Bonds

Emerging Market Debt
Property

Page 22

2.3
2.4
2.4
2.4
3.4
1.4
3.9

Hedge Funds

15.6
15.7

Commodities

-10

-5

0

5

10

15

20

25

Total Return (%)
Source: Thomson Reuters Datastream.

Defensive Assets - Index Performance
3.2

Over 15 Year Gilts

Sterling Return

3.9

Over 5 Year Index-Linked Gilts

Local Currency Return

1.2
1.1
1.7

Global Bonds
UK Credit

2.3
2.5

Global Credit
0.1

Eurozone Government Bonds

-0.7
0.0

Cash

-10
Source: Thomson Reuters Datastream.

-5

0

5

10

Total Return (%)

15

20

25

Page 23

Page 24

Page 25

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 27

Agenda Item 4

PENSIONS COMMITTEE 06 OCTOBER 2021
Report title: Lambeth Pension Fund – Risk Register
Wards: All
Portfolio: Cabinet Member for Finance and Performance: Councillor Andy Wilson
Report Authorised by: Fiona McDermott: Strategic Director for Finance and
Investment
Contact for enquiries: Linda D’Souza, Head of Payroll and Pensions – 07854
752186, ldsouza@lambeth.gov.uk : Robert Browning, Head of Treasury and
Pensions – 07394 402801, rbrowning@lambeth.gov.uk.

REPORT SUMMARY
This report provides the Committee with details of the arrangements in place to
manage the risks within the Lambeth Pension Fund as set out in the Risk Register
(Appendix One).

FINANCE SUMMARY
There are no direct financial implications in agreeing this report outside of the ongoing administration and governance of the pension fund.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1.

Pensions Committee
To note and review the Lambeth Pension Fund Risk Register and the additional
actions proposed to mitigate risk.

Page 28
1
1.1

CONTEXT
Effective risk management is an essential part of any governance framework as it
identifies risks and the actions required to mitigate their potential impact. For a
pension fund, those risks will come from a range of sources including:








the funding position
investment performance
membership changes
benefits administration
costs
communications; and,
financial systems.

1.2

The risks that have been identified are incorporated into the Fund’s Risk Register.

1.3

The Pensions Board will monitor the Risk Register as part of its scrutiny role in
relation to risk and compliance and forward any specific recommendations or
concerns to the Pensions Committee. However, the Pensions Committee is the
ultimate risk owner for the Lambeth Pension Fund and therefore an updated Risk
Register is brought to the Committee at least once a year

2

PROPOSALS AND REASONS

2.1

The updated Risk Register, which is in line with Lambeth Council’s Corporate Risk
Register format, is attached in Appendix One.

2.2

Risks are assessed in terms of the potential impact of the risk event should it occur,
and in terms of the likelihood of it occurring. These are then multiplied to produce an
overall risk score which are then used to prioritise the risk rating at high, medium or
low.
THREAT

I M P A C T

L I K E L I H O O D

Minor (1)

Significant (2)

Serious (4)

Major (8)

Very Likely (4)

4

8

16

32

Likely (3)

3

6

12

24

Unlikely (2)

2

4

8

16

Very Unlikely (1)

1

2

4

8

OPPORTUNITY I M P A C T
Minor (1)

Significant (2)

Serious (4)

Major (8)

Very Likely (4)

4

8

16

32

Likely (3)

3

6

12

24

Unlikely (2)

2

4

8

16

Very Unlikely (1)

1

2

4

8

Page 29

2.3

2.4

There are no red rated risks and three amber rated risks. The three risks are
summarised below, and the mitigations are set out within Appendix One:


PA9 – Incorrect, failed, or late receipt of employee/employer contribution
payments. Current rating is 6 and the target rating is 4. The situation regarding
ML Community’s contribution arrears is nearing resolution; however, the PLT
arrears remain outstanding.



PA24 – Remedies relating to the McCloud judgement that need to be made in
relation to the LGPS – Court of Appeal ruling that the transitional protections
awarded to some scheme members were unlawful on the grounds of age
discrimination and could not be justified. The current rating is 6 and the target
rating is 2. It is the government’s intention for legislation to be in place by April
2022 and therefore the risk status is unlikely to change for some time.



PA26 – Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) Reconciliation & Rectification –
Impact of the potential adjustments to be made to members’ pensions as a
result of the GMP reconciliation exercise. Current rating is 6 and target rating is
2. The adjustments were recently uploaded onto the pensions system and
affected pensioners are currently being notified of the under/overpayment of
their pension which may result in a number of member complaints.

The Risk Register is reviewed regularly to ensure that any new and emerging risks
are identified and captured on the risk register, together with appropriate mitigations
and managements. Since the risk register was last presented to the Pensions
Committee meeting on 24 March 2021, the following changes to the Risk Register
ratings have been made.
Reference
Number
PA 21 Insufficient
attention to ESG
risks
PA25 GMP
Equalisation

PA30 Increase in
employer
liabilities

Previous
Rating
1

Current
Rating
4

6

2

NA

4

Reason for change
Further to the Pension Board
recommendation to the Pension Committee
to increase the risk rating.
Central government has dropped GMP
conversion for public sector organisations in
favour for full indexation, which is a current
business as usual process.
New Risk - Employer failure with insufficient
or no form of guarantee or security. All new
employer bodies need to have a suitable
guarantee/covenant in place as part of being
admitted into the Lambeth Pension Fund.

Page 30
3
3.1

FINANCE
There are no financial implications arising from the recommendations of this report.

4
4.1

LEGAL AND DEMOCRACY
The Lambeth Pension Fund is run in accordance with the Local Government Pension
Scheme Regulations 2013 enacted along with other Regulations under the
Superannuation Act 1972 and the Public Service Pension Act 2013 and is for the
benefit of Council employees and outside organisations which have entered into an
agreement with Lambeth to provide pensions for their staff.

4.2

The Pension Committee must be mindful of their fiduciary duty to obtain the best
possible financial return on the investments it administers within the investment
strategy framework.

4.3

There are no additional comments from Democratic Services.

5
5.1

CONSULTATION AND CO-PRODUCTION
Consultation with appropriate officers of the Council to establish the current risks has
been undertaken. The risk register is also presented at every meeting of the
Pensions Board.

6
6.1

RISK MANAGEMENT
The recommendations contained within the risk register are intended to mitigate
financial and reputational risk where possible.

7
7.1

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT
None for the purposes of this report.

8
8.1

COMMUNITY SAFETY
None for the purposes of this report.

9

ORGANISATIONAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

Environmental
None for the purposes of this report.

9.2

Health
None for the purposes of this report.

9.3

Corporate Parenting
None for the purposes of this report.

9.4

Staffing and accommodation
None for the purposes of this report.
Responsible Procurement

Page 31
9.5

None for the purposes of this report.

10
10.1

TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
Not Applicable.

AUDIT TRAIL
Consultation
Name/Position
Councillor Andrew
Wilson, Cabinet
Member
Fiona McDermott,
Strategic Director
Christina
Thompson, Director
of Finance
Hamant Bharadia,
Assistant Director of
Finance
Andrew Pavlou,
Legal Services
Marianna Ritchie,
Democratic
Services

Lambeth
directorate/
division or
partner

Date Sent

Date
Received

Finance and
Performance

20.09.2021

23.09.2021

20.09.2021

23.09.2021

20.09.2021

20.09.2021

20.09.2021

23.09.2021

20.09.2021

21.09.2021

20.09.2021

21.09.2021

Finance and
Investment
Finance and
Investment/
Finance and
Property
Finance and
Investment/
Finance and
Property
Legal and
Democratic
Services
Legal and
Democratic
Services

REPORT HISTORY
Original discussion with Cabinet Member
Report deadline
Date final report sent
Part II Exempt from Disclosure/confidential
accompanying report?
Key decision report
Date first appeared on forward plan
Key decision reasons
Background information
Appendices

Comments
in para:

N/A
15 September 2021
23 September 2021
No
No
N/A
N/A
N/A
 Appendix One – Lambeth
Pension Fund Risk Register

Page 32

Target Rating

1

2

2

TREND

Target Impact

Impact of risk on outcomes and benefits

Target
Likelihood

Cause of risk

Current
Likelihood
Current
Impact
Current
Rating

Risk description

Version 2.3

TYPE

Risk
Category

30/09/2021

Owner

Ref

RISK REGISTER

Control measures / mitigations

PA1
(Operational)

People

Insufficient resource to
support requirements and
demands of Pension
Committee and Board.

Linda D'Souza
Committee and Board not operating effectively /Robert
Browning

Threat

Operational / Strategic risks
Officers assigned to Board and Committee.
2

2

4

Utilisation of additional resource (partners / consultants).

PA2
(Operational)

Insufficient knowledge &
understanding of Pension
Governance &
Board / Committee in line
Compliance
with legislative
requirements.

Unable to effectively carry out Fund
management responsibilities

Linda D'Souza
/Robert
Browning

Threat

Regular training is provided via a structured training programme to allow members to
review and challenge recommendations.

2

2

4

2

2

4

An updated Training Policy has been drafted in line with the revised 2021 CIPFA Code of
Practice on Knowledge and Skills
Actuarial, investment, independent and officer advice is available to assist members in
making their decisions.

Introduction of numerous regulations
resulting in complex calculations.

PA4
(Operational)

Inaccurate or insufficient
Governance &
membership data stored in
Compliance
the pensions system

Inaccurate data received from Fund
employers and/or poor data recording and
Errors in producing pension statements and
maintenance on the pensions
pension benefits to members. Complaints
administration system. Inability of
leading to possible fines.
employers to provide additional information
required as a result of McCloud (PA24)

Financial and reputational damage, e.g.
complaints leading to possible fines.

Linda D'Souza

Linda D'Souza

Threat

Failure to adhere to LGPS
Governance & legislation (including
Compliance
transitional protection or
other relevant legislation)

2

2

2

2

4

4

1

1

2

2

2

2

Support may be obtained from the Local Government Association and Lambeth's Pension
Fund actuary, Hymans Robertson.
Ongoing training of officers in addition to performance mangement and scheduled
appraisals to ensure compliance.

1) Recording of pay and pension contributions is checked thoroughly by officers and
through running Altair reports.
2) Regular validation of employer scheme membership data
3)Statutory guidance on the calculation of benefits where historic information is
incomplete.

PA5
(Strategic)

Strategy &
Finance

Increased contribution rate

Linda D'Souza
/ Linda
Osborne

Benefits applied incorrectly. Possible
complaints

Linda D'Souza
/ Linda
Osborne

Threat

1) Possible measure of Insuring against the cost and impact
Rise in ill health retirements
impact employer
organisations

2

2

4

1

2

2

2) Actuarial Valuations (Latest valuation shows no significant increase than that
assumed).

PA6
(Operational)

People

Lack of resources/time

Threat

1) Clear process notes in place.
Concentration of knowledge in small
number of officers and risk of departure or
absence of key staff

2

2

4

1

2

2

2) Development of team members & succession planning regularly reviewed.
3) Further training and networking with other LGPS pension administration teams.

PA8
(Operational)

Customer
outcomes &
quality

Contract
Management

Inaccurate information in
public domain leads to
damage to reputation and
loss of confidence

Linda D'Souza
Reputational damage. GDPR / data protection
/ Linda
breach.
Osborne

Financial failure of third
party supplier results in
service impairment and
financial loss

Service impairment and financial loss

1

2

2

1

2

2

2) Maintain constructive relationships with employing bodies to ensure that news is well
managed.
3) Ensure Lambeth Pension Fund website is kept up to date.

Linda D'Souza
/ Linda
Osborne

Threat

PA7
(Operational)

Threat

1) Ensure that all requests for information (Freedom of Information, Member & Public
questions at Council, etc.) are managed appropriately and that Part 2 items remain so.

1

2

2

1

2

2

1) Reputable third party suppliers used and fall within pension administration framework
agreements.
2) Performance of third parties monitored via the Council's contract management system.

PA9
(Operational)

Incorrect, failed or late
Governance & employee/employer
Compliance
contributions payments
received

PLT and ML Community issues not yet
resolved.

Incorrect, failed or late employee/employer
contributions payments received

Linda D'Souza
/ Linda
Osborne

Threat

1) Monthly monitoring of pensions contributions against expectation.
2) Reminders sent to employers when they fail to meet payment deadline.
3

2

6

2

2

4
3) Scope to report persistent late payment to TPR
4) Quarterly internal Audit.

Page 33

PA3
(Operational)

Threat

The Altair system calculates transitional protection appropriately and other regulations
appropriately.

PA12
(Operational)

Governance &
Governance review - Risks
Compliance

Governance review identifies fundamental
issues that significantly impact the pension Adverse impact on the Pension Fund
fund

Linda D'Souza
/ Linda
Osborne

PA13
(Operational)

Growth &
Opportunities

Governance review identifies opportunities
to improve service efficiency

Improved service

Linda D'Souza
/ Linda
Osborne

PA14
(Strategic)

Strategy &
Finance

Leading to an increase in value of liabilities: a
0.1% reduction in the discount rate will
increase the liability valuation by 2%

Robert
Browning

Governance review Opportunities

Bond yields fall

Strategy &
Finance

Pay & price inflation is
significantly more or less
than anticipated

An increase in CPI inflation by 0.1% will
increase the liability valuation by 1.4%

Robert
Browning

PA16
(Strategic)

Strategy &
Finance

Pensioners living longer

Adding one year to life expectancy will increase Robert
the future service rate by 0.8%
Browning

PA17
(Strategic)

Strategy &
Finance

Actuarial Valuation

PA18
(Strategic)

Strategy &
Finance

The London CIV and all
Investment Managers fail to
achieve performance targets
over the longer term

PA19
(Strategic)

Strategy &
Finance

Inappropriate long-term
investment strategy

PA20
(Strategic)

Strategy &
Finance

Asset reallocations in
volatile markets

Impact of increases to employer contributions

Robert
Browning

A shortfall of 0.1% on the investment target will Robert
result in an annual impact of £2.6m
Browning

Impact of increases to employer contributions

Robert
Browning

May lock in past losses

Robert
Browning

TREND

Target Rating

Target Impact

Target
Likelihood

Current
Likelihood
Current
Impact
Current
Rating

TYPE

2

2

2

2

4

1

2

2

1) Pension Fund Disaster Recovery Plan in place.
Cloud based pensions system along with system backup.

2

2

4

1

2

2

Prompt action to respond to/rectify identified issue and continual assessments carried out.

4

2

-8

4

4

-16

Business improvements identified (pensions workflow and document management).

4

1) The actuarial funding navigator report is received quarterly and provides an early
warning of any potential problems.
2) Early consultation with the actuary will take place with regard to the next actuarial
valuation in 2022.
3) Current investment strategy review has addressed liability protection.

2

2

4

2

2

2)

1) Fund employers should monitor own experience.
2) Assumptions made on pay and price inflation (for the purposes of IAS19/FRS102 and
actuarial valuations) should be long term assumptions.
3) The fund holds investment in corporate bonds to mitigate some of the risk.
4) Current investment strategy review has addressed liability protection.

1

2

2

1

2

2

1

4

4

1

4

4

1) The actuary Hymans Robertson use long term longevity projections in the actuarial
valuation process.
2) Lambeth has joined Club Vita, which looks at mortality rates that are employer specific.

2

1) Officers consult and engage with employer organisations in conjunction with the actuary
during the valuation process. The latest FSS will be issued to employers for comment and
an Employer Forum will be arranged during the consultation period.
2) Actuary will assist where appropriate with stabilisation and phasing in processes.
3) Allowance for possible increases to be made within budgets.
4) Committee sign-off would be sought.

4

1) The Investment Management Agreements clearly state Lambeth Pension Fund's
expectations in terms of performance targets.
2) The LCIV and Investment manager performance is reviewed on a quarterly basis.
3) Pensions Committee should be positioned to move quickly if it is felt that targets will not
be met.
4) The Fund's investment management structure is highly diversified, which lessens the
impact of manager risk compared with less diversified structures.
5) Update on the LCIV is a standing item on the Committee’s agenda, with a presentation
from the LCIV once a year at the Committee meeting.

2

1

2

4

4

4

1

1

2

4

1

4

4

1

4

4

1) Use of investment consultants to monitor investment strategy.
2) Setting of Fund specific benchmark relevant to the current position of fund liabilities.
3) Overall asset allocation regularly monitored by the Pensions committee.
4) Fund manager targets set based on market benchmarks or absolute return measures.

1

2

2

1

2

2

1) Committee takes a long term view of strategic asset allocation.
2) Committee acts on advice from external parties.

Page 34

PA15
(Strategic)

Threat

Linda D'Souza
/ Linda
Osborne

1

Threat

Pensioners do not receive their pension
payment. Payments to members and third
parties not made (refunds, retirement lump
sum, death grant, Tax Office etc.).

2

Threat

The risk of loss, disruption or damage to
the Fund or its members as a result of the
failure of its IT systems and processes.

2

Opportunity

Governance &
Systems failures
Compliance

PA11
(Operational)

1

Threat

Linda D'Souza
/ Linda
Osborne

Cyber Risk

1) Adherence to the Council's home working policy.
2) Ensure officers and Committee/Board members have an understanding of relevant
cyber security processes.
3) Paper copies with sensitive data not taken home (e.g. original birth certificates).
4) Movement towards provision of electronic documents instead of hard copy (from March
2020)
5) encrypted documentation and secure passwords.

Threat

Data breaches. Fraudulent activity resulting in
loss of benefits to Fund members or next of
kin. Possible fines.

Information
Governance

Control measures / mitigations

Threat

Increased risk of fraud and loss of data
from laptops due to increased home
working.

PA10
(Operational)

Threat

Impact of risk on outcomes and benefits

Threat

Cause of risk

Threat

Risk description

Version 2.3

Threat

Risk
Category

30/09/2021

Owner

Ref

RISK REGISTER

Robert
Browning

Failure to comply with
Governance & legislative requirements e.g.
Compliance
ISS/FSS/Governance
Policy/FOI

Resulting in the matter being escalated to the
scheme advisory board and/or the pensions
regulator

Robert
Browning

Governance & Failure to sign-off accounts
Compliance
and annual report on time

Qualified audit opinion

Robert
Browning

PA24
Strategy &
(Operational &
Finance
Strategic)

PA26
(Operational)

Customer
outcomes &
quality

Court of Appeal ruling that the transitional
protections awarded to some scheme
members were unlawful on the grounds of
age discrimination and could not be
justified.

Impact of increases to employer contributions

Linda
D'Souza/
Robert
Browning

Guaranteed Minimum
Pension (GMP) equalisation

High court ruling determination that UK
defined pension schemes must
compensate members for differences
Impact of increases to employer contributions
attributable to GMP. Government dropped
GMP conversion in favour for full
indexation.

Linda
D'Souza/
Robert
Browning

GMP values recorded on HMRC database
Guaranteed Minimum
differs to that recorded by Lambeth
Pension (GMP) reconciliation
Pensions resulting in under and
& Rectification
overpayment of pensions.

Rectification of under/overpayment of pensions
resulting in LGPS member complaints and
Linda D'Souza
reputational damage.

2

4

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1) Ensure cooperative dialogue between committee and board.
Pensions Governance manager appointed.

1

1

1

1

1

1

1) Ensure internal audit work plan is fulfilled on a quarterly basis.
2) Early dialogue and close working with the external auditor

2

1) Allowance has been made in the MTFS (1% of pay)
2)
Allowance made with actuarial tri-ennial valuation 2019
3)
Taken into account within IAS18/FRS102 calculations
4) Increase resources within the pensions team to effectively manage the equalisation
process.
5) Utilise system automated processes where possible

2

1) Allowance has been made in the MTFS (1% of pay)
2)
Allowance made with actuarial tri-ennial valuation 2019
3)
Taken into account within IAS18/FRS102 calculations
4) Increased resources within the pensions team to effectively manage the GMP
equalisation process will no longer be required since this is a 'BAU' process.

2

1) Allowance has been made in the MTFS (also enveloped in the 1% of pay)
2) Issue 'plain English' communications to affected members
3) Create simple rectification processes including a GMP reconciliation
overpayment/underpayment policy
4) Increase resources within the pensions team to effectively manage the reconciliation
process.
5) Utilise system automated processes where possible

3

1

3

2

2

2

6

2

6

1

1

1

2

2

2

Linda
Cashflow – Concerns on whether ee/er
D'Souza/
contributions will be received from employers
Robert
and whether there is sufficient cashflow to pay
Browning
for benefits.

Threat

Implications as a result of the coronavirus
pandemic.

2

2

4

2

2

4

PA29
(Operational)

Strategy &
Finance/
Pensions system
People /
procurement
Governance &
Compliance

Improvements identified

Service transformed to fully utilise digital and
electronic platforms (e.g. virtual L&D, increase Linda D'Souza
uptake of Member Self Service etc.).

Implications of contract not being in place
from 1 April 2021.

Unable to fulfil statutory obligations; e.g.
Unable to pay pensioners. Unable to calculate Linda D'Souza
scheme member benefits.

Opportunity

Maximising on new way of
working since pandemic
(New Beginnings)

Growth &
Opportunities

Cashflow – Over 99% of the Fund is Lambeth Council. The Council has made suitable
arrangements to continue paying their primary and secondary rates. Movement towards
cash-flow driven investing undertaken as part of the investment Strategy from 2019,
recognising the need for income as a result of contributions received being lower than
benefits paid.
Governance – Government advice on holding future Committee and Pension Board
meetings has been adopted, and Committee/Board meetings have now moved to a hybrid
approach. Officer meetings held remotely through Skype.

4

2

-8

4

4

-16

Threat

Governance – Inability to hold Member/Officer
meetings.

PA28
(Operational)

2)

Staffing – All the teams (Lambeth Pensions Service and the Pensions & Treasury Team)
are working from home and following the Council’s policy with regards to COVID19. There
is currently >80% staffing capacity.

Staffing – Significant number of council staff
and providers are infected with COVID-19 and
unable to perform their duties.
Strategy &
PA27
Finance/
(Operational & People /
Covid-19
Strategic)
Governance &
Compliance

TREND

Target Rating

Target Impact

Target
Likelihood

Current
Likelihood
Current
Impact
Current
Rating

TYPE

2

1

4

4

1

4

4

Increase use of digital platforms to enhance customer experience.

New contract in place by April 2020 via a direct award or the National LGPS Framework.
New contract in place.

Page 35

PA25
Strategy &
(Operational &
Finance
Strategic)

Remedies relating to the
McCloud judgement that
need to be made in relation
to the LGPS

Threat

Leads to reputational damage and/or financial
loss

1) Ensure no conflict of interests between Council and Pension Fund
2) Review ISS in relation to published best practice
3) Ensure fund managers are encouraged to engage and to follow the requirements of the
published ISS.
4) The Fund is a member of the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum, which raises officer
awareness of ESG issues and facilitates engagement with fund managers.
5) The Fund has signed-up to a sustainable exclusion mandate
6) Direct fossil fuel exposure nil and indirect exposure <1%.
7) The Fund has committed to adopting TCFD recommendations for monitoring and
reporting against its climate change objectives
8) The Fund will seek to become a signatory to the UK Stewardship Code 2020

Threat

PA23
(Operational)

Insufficient attention to
social, ethical &
environmental risks

Control measures / mitigations

Threat

PA22
(Operational)

Impact of risk on outcomes and benefits

Threat

Strategy &
Finance

Cause of risk

Threat

PA21
(Strategic)

Risk description

Version 2.3

Threat

Risk
Category

30/09/2021

Owner

Ref

RISK REGISTER

Increase in employer
liabilities

Employer failure with no form of or
insufficient guarantee or security.

Liabilities spread across the Fund's remaining
employers in the event of an employer failing
without sufficient security.

Linda D'Souza

2

2

4

1

2

2

TREND

Strategy &
Finance

Target Rating

Impact of risk on outcomes and benefits

Target Impact

Cause of risk

Target
Likelihood

Risk description

Current
Likelihood
Current
Impact
Current
Rating

Risk
Category

TYPE

Version 2.3

Threat

PA30
(Operational)

30/09/2021

Owner

Ref

RISK REGISTER

Control measures / mitigations

1) All new employer bodies need to have a suitable guarantee/covenant in place as part of
being admitted into the Lambeth Pension Fund.
2) Periodic monitoring is carried out on existing employers.

Page 36

Page 37

Agenda Item 5

PENSIONS COMMITTEE 06 OCTOBER 2021
Report title: Lambeth Pension Fund – Training Policy and Plan
Wards: All
Portfolio: Cabinet Member for Finance and Performance: Councillor Andy Wilson
Report Authorised by: Strategic Director for Finance and Investment: Fiona
McDermott:
Contact for Enquiries: Robert Browning, Head of Treasury and Pensions, 07394
402801, rbrowning@lambeth.gov.uk

REPORT SUMMARY
This paper provides members with an updated Training Policy to reflect the recently
revised CIPFA Knowledge and Skills Code of Practice and Framework, as well as a
Training Plan for the remainder of 2021/22 and into 2022/23.

FINANCE SUMMARY
There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations in this
report.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1.

Pensions Committee
That the Training Policy be approved.

2.

That the suggested Training Plan be noted.

3.

That members commit to undertaking a skills audit and return results to officers by
Friday 5 November.

Page 38
1
1.1

CONTEXT
The training expectations for Pension Fund trustees were defined in the 2001 Myners
Principles which were revised and updated in 2009. Principle 1, ‘Effective DecisionMaking’, states that “decisions should be taken only by persons or organisations with
the skills, information and resources necessary to take them effectively. [In taking]
investment decisions, they must have sufficient expertise and appropriate training to
be able to evaluate critically any advice they take”.

1.2

The standards required of an administering authority with regards the knowledge and
skills of those that manage and administer the Fund are set out in legislation and
guidance, including the Pensions Act 2004, the Pensions Regulator’s Code of
Practice, MHCLG statutory guidance, and the Scheme Advisory Board guidance.

1.3

In May 2021 the Chartered Institute of Chartered Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)
published its updated Code of Practice on LGPS Knowledge and Skills and its
Knowledge and Skills Framework for LGPS Committee Members and LGPS Officers.
In addition, there is a separate Knowledge and Skills Framework for Local Pension
Boards which was published in 2015 and remains in force.

1.4

The CIPFA Codes reflect the increasing need for knowledge and skills from all
parties involved in the management of the LGPS and are expected to be adopted by
all administering authorities. They may yet be subject to further changes following the
expected introduction of statutory guidance by the MHCLG in response to the Good
Governance Review, with clearer expectations for those with a role in the LGPS
including Chief Financial Officers and Pension Committees.

2

PROPOSALS AND REASONS

2.1

In response to the updated CIPFA Codes officers have drafted an updated Training
Policy for the Fund which is applicable to the Pensions Committee, Pensions Board,
and senior Fund Officers, and is attached at Appendix One.

2.2

The Policy sets out the Fund’s objectives regarding the knowledge and skills
development of those responsible for Fund management as well as the required
competencies, methods of training to be adopted, the monitoring and review of
training, and the reporting of compliance against training requirements. The Policy
will be reviewed annually to account for any changes to statutory guidance or
recognised best practice.

2.3

The Policy also includes a high-level Training Plan for 2021/22 (which includes
sessions already delivered this year) and provisionally for 2022/23, recognising the
need for specific and tailored training relevant to the Fund’s Business Plan and
requirements of the annual work cycle. The Plan will be updated on an ongoing
basis, with an annual forward-looking programme presented to the Committee and
Board at their first respective meetings of each financial year.

Page 39
2.4

Officers recommend that the Committee review and approve the revised Policy and
the knowledge and skills requirements set out within it, and note the Training Plan,
offering feedback and suggestions for additional sessions if applicable.

2.5

Officers also recommend that the Committee agree to undertake a skills audit. This
will take the form of a questionnaire to be developed by officers with reference to best
practice assessment tools provided by the Pensions Regulator and CIPFA and, once
completed, will serve to identify any skills gaps that can be addressed with focussed
training. It will also serve as a useful self-assessment against the updated key
competencies referred to in the Policy’s annexes.

3
3.1

FINANCE
There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations in this
report.

4
4.1

LEGAL AND DEMOCRACY
The Lambeth Pension Fund is run in accordance with the Local Government Pension
Scheme Regulations 2013 enacted along with other Regulations under the
Superannuation Act 1972 and the Public Service Pension Act 2013, and is for the
benefit of Council employees and outside organisations which have entered into an
agreement with Lambeth to provide pensions for their staff.

4.2

The Pensions Committee must be mindful of the statutory obligations placed upon it
with regards the attainment and ongoing development of the knowledge and skills
required to fulfil its delegated responsibilities.

4.3

There are no additional comments from Democratic Services.

5
5.1

CONSULTATION AND CO-PRODUCTION
Not Applicable.

6
6.1

RISK MANAGEMENT
Any form of decision-making inevitably involves a degree of risk. It is important that
members are trained appropriately so that decisions are made from a sound
knowledge base, minimising the risk of any legal, financial, or reputational damage to
the administering authority or Fund. Effective training and development will help
members gain sufficient knowledge and skills to make appropriate decisions.

7
7.1

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT
None for the purposes of this report.

8
8.1

COMMUNITY SAFETY
None for the purposes of this report.

9

ORGANISATIONAL IMPLICATIONS

Page 40

9.1

Environmental
None for the purposes of this report.

9.2

Health
None for the purposes of this report.

9.3

Corporate Parenting
None for the purposes of this report.

9.4

Staffing and accommodation
None for the purposes of this report.

9.5

Responsible Procurement
None for the purposes of this report.

10
10.1

TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
Not Applicable.

Page 41
AUDIT TRAIL
Consultation
Name/Position
Councillor Andrew
Wilson, Cabinet
Member
Fiona McDermott,
Strategic Director
Christina Thompson,
Director of Finance
Hamant Bharadia,
Assistant Director of
Finance
Andrew Pavlou,
Legal Services
Marianna Ritchie,
Democratic Services

Lambeth
directorate/
division or
partner

Date Sent

Date
Received

Finance and
Performance

20.09.2021

23.09.2021

20.09.2021

23.09.2021

20.09.2021

20.09.2021

20.09.2021

23.09.2021

20.09.2021

21.09.2021

20.09.2021

21.09.2021

Finance and
Investment
Finance and
Investment
Finance and
Investment
Legal and
Democratic
Services
Legal and
Democratic
Services

REPORT HISTORY
Original discussion with Cabinet
Member
Report deadline
Date final report sent
Part II Exempt from
Disclosure/confidential accompanying
report?
Key decision report
Date first appeared on forward plan
Key decision reasons
Background information
Appendices

Comments
in para:

N/A
15 September 2021
23 September 2021
No
No
N/A
N/A
N/A
 Appendix One – Lambeth Pension
Fund Training Policy – October
2021

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 43
LBLPF Training Policy

LONDON BOROUGH OF LAMBETH
PENSION FUND - Training Policy
October 2021
1.

Introduction

1.1.

The London Borough of Lambeth, as administering authority for the Pension Fund,
recognises that effective management, governance, decision-making and other
aspects of the delivery of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) can only be
achieved where those involved have the requisite knowledge and skills to discharge
the duties and responsibilities allocated to them.

1.2.

The purpose of this Training Policy is to outline how the knowledge and skills of
those responsible for Fund management, or those with a decision-making, scrutiny,
or oversight role, are acquired, retained, and developed. The Policy is guided by
reference to a comprehensive framework of knowledge and skills requirements as
set out by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) in its
LGPS Knowledge and Skills Framework.

1.3.

Lambeth Council will ensure that it has adequate resources in place to ensure all
those responsible for management, decision-making, governance and other aspects
of the delivery of the LGPS acquire and retain the necessary LGPS knowledge and
skills.

2.

Policy Objectives and Application

2.1.

The Pension Fund’s overall objectives relating to the knowledge and skills of those
responsible for Fund management are as follows:

2.2.

-

The Pension Fund must be managed, and its services delivered by individuals
who have the appropriate knowledge and expertise, and that knowledge and
expertise must be maintained in a constantly changing environment.

-

The individuals responsible for managing the Pension Fund must have sufficient
expertise to be able to evaluate and challenge the advice they receive, manage
conflicts of interest, and ensure their decisions are robust and evidence based.

-

The Pension Fund and its stakeholders must be aware of, and understand, their
roles and responsibilities under the LGPS regulations and within the terms of
reference as set by the administering authority or Fund as relevant.

In delivering these objectives the Fund will have due regard to all relevant statutory
guidance and legislation, and best practice guidance as appropriate, including the
following:

Page | 1

Page 44
LBLPF Training Policy

-

MHCLG statutory guidance;
MiFID II framework;
The Pensions Regulator Code of Practice;
The CIPFA Code of Practice on LGPS Knowledge and Skills;
The CIPFA Knowledge and Skills Framework for LGPS Committee Members and
LGPS Officers; and
CIPFA’s Local Pension Boards: A Technical Knowledge and Skills Framework.

2.3.

This Policy applies to all members of the Pensions Committee and Pensions Board,
and to all officers of the Fund as commensurate with their respective roles.

3.

Required Competencies

3.1.

The LGPS is a complex and multi-faceted scheme where the knowledge and skills
requirements of Pensions Committee members, Pensions Board members, and Fund
officers will be wide ranging and cross several disciplines. In this section the key
areas of knowledge for the Pensions Board, Pensions Committee, and Fund officers,
are set out according to legislation and best practice guidance.

3.2.

Pension Board
Pension Board members are required by law to be conversant with the rules of the
Fund and documents relating to its administration; this will bring Board members
into contact with matters relating to investments, actuarial valuations, third party
provision, scheme assurance, accounting and auditing. The Pensions Regulator’s
Code of Practice sets out the knowledge and skills requirements of the Pensions
Board, and these can be grouped into eight areas of knowledge and skills as below:
Pensions Board – Key Areas of Knowledge
Pensions Legislation
Public Sector Pensions Governance
Pensions Administration
Pensions Accounting and Auditing Standards
Financial Services Procurement and Relationship Management
Investment Performance and Risk Management
Financial Markets and Product Knowledge
Actuarial Methods, Standards and Practices

Page | 2

Page 45
LBLPF Training Policy

3.3.

3.4.

A breakdown of the key elements of expertise within each of the above areas of
technical knowledge can be found in Annex 1; Pension Board members are expected
to undergo training and development to work towards and attain these key skills,
and be able to evidence their training.
Pensions Committee and Fund Officers
All members of the Pensions Committee are expected to have appropriate
knowledge and skills relating to their LGPS duties. However, Committee members
need to have a less detailed knowledge of the specifics and should instead take a
holistic view – one that is strategic and concentrates on the principals involved, and
their roles and responsibilities as set out in the Committee’s Terms of Reference.

3.5.

It is considered appropriate to consider the skills and knowledge of the Committee
as a collective for the purposes of enabling the Committee as a whole to properly
exercise its delegated responsibilities; as such, although desirable, it is not necessary
for every member of the Committee to be able to demonstrate individually that they
meet all the expected knowledge and skills competencies. However, the Fund must
still be able to evidence that the combined knowledge and understanding of the
Committee allows them to properly exercise their responsibilities.

3.6.

Senior Fund Officers, including the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) are subject to
professional standards and, in the case of the CFO, has a statutory responsibility in
relation to the proper administration of the financial affairs of the Fund. This must be
evidence through regular, continued professional development.

3.7.

The CIPFA Code of Practice on LGPS Knowledge and Skills identifies the following
core technical areas where appropriate knowledge and skills should be achieved and
maintained for the Pensions Committee and Senior Fund Officers.
Pensions Committee and Senior Fund Officers – Key Areas of Knowledge
Pensions Legislation and Guidance
Pensions Governance
Funding Strategy and Actuarial Methods
Pensions Administration and Communications
Pensions Financial Strategy, Management, Accounting, Reporting, & Audit Standards
Investment Strategy, Asset Allocation, Pooling, Performance & Risk Management
Financial Markets and Products
Pension Services Procurement, Contract Management & Relationship Management

Page | 3

Page 46
LBLPF Training Policy

3.8.

A breakdown of the key elements of expertise within each of the above areas of
technical knowledge can be found in Annex 2 for the Pensions Committee, which
splits knowledge into those areas where an awareness of a subject matter is
sufficient, where a general understanding is required, and where a strong
understanding is required (though not necessarily at a detailed level). The knowledge
and skills of the Committee can be considered as a collective, as long as individual
knowledge is appropriate for the purposes of enabling an individual member to
properly exercise their delegated responsibilities.

3.9.

A breakdown of the key elements of expertise within each of the above areas of
technical knowledge can be found in Annex 3 for the Fund Officers, which splits
knowledge into those areas where a strong understanding is required (though not
necessarily at a detailed level), a detailed level of knowledge is required, and an
expert level of knowledge is required. The knowledge requirement can be collective
amongst officers in various roles; for example, the Head of Treasury and Pensions
should have expert knowledge in investment areas, the Head of Payroll and Pensions
should have expert knowledge in administration areas, whilst the CFO should have
expert knowledge in governance matters.

4.

Delivery of Training

4.1.

Consideration will be given to various resources and methods in delivering training to
members of the Pension Committee and Board, and officers, in order to achieve
efficiencies and cost savings; methods will also be developed in response to feedback
and according to the needs of those being trained, as applicable. Such methods may
include but are not restricted to the following:
Training Delivery Methods
In-house training days
External courses, seminars and conferences offered by industry-wide bodies
Online training including webinars
Self-directed training: online knowledge portals including the TPR Trustee Toolkit,
the Hymans Robertson LGPS Online Learning Academy or other e-learning facilities
Joint training delivered with other Funds/stakeholders
Reading material/documentation/information
Professional qualifications, particularly those relevant to senior officers including
CIPFA/ACCA/CISI/CIPP etc.

Page | 4

Page 47
LBLPF Training Policy

4.2.

An annual Training Plan will be developed for the Committee and Board and
presented at their first respective meetings of each financial year, together with this
Policy. The Plan will set out the key training sessions to be delivered to members
over the forthcoming year.

4.3.

Throughout the year officers will also recommend a wide variety of external training
and learning opportunities that may be of particular interest to members and that
correlate to current strategic issues.

4.4.

Senior officers of the Fund will provide support on an ongoing basis to the Pensions
Committee and Pensions Board, sharing relevant materials or answering queries as
relevant.

4.5.

The Fund will also seek to commission training from its investment consultant,
actuary, custodian and/or its fund managers where specific and tailored training can
be delivered relevant to the Fund’s Business Plan and general strategic direction.

4.6.

Induction training will be provided to all new members of the Pensions Committee,
Pensions Board, and senior Fund officers, which will cover the requirements of the
Training Policy alongside guidance and information relating to their role. Methods of
delivery will vary according to the individual and role, but will usually involve the
equivalent of a full day’s training delivered by the Fund’s actuary or investment
consultant.

5.

Monitoring and Review of Training

5.1.

The Fund must assess on an ongoing basis whether members and senior officers
have the required knowledge and skills to undertake their roles and, in order to
achieve this, the following activities are undertaken:
Monitoring and Ongoing Review of Training
Record of training attendance maintained by Fund officers
Tailored training plans
Self-assessment questionnaires/ skills audits
Regular communication between members and officers

5.2.

Members of the Pensions Committee and Pensions Board must inform officers of all
training and events they have attended, as well as any e-learning or self-directed
learning needs analysis completed so that this information can be recorded,
monitored, and acted on if required, particularly where skills gaps are identified, as
per statutory guidance. Information should be sent periodically to Democratic
Services and the Fund’s Governance and Compliance Officer, or upon request.

Page | 5

Page 48
LBLPF Training Policy

5.3.

At least every two years a skills audit will be undertaken by officers for the Pensions
Board and Pensions Committee, requiring members to complete a self-assessment
questionnaire identifying strengths and weaknesses and highlighting common areas
of training need. The results will inform the development of the annual Training Plan
and any extra learning as required.

5.4.

Training for Fund officers will be set as part of their continuing professional
development and objective setting though the administering authority’s annual
appraisal process.

6.

Reporting and Compliance

6.1.

Records of the training delivered to the Pensions Committee, Pensions Board, and
senior Fund officers will be reported on in the Fund’s Annual Report each year; all
members and officers are responsible for ensuring their training records are up to
date.

6.2.

The results of any skills audits and learning needs analyses will also be published as
part of the Fund’s Annual Report in the aggregate, to evidence the ongoing
monitoring and review of skills and knowledge and performance against Policy
objectives.

6.3.

The Pensions Regulator has the right to review the Pension Fund’s records to assess
compliance with the requirement for Pensions Committee and Pensions Board
members to have the appropriate level of knowledge to administer the Pension
Fund. It has the power to issue an Improvement Notice as a result of noncompliance; failure to comply with such an Improvement Notice can result in
financial penalties.

6.4.

The CIPFA Code of Practice requires each administering authority to identify a named
individual to be responsible for ensuring that their Training Policy is implemented,
that compliance with the Policy is regular monitored, and that the Policy adheres to
overriding statutory and best practice requirements. For the London Borough of
Lambeth, that individual is the Head of Treasury & Pensions.

6.5.

The Head of Treasury and Pensions will act in accordance with the requirements of
the Training Policy and, as a CIPFA member, in line with the CIPFA Standards of
Professional Practice, where relevant.

Page | 6

Page 49
LBLPF Training Policy

7.

Training Plan: 2021/22 and Beyond

7.1.

The proposed training plan for the Pensions Committee and the Pensions Board for
2021/22 (and provisionally for 2022/23) is as below. This plan incorporates specific
and tailored sessions relative to the Fund’s Business Plan and annual cycle, and is
subject to change throughout the year; any changes will be reported to members
accordingly.

Page | 7

Proposed Date Training Subject

Provider

16 July 2021

LDI Refresher Training

Mercer

24 September
2021

Aligning with the Climate Transition –
Net Zero Training

Mercer

December
2021

Valuation Training (1) – Process and
Methodology

Hymans Robertson

March 2022

TPR Single Code – LGPS Impact and
Implementation

TBC

July 2022

Cost Transparency, McCloud,
Goodwin and Cost Sharing

TBC

November
2022

Valuation Training (2) - Whole Fund &
Employer Results

Hymans Robertson

Page 50
Annex 1 – Pensions Board Knowledge and Skills Framework

ANNEX 1
PENSIONS BOARD
TECHNICAL KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS FRAMEWORK
A. Pensions
legislation

1. A general understanding of the pensions legislative framework in the
UK.
2. An overall understanding of the legislation and statutory guidance
specific to the scheme and the main features relating to benefits,
administration, and investment.
3. An appreciation of LGPS discretions and how the formulation of the
discretionary policies impacts on the pension fund, employers, and
local taxpayers.
4. A regularly updated appreciation of the latest changes to the scheme
rules.

B. Pensions
governance

1. Knowledge of the role of the administering authority in relation to the
LGPS.
2. An understanding of how the roles and powers of the DCLG, the
Pensions Regulator, the Pensions Advisory Service and the Pensions
Ombudsman relate to the workings of the scheme.
3. Knowledge of the role of the Scheme Advisory Board and how it
interacts with other bodies in the governance structure.
4. Broad understanding of the role of pension fund committees in
relation to the fund, administering authority, employing authorities,
scheme members and taxpayers.
5. Awareness of the role and statutory responsibilities of the treasurer
and monitoring officer.
6. Knowledge of the Myners principles and associated CIPFA and SOLACE
guidance. A detailed knowledge of the duties and responsibilities of
pension board members.
7. Knowledge of the stakeholders of the pension fund and the nature of
their interests.
8. Knowledge of consultation, communication and involvement options
relevant to the stakeholders.
9. Knowledge of how pension fund management risk is monitored and
managed.
10. Understanding of how conflicts of interest are identified and
managed.
11. Understanding of how breaches in law are reported.

Page | 8

Page 51
Annex 1 – Pensions Board Knowledge and Skills Framework

C. Pensions
administration

1. An understanding of best practice in pensions administration, e.g.
performance and cost measures.
2. Understanding of the required and adopted scheme policies and
procedures relating to member data maintenance and record-keeping
processes, internal dispute resolution, contributions collection and
scheme communications and materials.
3. Knowledge of how discretionary powers operate.
4. Knowledge of the pensions administration strategy and delivery
(including, where applicable, the use of third party suppliers, their
selection, performance management and assurance processes).
5. An understanding of how the pension fund interacts with the taxation
system in the UK and overseas in relation to benefits administration.
6. An understanding of what additional voluntary contribution
arrangements exist and the principles relating to the operation of
those arrangements, the choice of investments to be offered to
members, the provider’s investment and fund performance report
and the payment schedule for such arrangements.

D. Pensions
accounting
and auditing
standards

1. Understanding of the Accounts and Audit Regulations and legislative
requirements relating to internal controls and proper accounting
practice.
2. Understanding of the role of both internal and external audit in the
governance and assurance process.
3. An understanding of the role played by third party assurance
providers.

E. Pensions
services
procurement
and
relationship
management

1. Understanding of the background to current public procurement
policy and procedures, and of the values and scope of public
procurement and the roles of key decision makers and organisations.
2. A general understanding of the main public procurement
requirements of UK and EU legislation.
3. Understanding of the nature and scope of risks for the pension fund
and of the importance of considering risk factors when selecting third
parties.
4. An understanding of how the pension fund monitors and manages the
performance of their outsourced providers.

Page | 9

Page 52
Annex 1 – Pensions Board Knowledge and Skills Framework

F. Investment
performance
and risk
management

1. Understanding of the importance of monitoring asset returns relative
to the liabilities and a broad understanding of ways of assessing longterm risks.
2. Awareness of the Myners principles of performance management and
the approach adopted by the administering authority.
3. Awareness of the range of support services, who supplies them and
the nature of the performance monitoring regime.

G. Financial
markets and
products
knowledge

1. Understanding of the risk and return characteristics of the main asset
classes (equities, bonds, property).
2. Understanding of the role of these asset classes in long-term pension
fund investing.
3. Understanding of the primary importance of the investment strategy
decision.
4. A broad understanding of the workings of the financial markets and of
the investment vehicles available to the pension fund and the nature
of the associated risks.
5. An understanding of the limits placed by regulation on the investment
activities of local government pension funds.
6. An understanding of how the pension fund interacts with the taxation
system in the UK and overseas in relation to investments.

H. Actuarial
methods,
standards and
practices

1. A general understanding of the role of the fund actuary.
2. Knowledge of the valuation process, including developing the funding
strategy in conjunction with the fund actuary, and inter-valuation
monitoring.
3. Awareness of the importance of monitoring early and ill health
retirement strain costs.
4. A broad understanding of the implications of including new employers
into the fund and of the cessation of existing employers.
5. A general understanding of the relevant considerations in relation to
outsourcings and bulk transfers.
6. A general understanding of the importance of the employer covenant
and the relative strengths of the covenant across the fund employers.

Page | 10

Page 53
Annex 2 – Pensions Committee Knowledge and Skills Framework

ANNEX 2
PENSIONS COMMITTEE
TECHNICAL KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS FRAMEWORK
A. Pensions
legislation and
guidance

General pensions framework
1. A general understanding of the pensions legislative framework in
the UK.
2. A general understanding of other legislation that is relevant in
managing an LGPS fund, e.g. freedom of information, General Data
Protection Regulation (GDPR) and local authority legislation.
Scheme-specific legislation
3. A general understanding of the legislation and statutory guidance
specific to the scheme and the main features relating to benefits,
administration, funding, governance, communications and
investment, including:
- a general understanding of the LGPS Regulations 2013
- a general understanding of the LGPS (Management and
Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016.
4. An awareness of LGPS discretions and how the formulation of the
discretionary policies impacts on the fund, employers and scheme
members.
5. A regularly updated awareness of the latest changes to the scheme
rules and current proposals or potential changes to the scheme.
Guidance
6. A general understanding of the requirements of statutory guidance
from the responsible authority – MHCLG (England and Wales).
7. A general understanding of the requirements of The Pensions
Regulator code of practice.
8. An awareness of the requirements of guidance from the Scheme
Advisory Board.
9. An awareness of the requirements of guidance from GAD.
10. An awareness of other guidance relevant to the LGPS, such as from
CIPFA.

Page | 11

Page 54
Annex 2 – Pensions Committee Knowledge and Skills Framework

B. Pensions
governance

1. An awareness of the LGPS regulations’ main features, including any
material developments and requirements relating to pension
scheme governance.
2. An awareness of statutory and other guidance in relation to pension
scheme governance, including MHCLG statutory governance
guidance, The Pensions Regulator code of practice, CIPFA/Solace,
Scheme Advisory Board guidance and the Myners principles.
Pension regulators, Scheme Advisory Board and other bodies
3. A general understanding of how the roles and powers of MHCLG,
TPR, the Pensions Advisory Service and the Pensions Ombudsman
relate to the workings of the scheme. A general understanding of
the role of the Scheme Advisory Board and how it interacts with
other bodies.
General constitutional framework
4. A general understanding of the role of the administering authority in
relation to the LGPS. A general understanding of the role of pension
committees in relation to the fund, administering authority,
employing authorities, scheme members and taxpayers.
5. An awareness of the role and statutory responsibilities of the CFO
and monitoring officer.
Fund-specific governance
6. A strong understanding of the roles, terms of reference and
delegated responsibilities of the pension committee, the pension
board, and any other delegated responsibilities to senior officers.
7. A general understanding of how the asset pool was established,
including the responsibilities of the joint governance committee (or
equivalent).
8. A general understanding of the stakeholders of the fund and the
nature of their interests. A general understanding of who the key
officers responsible for the management of the fund are, how the
pension team is structured and how services are delivered.
9. A general understanding of the fund’s strategies, policies and other
key documents.
10. A general understanding of best practice risk management, including
how that supports a structured and focused approach to managing
risks. This should include how risk is monitored and managed and
the fund’s current key risks.
11. A general understanding of how conflicts of interest are identified
and managed.
12. A strong understanding of how breaches in law are recorded and
managed and, if necessary, reported to TPR, including each
individual’s personal responsibility in relation to breaches.

Page | 12

Page 55
Annex 2 – Pensions Committee Knowledge and Skills Framework

13. A general understanding of the fund’s knowledge and skills policy
and associated training requirements.
14. An awareness of the fund’s process for dealing with complaints,
including its internal dispute resolution procedure.
15. A general understanding of how the effectiveness of the fund’s
governance is reviewed.
Service delivery
16. A general understanding of the required budget and resources
needed to manage and administer the fund.
17. A general understanding of the annual business planning cycle and
budget setting. A general understanding of the fund’s key
performance indicators and other performance measures.
18. A general understanding of the fund’s business continuity policy and
cyber security policy across all areas of fund activity, including
administration.
C. Funding
strategy and
actuarial
methods

1. An awareness of the LGPS regulations’ main features, including any
key developments and requirements relating to funding strategy
and the setting of employer contributions, including associated
guidance.
2. A general understanding of the role of the fund actuary.
3. A general understanding of the funding strategy statement
(including employer funding flexibilities) and the expected delivery
of the funding objectives.
4. A general understanding of the key risks to the fund relating to the
funding strategy.
Valuations
5. A general understanding of the valuation process, including
developing the funding strategy in conjunction with the fund actuary
and inter-valuation monitoring.
6. An awareness of the costs to the employer, including employer
contributions and early retirement strain costs.
7. An awareness of the different types of employers that participate in
the fund
8. A general understanding of the importance of employer covenant,
the relative strengths of the covenant across the fund’s employers
and how this impacts the funding strategy adopted.
9. A general understanding of any legislative and/or benefit
uncertainty and the impact of this on the funding strategy.
10. A general understanding of the scheme valuation and other work
carried out by GAD and the impact this has on the valuation process
(i.e. the cost management process/ Section 13 report).

Page | 13

Page 56
Annex 2 – Pensions Committee Knowledge and Skills Framework

New employer and exits
11. A general understanding of the implications of including new
employers in the fund and of the exit of existing employers.
12. A general understanding of the relevant considerations in relation to
the different types of new employer, eg outsourcings, academies (if
appropriate), alternative delivery models, and also the
considerations in relation to bulk transfers.

D. Pensions
administration
and
communications

Page | 14

1. An awareness of the LGPS regulations’ main features and
requirements relating to:
- administration and communications strategies
- entitlement to and calculation of pension benefits
- transfers in and out of the scheme
- employee contributions
- the delivery of administration and communications (including
associated guidance).
2. A general understanding of the fund’s pensions administration
strategy, including how it is delivered (including, where applicable,
the use of third-party suppliers and systems), performance
measures and assurance processes.
3. A general understanding of the fund’s communications policy,
including how it is delivered (including, where applicable, the use of
third-party suppliers and systems), performance measures and
assurance processes.
4. A general understanding of best practice in pensions administration,
e.g. performance and cost measures.
5. A general understanding of the fund’s processes and procedures
relating to:
- member data maintenance and record keeping, including data
improvement plans and relationships with employers for data
transmission
- contributions collection.
6. An awareness of how the fund interacts with the taxation system in
relation to benefits administration, including the annual and lifetime
allowances.
7. A general understanding of additional voluntary contribution (AVC)
arrangements, including:
- the AVC arrangements that exist
- the choice of investments to be offered to members
- the provider’s investment and fund performance,
- the payment of contributions to the provider
- the benefits that can be received by scheme members

Page 57
Annex 2 – Pensions Committee Knowledge and Skills Framework

-

how and when the AVC arrangements, including the investment
choices, are reviewed.

E. Pensions
financial
strategy,
management,
accounting,
reporting and
audit standards

1. A general understanding of the Accounts and Audit Regulations and
legislative requirements relating to the role of the committee and
individual members in considering and signing off the fund’s
accounts and annual report.
2. A general understanding of the various elements of income into and
expenditure of the fund, including the operational budget.
3. A general understanding of the cash flows of the fund and how risks
are managed to ensure appropriate cash is available to pay benefits
and other outgoings.
4. A general understanding of the role of both internal and external
audit in the governance and assurance process.

F. Investment
strategy, asset
allocation,
pooling,
performance
and risk
management

1. An awareness of the LGPS regulations’ main features and
requirements relating to investment strategy, asset allocation, the
pooling of investments and responsible investments, including
associated guidance.
Investment Strategy
2. A general understanding of the key risks that the fund is exposed to
and how a fund’s investment strategy should be considered in
conjunction with these risks.
3. A general understanding of the risk and return characteristics of the
main asset classes (equities, bonds, property) and the need to
balance risk versus reward when determining the investment
strategy.
4. A general understanding of the role of these asset classes in longterm pension fund investing.
5. A general understanding of the fund’s cash flow requirements and
how these impact on the types of investments considered.
Investment pool (England and Wales)
6. A general understanding of the structure, operation and purpose of
the investment pooling arrangements, including the structure of the
relationship with the other participants in the pool.
7. An awareness of the regulations, best practice and guidance relating
to investment pooling and the delivery of the investment objectives
of the administering authority/ pension committee by their chosen
investment pool.
8. An awareness of the boundaries of investment activities (e.g.
strategy requiring advice from a suitably qualified person, in-house
investment transactions) and which investment activities require
FCA authorisation.

Page | 15

Page 58
Annex 2 – Pensions Committee Knowledge and Skills Framework

9. A general understanding of the interaction between the
administering authority, the pension committee, the investment
pool operator, investment pool oversight committee and other
parties relating to the investment pooling arrangement – in
particular, reporting requirements, influence and accountability.
10. A general understanding of the fund’s investment strategy
statement and the investment pool’s interpretation and expected
delivery of those investment objectives, including any objectives
relating to environmental, social and governance factors.
Total fund
11. A general understanding of the importance of monitoring asset
returns relative to the liabilities and a broad understanding of ways
of assessing long-term risks.
Performance of the committee
12. An awareness of the Myners principles and the need to set targets
for the committee and to report against them.
13. An awareness of the range of support services provided to the
committee, who supplies them and the nature of the performance
monitoring regime.
Performance of the investment pool (England and Wales)
14. An awareness of the investment regulations and the requirements
for monitoring investments.
15. A general understanding of the requirements of the investment pool
in relation to the administering authority and pension committee
investment strategy and how to effectively monitor the
implementation of the investment strategy within the pool.
Responsible investment
16. An awareness of the latest developments and requirements in the
area of responsible investment.
17. An awareness of the UK Stewardship Code and the United Nations
Principles of Responsible Investment (UNPRI) and whether the fund
is a signatory of these.
18. A general understanding of the fund’s approach to responsible
investment, including how views on environmental, social and
governance issues are incorporated into the fund’s investment
strategy.
Risk management
19. A general understanding about how to manage and reduce risk and
lessen the impact of risk on assets when it arises, including climate
risk.

Page | 16

Page 59
Annex 2 – Pensions Committee Knowledge and Skills Framework

G. Financial
markets and
products

Financial markets
1. A general understanding of the primary importance of the
investment strategy decision.
2. A general understanding of the workings of the financial markets,
the investment vehicles available to the pension fund and the
nature of the associated risks.
3. An awareness of the restrictions placed by legislation on the
investment activities of LGPS funds.
MiFID II
4. A general understanding of MiFID II requirements relating to the
knowledge of decision makers.
Investment pool (England and Wales)
5. A general understanding of the investment pool operator’s
approach to pooling and delivering access to the different asset
classes and/or investment funds.
6. A general understanding of which assets and investments may sit
outside of the investment pool and why their nature and
characteristics permit this.
7. An awareness of how the fund interacts with the taxation system in
the UK and overseas in relation to investments.

H. Pension services Understanding public procurement
procurement,
1. An awareness of the main public procurement requirements of UK
contract
and EU legislation and the use of national frameworks within the
management
context of the LGPS.
and relationship
Fund suppliers
management
2. Awareness of the key decision makers in relation to the fund’s
procurements. A general understanding of the fund’s suppliers and
providers and their roles in the management of the fund.
3. An awareness of how the fund’s suppliers are monitored, including:
- the Myners principles
- the need for strategic objectives for investment consultants.
Supplier risk management
4. A general understanding of the nature and scope of risks for the
pension fund and of the importance of considering risk factors when
selecting external suppliers and providers. A general understanding
of how the pension fund monitors and manages the performance of
their external suppliers and providers, including business continuity
and cyber risk.
Investment pool (England and Wales)
Page | 17

Page 60
Annex 2 – Pensions Committee Knowledge and Skills Framework

5. An awareness of the nature of the relationship with the investment
pool parties and a general understanding of:
- the extent of influence over the investment pool operator and
oversight committee
- the terms for terminating a pooling agreement
- guidance on the requirement to pool investments.

Page | 18

Page 61
Annex 3 – Pension Fund Officers Knowledge and Skills Framework

ANNEX 3
PENSION FUND OFFICERS
TECHNICAL KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS FRAMEWORK
A. Pensions
legislation and
guidance

General pensions framework
1. A strong understanding of the pensions legislative framework in the
UK, particularly:
- Pensions Act 1995
- Pensions Act 2004
- Occupational and Personal Pension Schemes (Disclosure of
Information) Regulations 2013
- Public Service Pensions Schemes Act 2013.
2. A strong understanding of other legislation that is relevant in
managing an LGPS fund, e.g. freedom of information, GDPR and
local authority legislation.
Scheme-specific legislation
3. A detailed knowledge of the legislation and statutory guidance
specific to the scheme and the main features relating to benefits,
administration, funding, governance, communications and
investment, including:
- Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership and
Contributions) Regulations 2007
- Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations
2008
- Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions,
Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014
- Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013
- Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and
Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016.
4. A detailed knowledge of LGPS discretions and how the formulation
of the discretionary policies impacts on the fund, employers and
scheme members.
5. A detailed knowledge of the latest changes to the scheme rules and
current proposals or potential changes to the scheme.
6. A strong understanding of how the scheme interfaces with other
private and state pension provision.
Guidance
7. A detailed knowledge of the requirements of statutory guidance
from the responsible authority – MHCLG (England and Wales).
8. A detailed knowledge of the requirements of The Pensions
Regulator code of practice.

Page | 19

Page 62
Annex 3 – Pension Fund Officers Knowledge and Skills Framework

9. A detailed knowledge of the requirements of guidance from the
Scheme Advisory Board.
10. A strong understanding of the requirements of guidance from GAD.
11. A strong understanding of other guidance relevant to the LGPS, such
as from CIPFA.
Tax legislation
12. A strong understanding of pension scheme tax legislation and the
UK pension scheme reporting framework, in particular:
- Finance Act 2004
- related statutory instruments.

B. Pensions
governance

1. A detailed knowledge of the LGPS regulations’ main features,
including any material developments and requirements relating to
the pension scheme governance.
2. A strong understanding of statutory and other guidance relating to
pension scheme governance, including MHCLG/SPPA/Department
for Communities statutory governance guidance, The Pensions
Regulator code of practice, CIPFA/Solace, Scheme Advisory Board
guidance and the Myners principles.
Pension regulators, Scheme Advisory Board and other bodies
3. A detailed knowledge of how the roles and powers of
MHCLG/SPPA/Department for Communities, The Pensions
Regulator, the Pensions Advisory Service and the Pensions
Ombudsman relate to the workings of the scheme.
4. A detailed knowledge of the role of the Scheme Advisory Board and
how it interacts with other bodies.
General constitutional framework
5. A detailed knowledge of the role of pension committees in relation
to the fund, administering authority, employing authorities, scheme
members and taxpayers. A detailed knowledge of the role and
statutory responsibilities of the CFO and monitoring officer.
Fund-specific governance
6. An expert knowledge of the roles, terms of reference and delegated
responsibilities of the pension committee, the pension board and
any other delegated responsibilities to senior officers.
7. A detailed knowledge of how the asset pool was established,
including the responsibilities of the joint governance committee (or
equivalent).
8. A detailed knowledge of the stakeholders of the fund and the nature
of their interests.

Page | 20

Page 63
Annex 3 – Pension Fund Officers Knowledge and Skills Framework

9. An expert knowledge of the role of key officers responsible for the
management of the fund, how the pension team is structured and
how services are delivered. A detailed knowledge of the fund’s
strategies, policies and other key documents.
10. An expert knowledge of best practice risk management, including
how that supports a structured and focused approach to managing
risk. This should include how risk is monitored and managed and the
fund’s current key risks.
11. An expert knowledge of how conflicts of interest are identified and
managed.
12. An expert knowledge of how breaches in law are recorded and
managed and, if necessary, reported to The Pensions Regulator,
including each individual’s personal responsibility in relation to
breaches.
13. An expert awareness of the fund’s knowledge and skills policy and
associated training requirements.
14. A detailed knowledge of the fund’s process for dealing with
complaints, including its internal dispute resolution procedure.
15. A detailed knowledge of how the effectiveness of the fund’s
governance is reviewed.
Service delivery
16. An expert knowledge of the required budget and resources needed
to manage and administer the fund.
17. An expert knowledge of the annual business planning cycle and
budget setting. An expert knowledge of the fund’s key performance
indicators and other performance measures.
18. An expert knowledge of the fund’s business continuity policy and
cyber security policy across all areas of fund activity, including
administration.

C. Funding
strategy and
actuarial
methods

1. A detailed knowledge of the LGPS regulations’ main features,
including any key developments and requirements relating to
funding strategy and the setting of employer contributions,
including associated guidance.
2. A detailed knowledge of the role of the fund actuary.
3. A detailed knowledge of the funding strategy statement (including
employer funding flexibilities) and the expected delivery of the
funding objectives.
4. A detailed knowledge of the key risks to the fund relating to the
funding strategy.
Valuations
5. A detailed knowledge of the valuation process, including:

Page | 21

Page 64
Annex 3 – Pension Fund Officers Knowledge and Skills Framework

-

6.
7.

8.
9.

the actual valuation processes
agreeing the financial and demographic assumptions
the development and publication of the funding strategy
statement
- signing off the rates and adjustment certificate
- inter-valuation monitoring.
A detailed knowledge of the costs to the employer, including
employer contributions and early retirement strain costs.
A strong understanding of the importance of employer covenant,
the relative strengths of the covenant across the fund’s employers,
and how this impacts the funding strategy adopted.
A strong understanding of any legislative and/or benefit uncertainty
and the impact of this on the funding strategy.
A strong understanding of the scheme valuation and other work
carried out by GAD and the impact this has on the valuation process
(i.e. the cost management process/Section 13 report).

New employer and exits
10. A strong understanding of the implications of including new
employers into the fund and of the exit of existing employers.
11. A general understanding of the relevant considerations in relation to
the different types of new employer, e.g. outsourcings, academies (if
appropriate), alternative delivery models, and also the
considerations in relation to bulk transfers.
12. A strong understanding of the requirements of HM Treasury’s ‘fair
deal’ guidance and related guidance concerning outsourcing and
bulk transfers.
Other issues
13. A strong understanding of other pension arrangements, particularly
with regard to staff transfers.
14. A strong understanding of the corporate and workforce ethos when
working closely with HR colleagues to determine discretionary
policies.

D. Pensions
administration
and
communications

Page | 22

1. A detailed knowledge of the LGPS regulations’ main features and
requirements relating to:
- administration and communications strategies
- entitlement to and calculation of pension benefits
- transfers in and out of the scheme
- employee contributions
- the delivery of administration and communications (including
associated guidance).
2. A detailed knowledge of the fund’s pensions administration
strategy, including how it is delivered (including, where applicable,

Page 65
Annex 3 – Pension Fund Officers Knowledge and Skills Framework

3.

4.
5.

6.
7.

8.

E. Pensions
financial
strategy,
management,
accounting,
reporting and
audit standards

Page | 23

the use of third-party suppliers and systems), performance
measures and assurance processes.
A detailed knowledge of the fund’s communications policy, including
how it is delivered (including, where applicable, the use of thirdparty suppliers and systems), performance measures and assurance
processes.
A strong understanding of best practice in pensions administration,
e.g. performance and cost measures.
A detailed knowledge of the fund’s processes and procedures
relating to:
- member data maintenance and record keeping, including data
improvement plans and relationships with employers for data
transmission
- contributions collection.
A strong understanding of how discretionary powers operate.
A strong understanding of how the fund interacts with the taxation
system in relation to benefits administration, including the annual
and lifetime allowances.
A detailed knowledge of AVC arrangements, including:
- the AVC arrangements that exist
- the choice of investments to be offered to members
- the provider’s investment and fund performance
- the payment contributions to the provider
- the benefits that can be received by scheme members
- how and when the AVC arrangements, including the investment
choices, are reviewed.

1. A detailed understanding of the Accounts and Audit Regulations and
legislative requirements relating to role of the committee and
individual members in considering and signing off the fund’s
accounts and annual report.
2. A detailed knowledge of relevant pensions accounting standards as
they apply to the scheme and to the employer:
- Pensions SORP
- FRS 102 (IAS 19)
- iFReM.
3. A detailed understanding of the approach to pensions external audit
as set down in APB Practice Note 15.
4. A detailed understanding of the various elements of income into and
expenditure of the fund, including the operational budget.
5. A detailed understanding of the cash flows of the fund and how risks
are managed to ensure appropriate cash is available to pay benefits
and other outgoings.

Page 66
Annex 3 – Pension Fund Officers Knowledge and Skills Framework

6. A detailed understanding of the role of internal and external audit in
the governance and assurance process.
7. A strong understanding of and compliance with the CIPFA Statement
of Expertise as it applies to:
- leadership and strategic management
- governance, ethics and values
- financial and performance reporting
- audit and accountability
- strategic and operational financial management
- partnerships and stakeholder relations
- change, risk and project management.

F. Investment
strategy, asset
allocation,
pooling,
performance
and risk
management

1. A detailed knowledge of the LGPS regulations’ main features and
requirements relating to investment strategy, asset allocation, the
pooling of investments and responsible investments, including
associated guidance.
Investment Strategy
2. A detailed knowledge of the key risks that the fund is exposed to
and how a fund’s investment strategy should be considered in
conjunction with these risks.
3. A detailed knowledge of the risk and return characteristics of the
main asset classes (equities, bonds, property) and the need to
balance risk versus reward when determining the investment
strategy.
4. A detailed knowledge of the role of these asset classes in long-term
pension fund investing.
5. A detailed knowledge of the fund’s cash flow requirements and how
these impact on the types on investments considered.
Investment management
6. A strong understanding of prevailing market conditions within UK
and overseas equity markets and UK bond and property markets.
7. A strong understanding of the principles of portfolio construction
within both bond and equity mandates.
8. A strong understanding of portfolio risk monitoring techniques.
9. A strong understanding of trading systems and practices within
bond and equity markets.
10. A strong understanding of the importance of setting appropriate
benchmark indices.
Investment pool (England and Wales)
11. A detailed knowledge of the structure, operation and purpose of the
investment pooling arrangements, including the structure of the
relationship with the other participants in the pool.

Page | 24

Page 67
Annex 3 – Pension Fund Officers Knowledge and Skills Framework

12. A detailed knowledge of the regulations, best practice and guidance
related to investment pooling and the delivery of the investment
objectives of the administering authority/pension committee by
their chosen investment pool.
13. A detailed knowledge of the boundaries of investment activities (e.g.
strategy requiring advice from a suitably qualified person, in-house
investment transactions), and which investment activities require
FCA authorisation.
14. A detailed knowledge of the interaction between the administering
authority, the pension committee, the investment pool operator,
investment pool oversight committee and other parties relating to
the investment pooling arrangements – in particular, reporting
requirements, influence and accountability.
15. A detailed knowledge of the fund’s investment strategy statement
and the investment pool’s interpretation and expected delivery of
those investment objectives, including any objectives in relation to
environmental, social and governance factors.
Total fund
16. A strong understanding of the importance of monitoring asset
returns relative to the liabilities and a strong understanding of ways
of assessing long-term risks.
17. A strong understanding of the merits of manager diversification.
Performance of the committee
18. A strong understanding of the Myners principles and the need to set
targets for the committee and to report against them.
19. A detailed knowledge of the range of support services provided to
the committee, who supplies them, and the nature of the
performance monitoring regime.
Performance of the investment pool (England and Wales)
20. A detailed knowledge of the investment regulations and the
requirements for monitoring investments.
21. A detailed knowledge of the requirements of the investment pool in
relation to the administering authority and pension committee
investment strategy and how to effectively monitor the
implementation of the investment strategy within the pool.
22. A detailed knowledge of the non-financial risks within the operation
and relationship with the investment pool (operator, oversight
committee and other parties) and how these can be mitigated or
best managed.
Responsible investment
23. A detailed knowledge of the latest developments and requirements
in the area of responsible investment.
Page | 25

Page 68
Annex 3 – Pension Fund Officers Knowledge and Skills Framework

24. A strong understanding of the UK Stewardship Code and the UNPRI
and whether the fund is a signatory of these.
25. A detailed knowledge of the fund’s approach to responsible
investment, including how views on environmental, social and
governance issues are incorporated into the fund’s investment
strategy.
Risk management
26. A strong understanding about how to manage and reduce risk and
lessen the impact of risk when it arises, including climate risk.

G. Financial
markets and
products

Financial markets
1. A detailed knowledge of the primary importance of the investment
strategy decision.
2. A strong understanding of the workings of the financial markets and
of the investment vehicles available to the pension fund and the
nature of the associated risks.
3. A strong understanding of the restrictions placed by legislation on
the investment activities of LGPS funds.
MiFID II
4. A strong understanding of MiFID II requirements relating to the
knowledge of decision makers.
Investment strategy
5. A strong understanding of long-term risk and return parameters of
equity, bond and property markets and issues arising from shortterm volatility.
6. A strong understanding of the effects on overall risk and return of
combining these asset classes in the pension fund strategy.
7. A strong understanding of the relationship between the investment
and funding strategies and the liabilities of the fund.
8. A strong understanding of ‘alternative’ asset classes available for
pension fund investment (private equity, infrastructure, absolute
return mandates, etc), including the practicalities of investing,
prospective risks and returns and correlation with other asset
classes.
9. A strong understanding of the costs and benefits of active and
passive currency hedging strategies, including implementation
issues.
Investment manager structures
10. A strong understanding of the relative attractions of active and
passive management across different asset classes.

Page | 26

Page 69
Annex 3 – Pension Fund Officers Knowledge and Skills Framework

11. A strong understanding of the role of active manager risk within the
investment arrangements.
12. A strong understanding of the concepts of ‘risk budgeting’, sources
of return (alpha and beta) and improving the ‘efficiency’ of the
arrangements.
13. A strong understanding of the practical implications of pooled and
segregated mandates in terms of setting investment guidelines,
effecting transactions and client reporting. A strong understanding
of the implications of combining managers with different investment
styles.
Other issues
14. A strong understanding of the responsibilities of the custodian and
procedures for reconciling information with investment providers.
15. A strong understanding of the costs and benefits of stock lending
and commission recapture programmes.
Investment pool (England and Wales)
16. A detailed knowledge of the investment pool operator’s approach to
pooling and delivering access to the different asset classes and/or
investment funds.
17. A strong understanding of which assets and investments may sit
outside of the investment pool and their nature and characteristics.
18. A strong understanding of how the fund interacts with the taxation
system in the UK and overseas in relation to investments.

H. Pension services Understanding public procurement
procurement,
1. A detailed knowledge of the background to current public
contract
procurement policy and procedures, the values and scope of public
management
procurement and the roles of key decision makers and
and relationship
organisations.
management
2. A detailed knowledge of the main public procurement requirements
of UK and EU legislation and the use of national frameworks within
the context of the LGPS.
Fund suppliers
3. An expert knowledge of the key decision makers in relation to the
fund’s procurements A detailed knowledge of the nature and scope
of risks for the fund and of the importance of considering risk factors
when selecting third parties.
4. A detailed knowledge of how the fund monitors and manages the
performance of its outsourced providers.
5. A detailed knowledge of how the fund’s suppliers are monitored,
including:
Page | 27

Page 70
Annex 3 – Pension Fund Officers Knowledge and Skills Framework

-

the Myners principles
the need for strategic objectives for investment consultants.

Investment pool (England and Wales)
6. A detailed knowledge of the nature of the relationship with the
investment pool parties and a detailed understanding of:
- the extent of influence over the investment pool operator and
oversight committee
- the terms for terminating a pooling agreement
- guidance on the requirement to pool investments.

Page | 28

Page 71

Agenda Item 6

PENSIONS COMMITTEE 06 OCTOBER 2021
Report title: UK Stewardship Code
Wards: All
Portfolio: Cabinet Member for Finance and Performance: Councillor Andy Wilson
Report Authorised by: Strategic Director for Finance and Investment: Fiona
McDermott:
Contact for Enquiries: Robert Browning, Head of Treasury and Pensions, 07394
402801, rbrowning@lambeth.gov.uk

REPORT SUMMARY
This report presents for review the Fund’s draft submission to the revised 2020 UK
Stewardship Code in line with the prior recommendation of the Committee to apply
for signatory status. The draft document sets out the Fund’s adherence to the twelve
principles of the Code as applicable and outlines a proposed action plan in advance
of the submission deadline of 31 October 2021.

FINANCE SUMMARY
There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations in this
report.

1.

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS
That the Committee review and provide feedback where relevant on the Fund’s draft
UK Stewardship Code report.
That the Committee delegate to the Chair the approval and sign-off of the amended
report before the October 31 deadline.

Page 72

1.1

CONTEXT
In 2019 the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) published its revised ‘UK Stewardship
Code 2020’, a set of twelve ‘apply and explain’ principles which set high stewardship
standards for those investing money on behalf of UK savers and pensioners, and
those that support them. Stewardship can be defined as ‘the responsible allocation,
management and oversight of capital to create long-term value for clients and
beneficiaries leading to sustainable benefits for the economy, the environment and
society’.

1.2

The Code applies to asset owners (e.g. pension schemes, local government pension
pools and sovereign wealth funds), asset managers (i.e. those who manage assets
on behalf of UK clients) and service providers (such as investment consultants or
data/research providers that support asset owners and managers in their stewardship
responsibilities). Signatories to the code are recognised as adhering to the highest
standards of stewardship both in policy and practice; to become a signatory
organisations must submit a Stewardship Report demonstrating application of the
twelve principles over the previous twelve months and, if accepted, there is an annual
reporting obligation to remain a signatory.

1.3

At the March 2021 meeting the Committee resolved that the Fund should seek to
become one of the initial signatories to the new 2020 UK Stewardship Code, with a
31 October 2021 submission deadline for those organisations with a reporting year
ending 31 March.

2
2.1

PROPOSALS AND REASONS
The first batch of 125 successful signatories to the new Code were published by the
FRC in early September and included 90 asset managers, 23 asset owners and 12
service providers. However, a third of applicants (64 in total – 57 asset managers, 5
asset owners and 2 service providers) that applied to be signatories of the Code
failed to pass the review process. Comments from the FRC suggested those failed
applicants did not sufficiently evidence their approach, instead relying too heavily on
policy statements; individual feedback was provided to applicants and each is
allowed to submit an amended response in line with the submission deadlines.

2.2

Officers note that the London CIV were one of the initial approved signatories to the
Code, as were the Fund’s consultants Mercer. Of the Fund’s investment managers,
those not approved (or who did not submit a report) were JP Morgan, Insight, Adams
Street, Churchill and Permira. The Fund states in its Investment Strategy Statement
that it requires its fund managers to be signatories to the Code and, as such, officers
will engage with these managers to understand their position.

2.3

The Fund’s first draft Stewardship Report intended for submission to the FRC is
attached at Appendix One. The report is set out according to the twelve principles of
the Code as follows:

Page 73
PRINCIPLES FOR ASSET OWNERS AND ASSET MANAGERS
Purpose and Governance
1 Purpose, Strategy and Culture
2 Governance, Resources and Incentives
3 Conflicts of Interest
4 Promoting Well-Functioning Markets
5 Review and Assurance
Investment Approach
6 Client and Beneficiary Needs
7 Stewardship, Investment and ESG Integration
8 Monitoring, Managers and Service Providers
Engagement
9 Engagement
10 Collaboration
11 Escalation
Exercising Rights and Responsibilities
12 Exercising Rights and Responsibilities
2.4

The Fund’s consultant provided several publicly available reports to refer to for
guidance and have reviewed the draft submission, highlighting a number of areas
where the submission is unlikely to pass the stringent criteria set by the FRC due to a
lack of suitable evidence.

2.5

The Code sets a high standard for acceptance as a signatory which will likely be
challenging for many smaller schemes to achieve, reflected by the absence of
smaller pension schemes that have already applied and been accepted as a
signatory.

2.6

Officers recommend that the Committee review the attached submission and provide
feedback where relevant. Given the submission deadline of the 31 October, any
feedback from the Committee as well as that received from the Fund’s consultant will
be used to make changes where possible to the current draft document.

2.7

Reports must be reviewed and approved by the Pensions Committee and signed by
the Chair before submission. Officers therefore recommend that the Committee
delegate the review and approval of the amended report to the Chair, to be actioned
outside formal Committee but ahead of the 31 October deadline.

3
3.1

FINANCE
There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations in this
report.

4
4.1

LEGAL AND DEMOCRACY
The Lambeth Pension Fund is run in accordance with the Local Government Pension
Scheme Regulations 2013 enacted along with other Regulations under the

Page 74
Superannuation Act 1972 and the Public Service Pension Act 2013, and is for the
benefit of Council employees and outside organisations which have entered into an
agreement with Lambeth to provide pensions for their staff.
4.2

The Pension Committee must be mindful of their fiduciary duty to obtain the best
possible financial return on the investments it administers within the investment
strategy framework.

4.3

There are no additional comments from Democratic Services.

5
5.1

CONSULTATION AND CO-PRODUCTION
The Fund’s consultant, Mercer, were commissioned to provide support in preparing
the Fund’s submission by providing example reports as potential templates,
reviewing the draft submission and offering feedback, and providing follow up support
and guidance.

6
6.1

RISK MANAGEMENT
Investment decisions involve taking risks that Members of the Committee should
always bear in mind. Generally, risk is taken to mean the variability of returns.
Investments with greater risk must usually promise higher returns than more ‘stable’
investments before investors will buy them. Members must consider the risk/reward
trade-off; generally, the higher the potential return expected the higher the associated
risk. Members in their capacity as Trustees bear that risk.

7
7.1

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT
None for the purposes of this report.

8
8.1

COMMUNITY SAFETY
None for the purposes of this report.

9

ORGANISATIONAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

Environmental
None for the purposes of this report.

9.2

Health
None for the purposes of this report.

9.3

Corporate Parenting
None for the purposes of this report.

9.4

Staffing and accommodation
None for the purposes of this report.

9.5

Responsible Procurement
None for the purposes of this report.

Page 75

10
10.1

TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
Not Applicable.
AUDIT TRAIL
Consultation
Name/Position
Councillor Andrew
Wilson, Cabinet
Member
Fiona McDermott,
Strategic Director
Christina Thompson,
Director of Finance
Hamant Bharadia,
Assistant Director of
Finance
Andrew Pavlou,
Legal Services
Marianna Ritchie,
Democratic Services
Mercer (External)

Lambeth
directorate/
division or
partner

Date Sent

Date
Received

Finance and
Performance

20.09.2021

23.09.2021

20.09.2021

23.09.2021

20.09.2021

20.09.2021

20.09.2021

23.09.2021

20.09.2021

21.09.2021

20.09.2021

21.09.2021

20.09.2021

20.09.2021

Finance and
Investment
Finance and
Investment
Finance and
Investment
Legal and
Democratic
Services
Legal and
Democratic
Services
Consultant

REPORT HISTORY
Original discussion with Cabinet
Member
Report deadline
Date final report sent
Part II Exempt from
Disclosure/confidential accompanying
report?
Key decision report
Date first appeared on forward plan
Key decision reasons
Background information
Appendices

Comments
in para:

N/A
15 September 2021
23 September 2021
No
No
N/A
N/A
N/A
 Appendix One – Lambeth Pension
Fund Draft Stewardship Report

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 77

London Borough of Lambeth
Pension Fund
Draft Stewardship Report
2020/2021
in accordance with the UK Stewardship Code 2020

Page 78

Introduction
Welcome to the first annual Stewardship Report of the London Borough of Lambeth Pension
Fund. Investing responsibly in line with the interests of the Fund’s members is a key
objective for the Fund, to give members confidence that their pension funds are invested
sustainably and in ways which are helping make the world a better place. Indeed,
stewardship can be defined as “the responsible allocation, management and oversight of
capital to create long-term value for clients and beneficiaries leading to sustainable benefits
for the economy, the environment and society”.
The London Borough of Lambeth, as administering authority of the Fund, has a
responsibility to be good stewards of the Fund’s assets, investing and managing those assets
in a way that reflects the investment beliefs of the Pensions Committee, the body of elected
representatives responsible for discharging the council’s functions in relation to the Fund,
and ultimately ensures adequate resources to pay members’ benefits as and when they fall
due.
This report has been prepared in line with the requirements of the Financial Reporting
Council’s UK Stewardship Code, which sets out twelve ‘apply and explain’ principles for
evidencing the highest stewardship standards of those investing money on behalf of UK
savers and pensioners, and those that support them. It details how the Fund fulfils its
stewardship responsibilities on a day-to-day basis, the ambition of the Committee to
continually improve the Fund’s investment and stewardship processes in the future, and the
changes we seek to drive by collaborating with other investors as well as the specific
interventions we made on behalf of our members in the 2020/21 financial year.

____________________________
Cllr. Anna Birley
Chair – Lambeth Pensions Committee

Page 79

Principle 1: Purpose, Strategy and Culture
1.1

The purpose of the London Borough of Lambeth Pension Fund is to provide retirement
benefits to over 20,000 active, deferred and pensioner members who are or have previously
been in paid employment for the London Borough of Lambeth and other participating
bodies in the Fund. Administered by the London Borough of Lambeth, the Fund is governed
in part by the policies and procedures of the council as prescribed in its constitution but
operates as a separate entity as a statutory funded public service pension scheme and, as
such, must also adhere to separate rules and regulations specific to the Local Government
Pensions Scheme (LGPS).

1.2

Within the LGPS each administering authority is responsible for managing its own Fund on
behalf of all Fund employers and beneficiaries. How an authority delegates its LGPS function
is largely a matter for each authority, and as most administering authorities are local
authorities, they largely operate in accordance with local government law. The specific
structure and delegations of authority within the Lambeth Pension Fund is set out
elsewhere in this report, but much of the culture of the Fund is influenced by that of
Lambeth Council, its elected members, and its officers.

1.3

As set out in the Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement (ISS), good stewardship is seen as
integral to being a responsible investor in both the financial and ethical sense. Effective
stewardship requires not only reliable data, robust internal systems, and resource capacity
and integration, but also leadership, a willingness to speak out, transparency and a
commitment to developing long-term relationships and collaborations.

1.4

The Fund’s ISS sets out the approach taken to stewardship, with an investment strategy that
aims to maximise returns at an acceptable level of risk taking into consideration the
circumstances of the Fund, underpinned by sound corporate governance and the promotion
of corporate responsibility with the managers in which the Fund invests. By engaging with
the Fund’s managers and other stakeholders, and partnering with other pension funds and
investors, the Fund can leverage its power and that of fellow institutional investors to drive
change in company behaviour and better meet the interests of the Fund’s beneficiaries.

1.5

The Fund’s approach to stewardship is driven by a set of investment beliefs which focus on
risk, investment strategy, active management, and the integration of Environmental, Social
and Corporate Governance (ESG) issues.


A long-term approach to investing is appropriate and, moreover, an advantage.
Managing risk is a complex and multidimensional task, but no more risk will be taken
than is deemed necessary and risk mitigation will be prioritised according to the size
of the potential impact. As the funding level of the Fund improves, there will be less
of a need to take as much risk with the Fund’s strategic asset allocation.

Page 80

1.6



The Pensions Committee believes that the most important decision for the Fund is
the setting of the strategic asset allocation; access to long-term streams of returns
adds value to the Fund, and as the Fund matures cashflow considerations will have a
greater impact on the Fund’s strategic decision-making.



The Committee believes that active managers can add value but that there is greater
opportunity for active managers to add value in less efficient markets. There are
limited passive options in some alternative asset classes, but a greater opportunity
for active managers to add value.



ESG issues can have a material impact on long-term risk and return outcomes;
considering these issues is consistent with the fiduciary duty of the Pensions
Committee. The Committee believes in engagement over exclusion and that active
ownership helps the realisation of long-term shareholder value. Taking a
collaborative approach with other investors can help to achieve wider and more
effective outcomes, all the while remaining transparent and accountable to the
Fund’s members.

The approach taken by the Fund, in line with the above beliefs, has been effective in
producing above benchmark returns, improving the funding level, and addressing ESG
concerns in a way that leaves the Fund in a strong position as it works to develop more
specific ESG policies into 2021/22 and beyond.


The Fund’s assets increased in value by approximately 27% in the year ending 31
March 2021 against a benchmark of 18.7%, by 9.6% in the three-year period and by
9.7% in the five-year period (against benchmarks of 7.8% and 8.3% respectively).



The estimated funding level of the Fund as at 31 March 2021 was 94.5%, improved
from 82.4% as at 31 March 2019.



The Fund’s estimated exposure to fossil fuel investments as at 31 March 2021 was
1.41% of the total Fund, whilst a carbon footprint analysis of the Fund’s equity
investments identified significantly lower carbon intensity and future potential
emission measures than benchmarks (measured as at 31 March 2020).

Page 81

Principle 2: Governance, Resources, and Incentives
2.1

Lambeth Council is the administering authority for the London Borough of Lambeth Pension
Fund. Within its constitution, the council has delegated responsibility for the Fund to the
Pensions Committee.

2.2

The Fund is governed by the Pensions Committee as the principal decision-making body
with responsibility for all Fund matters including governance, investment and funding
strategies, accounting, employer and scheme member engagement, communications, and
administration. The Pensions Committee delegates the day-to-day running of the Fund to
officers; the Director of Finance and Property, as the council’s Chief Finance Officer
responsible for the financial affairs of the council in accordance with Section 151 of the
Local Government Act 1972, has overall delegated powers for the management of the
pension fund, reporting to the Strategic Director of Finance and Investment.

2.3

The Pensions Board sits in an advisory role to the Fund independent of the Pensions
Committee, assisting the council in securing compliance with the relevant regulations
relating to the administration and governance of the scheme.

2.4

The council’s Treasury and Pensions, and Payroll and Pensions Teams are responsible for the
day-to-day management and oversight of assets including implementation of the ISS, and
the administration of the Fund. Following the creation of the London Collective Investment
Vehicle (LCIV) in 2015, the pool company provides investment products, analysis and advice
to support implementation of the ISS and the pooling of Fund assets with those of the other
London boroughs who are part of the pool.

2.5

There are strict rules around the governance of the Fund as set out by legislation that
applies to all LGPS funds; the Fund reports in detail on how it adheres to those rules every
year in the Annual Report, as well as publishing all Fund governance policies which are
available on the Fund’s website at the following link: www.lgpslambeth.org.

2.6

The following section provides further information on how the Fund is structured, makes
decisions, and is governed in a way that makes for effective stewardship of the Fund’s
activities. A summary of the main functions and responsible bodies that influence the
operation of the Fund is shown below, together with additional information on the Fund’s
main internal bodies:
Function
Policy and Objective
Setting
Implementation

Body
-

London Borough of Lambeth (administering authority)
Pensions Committee (decision making)
Pensions Board (non-decision making)
Treasury and Pensions Team
Payroll and Pensions Team
Fund Employers

Page 82
External Policy Bodies
and Guidance
Pooling Vehicle

-

-

LGPS Scheme Advisory Board
The Pensions Regulator
London CIV Ltd, governed by:
Executive Committee
London CIV Board (including Remuneration &
Nomination Committee, Investment Oversight
Committee and Compliance Audit & Risk Committee)
Shareholder Committee

London Borough of Lambeth
2.7

The London Borough of Lambeth is the administering authority of the Fund and the largest
employer. The Council is the supreme political body of the London Borough of Lambeth
made up of 63 elected councillors. The Cabinet is the main executive decision-making body
of the council, comprising 10 elected councillors including a Leader of the Council; the
Cabinet Member for Finance and Performance is responsible for the council’s Pension Fund.

2.8

The London Borough of Lambeth discharges the council’s functions in relation to the
Pension Fund through the Pensions Committee. In addition, as the officer responsible for
the proper administration of the council’s financial affairs (pursuant to Section 151 of the
Local Government Act 1972) the Director of Finance and Property is authorised to act on
behalf of the council in all pensions matters which includes the provision of advice to the
Pensions Committee, the administration of actuarial valuations and the implementation of
contribution rates as approved by Council and in consultation with the Cabinet Member for
Finance.

The Pensions Committee
2.9

The Pensions Committee is a non-executive decision-making body of the London Borough of
Lambeth, responsible for ensuring the Fund is properly operated in accordance with all
relevant regulations and best practice as advised by the Pensions Regulator, the LGPS, the
Scheme Advisory Board, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
(MHCLG) and the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and,
ultimately, to ensure the Fund is able to pay pension benefits as and when they fall due.

2.10

The Pensions Committee is made up of 8 members (akin to “trustees”). There are 5 elected
members as employer representatives and 3 co-opted scheme member representatives
comprising one member of staff of the London Borough of Lambeth, one pensioner
member, and one Trade Union member; all have full voting rights.

2.11

The employer representatives are confirmed and ratified at an annual meeting of full
Council, whilst the member representatives are elected by a ballot of members of the Fund
or pensioners of the Fund, or nominated by a Trade Union. Members usually serve a term of
at least four years.

Page 83
2.12

The positions of Chair and Vice-Chair of the Committee are held by councillors appointed by
the London Borough of Lambeth, held for a period of two years with each then taking the
other’s position.

2.13

In addition, the Pensions Committee has 3 substitute members; 2 employer substitutes and
1 Trade Union substitute. These members may be asked to stand in for other
representatives on the Committee if it is known in advance that one of the others is unable
to attend and the meeting may not be quorate; substitute members retain full voting rights,
subject to the Clerk of the meeting being made aware of the substitution in advance.
Advisers to the Pensions Committee

2.14

The Fund is supported by a core group of key advisers, and at some point in the annual cycle
all will usually be invited to relevant Pensions Committee meetings. The Fund’s current
advisers in relation to its stewardship approach are as follows:
 Investment Advisers – Mercer
 Governance and Risk Advisers – Aon Hewitt
 Actuarial Advisers – Hymans Robertson
 External Auditor – Mazars
 Custodian – Northern Trust

The Pensions Board
2.15

The Pensions Board is a non-decision-making body operating independently of the Pensions
Committee. Its function is to assist the London Borough of Lambeth, in its role as
administering authority, to secure compliance with all relevant pension regulations and
other legislation relating to the governance and administration of the scheme, any
requirements imposed by the Pensions Regulator, and to ensure the effective and efficient
governance and administration of the scheme.

2.16

The Pensions Board is made up of 6 members. There are 3 elected members as employer
representatives and 3 scheme member representatives comprising one member of staff of
the London Borough of Lambeth, one pensioner member, and one Trade Union member; all
have full voting rights.

2.17

The employer representatives are confirmed and ratified at an annual meeting of full
Council, whilst the member representatives are elected by a ballot of members of the Fund
or pensioners of the Fund, or nominated by a Trade Union. Members usually serve a term of
at least four years.

2.18

The positions of Chair and Vice-Chair are appointed by members of the Board for two years
and will rotate between an employer and member representative. At the end of the Chair’s
tenure, the post will be filled by the Vice-Chair.

2.19

Throughout 2020/21, the Local Pensions Board has overseen the governance of the Fund by
way of regular updates on matters including a governance review action plan, the Fund’s

Page 84
ongoing risk register, and developments and changes to the Fund’s investment strategy and
general stewardship activity. The Board holds the Pensions Committee accountable for its
decision-making by making recommendations to the Committee, and in 2020/21 the Board
made the following recommendations:

2.20



That the risk rating in the Fund’s risk register assigned to ESG risks be increased, to
more accurately reflect the impact that ignoring such risks would have on the Fund.



That all members of the Board and Committee complete a knowledge and skills selfassessment audit to identify any knowledge gaps, that ongoing training continue to
be delivered to members, and that training attendance records be maintained.

The mechanism that allows the Board to make recommendations to the Committee requires
improvement and will be developed in 2021/22, particularly with regards to how those
recommendations, and progress against them, is tracked and reported back to the Board.

Treasury and Pensions Team
2.21

The Treasury and Pensions Team have responsibility for the day-to-day running of the Fund,
under delegated authority from the Director of Finance and Property and reporting directly
to the Assistant Director of Strategic Finance. The team is made up of 4 members of staff,
employed by the London Borough of Lambeth and based in Brixton.

2.22

Led by the Head of Treasury and Pensions, the team serves the Pensions Committee and
works on all issues of governance, finance and investment. The team has a range of
backgrounds, the majority having been recruited from the public sector, and have longstanding pension accounting and investment expertise including membership of relevant
professional bodies such as CIPFA and ACCA.

2.23

All members of the team contribute to responsible investment in their respective roles, be it
from a finance, investment or governance perspective.

Payroll and Pensions Team
2.24

The Payroll and Pensions Team has responsibility for all matters relating to Fund
administration and the processing of member benefits. The team of 8 is led by the Head of
Payroll and Pensions, reporting directly to the Director of Finance and Property.

2.25

The Team have a range of backgrounds, the majority having been recruited from the public
sector with long-standing pensions administration experience and membership of relevant
professional bodies. Some members of the team have been recruited internally due to their
knowledge of Lambeth’s finance, policy, and administration.

Page 85

Principle 3: Conflicts of Interest
3.1

A conflict of interest is a financial or other interest which is likely to prejudice a person’s
exercise of functions, although it does not include a financial or other interest arising merely
by virtue of a person being a member of the LGPS or the Lambeth Pension Fund.

3.2

By way of example, a conflict of interest may arise when a member of the Pension Board, in
fulfilling their legal duty to assist the administering authority has, at the same time, a
separate personal interest (financial or otherwise) or other responsibility in relation to a
specific matter which gives rise to a possible conflict with their statutory role as a member
of the Board.

3.3

Actual conflicts of interest are not permitted within the LGPS as it is unlikely these can be
managed appropriately to prevent the conflict from having an impact. Members of the
Pensions Committee and Board that declare a conflict of interest in relation to a particular
matter may not participate in any decision-making or vote on that matter. Anyone with a
conflict of interest may not be appointed to the Pensions Board and may be required to
resign if they are already a member of the Board. As an additional mitigation against the risk
of conflicts of interest, councillors who are members of the Pensions Committee are
excluded from serving on the Board.

3.4

Managing conflicts of interest is vital to every pension scheme, and at Lambeth both the
Pensions Committee and Pensions Board receive appropriate training on identifying and
reporting conflicts of interest and must formally declare at each meeting any potential
conflicts per the Lambeth Council Member Code of Conduct.

3.5

Members of the Pensions Committee and Pensions Board are subject to the Member Code
of Conduct as stipulated in the constitution of Lambeth Council. The Code of Conduct is set
out in accordance with the provisions of the Localism Act (2011), committing members to
adhere to several statutory principles as well as the Seven Principles of Public Life (the
‘Nolan Principles’).

3.6

Officers of the Fund, as employees of Lambeth Council, are subject to the Officers’ Code of
Conduct as set out in Lambeth Council’s constitution and to the terms and conditions of
their contracts of employment.

3.7

In line with the requirements of the Public Service Pensions Act (2013) and the Pension
Regulator’s Code of Practice, the Pensions Board has also adopted a separate Conflicts of
Interest Policy which clarifies the definition of a conflict of interest and how conflicts should
be managed and monitored. The three-stage approach to managing conflicts of interest
includes:
 identifying potential conflicts
 monitoring potential conflicts
 manging potential conflicts

Page 86
3.8

The Board should cultivate a culture of openness and transparency and in doing so members
should identify and evaluate any potential conflicts of interest with the role of the Board
itself or with specific items on the Board’s work programme. Members will declare any
conflict of interests at the start of every Board meeting where they will be recorded on the
register of interests together with the appropriate action taken to manage the conflict; this
may include a member withdrawing from discussions or resigning from the Board if the
conflict is so fundamental that it cannot be managed in any other way.

3.9

In 2020/21 there were no potential or actual conflicts identified which needed managing.

Managing Potential Investment Conflicts
3.10

3.11

The Fund’s ISS will in future be expanded to further explain how conflicts are managed in
relation to the Fund’s stewardship, particularly with regards Fund investments and
employers, to include at least the following:


The Fund does not select the companies it invests in. The Pensions Committee, with
the assistance of its advisers, appoints asset managers to manage the Fund’s assets
in various strategies according to the ISS, and those managers then select the
underlying companies best suited to deliver their strategies’ objectives. The Fund
does however expect its managers to engage with the underlying companies on its
behalf and escalate any concerns accordingly.



In undertaking its stewardship activities, the Fund will act in line with its ISS and will
not be influenced by the regulatory actions of scheme employers.

The Fund is also aware of the policies and processes in place for managing conflicts of
interest within the London CIV and monitors adherence to these through the CIV’s reporting
processes.

Page 87

Principle 4: Promoting Well-Functioning Markets
Approach to Risk
4.1

Lambeth Pension Fund recognises that effective risk management is an essential element of
good stewardship, and by identifying and managing risks through an effective policy and risk
management strategy it is able to minimise the risk of adverse conditions on the Fund,
identify and maximise opportunities that may arise, and support innovation and continual
development to address market and systemic risks. In its management of risk, the Fund has
regards to CIPFA guidance on managing risk in the LGPS and the Pension Regulator’s Code of
Practice.

4.2

The Fund has adopted a Risk Management Policy and Statement that clearly sets out the risk
philosophy of the Fund and its appetite for risk, how risk management is implemented and
integrated into the day-to-day activities of the Fund, and the responsibilities for risk
management within the Fund. To help identify, analyse, and evaluate risk the Fund
maintains a risk register which lists each identified risk relevant to the Fund, the impact of
the risk on outcomes and benefits, and the responsible owner of that risk; it then assigns a
risk rating to assess the likelihood of a risk occurring and the impact it would have on the
Fund. Mitigating actions are suggested and risks monitored on an ongoing basis to
determine the effectiveness of those actions, if the desired outcomes have been achieved,
and what lessons can be learned for the future assessment and management of risk.

4.3

The risk register is presented to the Pensions Committee at least twice a year and to the
Pensions Board quarterly. The Pensions Board provide comment and input to the
management of risks and can make recommendations to the Pensions Committee for
action. The Pensions Committee have ultimate responsibility for the monitoring of risks and,
in its updates to the Committee, officers flag any changes made to the register for new risks,
changes to risk ratings, or the successful implementation of mitigating actions. As at 31
March 2021 there were no risks identified as ‘very likely’ to occur or that have a high chance
of causing major disruption to the Fund.

4.4

The Fund’s Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) and ISS also address risk as relevant to each
statement, including financial, demographic, and regulatory risks as well as investment,
solvency, governance and ESG risks. The Fund’s overriding approach to mitigating marketwide and systemic risk is to take a balanced approach to risk and return, seeking to
maximise returns whilst minimising risk within acceptable parameters, and maintaining a
diversified portfolio across many asset classes, managers, and geographies. This
diversification across different markets and asset classes also reduces the Fund’s exposure
to the volatility of equities, which as at 31 March 2021 made up approximately 51% of the
Fund; although the Pension Committee believes that the additional returns that can be
generated by equities compensates for the level of risk they add to the Fund, exposure to
diversifying assets helps to mitigate this additional risk.

Page 88
4.5

As the Fund works to develop its Responsible Investment (RI) and Climate Change policies it
will further develop its risk assessment of the impact of climate change on its investments,
particularly as part of preparations for reporting against the Task Force on Climate-Related
Financial Disclosures (TCFD) framework.

Continued Improvement of the Functioning of Financial Markets
4.6

The Fund has continued to engage throughout the last financial year with local authority
colleagues, regulators, and industry bodies as part of its wider commitment to improving
the functioning of financial markets, including continuing its ongoing membership of the
Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) and the Pensions and Lifetime Savings
Association (PLSA). One such initiative including taking part in the London CIV’s Cost
Transparency Working Group, an attempt to redesign the pool’s funding model to allow the
pool to better serve the needs of its clients and to increase transparency. The group of
select London boroughs provided input to proposals developed by the LCIV and its
consultant, for which work is still ongoing, and agreed to progress onto additional
considerations including fee comparisons and charging structures.

Page 89

Principle 5: Review and Assurance
5.1

The Fund’s suite of policies and procedures are periodically reviewed internally by Fund
officers, the Pensions Committee, and the Pensions Board as part of the normal stewardship
activity of the Fund and the respective work programmes of the Committee and Board.
Those strategies and policies relevant to investment and investment stewardship, such as
the ISS and FSS, are formally approved by the Pensions Committee, and will be reviewed at
least every three years to align with the triennial actuarial valuation though in practice are
reviewed and updated on a more regular basis as appropriate. Such reviews aim to identify
and implement any process improvements and reflect any developing initiatives or statutory
changes; this may require additional policies and procedures to be drafted. The Fund’s latest
policies can be accessed on the Fund website at the following link:
https://www.lgpslambeth.org/lambeth-pension-fund/about-us/forms-and-publications/

Assurance
5.2

Effective governance is key to ensuring the high quality of service delivery that the Fund’s
members expect, and the governance structure at the Fund has been created to provide
assurance to the Fund’s stakeholders and governing bodies of the effectiveness of the
Fund’s stewardship activities, making use of specialist, skilled and professional advice at
every stage of Fund management.

5.3

As a Fund, there are several ways in which assurance is sought in relation to the Fund’s
stewardship; for example;


The Fund’s Annual Report and Financial Statements are externally audited; the most
recently audited accounts for 2019/20 received an unqualified audit opinion,
representing a “true and fair view” of the Fund’s financial transactions to have taken
place during the year and the year-end balance of assets and liabilities.



The Fund commissions external governance reviews to gain assurance on its policies
and procedures in place that relate to the administration and governance of the
Fund. The most recent review was completed in 2018 which resulted in a
comprehensive action plan to address and improve areas of non or partial
compliance to the Pension Regulator’s Code of Practice. A follow-on review is
planned for 2021/22 as set out in the Fund’s Business Plan for the year and approved
by the Pensions Committee at its July 2021 meeting



When contracts are due for renewal the Fund follows the stringent procurement
policies of Lambeth Council as set out in Lambeth’s Contract Standing Orders, which
includes a policy on responsible procurement to ensure that all high value
procurements focus on delivering value for money and achieving additional
economic, social and environmental benefits.

Page 90
5.4

The London CIV also maintains its own assurance controls for the benefit of its clients; all
published policies, procedures and reports are required to pass through a formal review and
internal assurance process. This ensures that their policies and any internal/external
communications are in line with LCIV objectives and what is communicated is fair, clear and
accurate. Responsible Investment (RI) policies and reports are drafted by the RI Team and
reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Investment Officer, Governance Team and
Executive Team. The Compliance and Risk Team undertake periodic reviews of their RI
framework to ensure compliance with regulatory obligations and to identify any risks.

Page 91

Principle 6: Client and Beneficiary Needs
Scheme Membership
6.1

The London Borough of Lambeth Pension Fund is part of the Local Government Pension
Scheme, a statutory public service scheme providing defined benefits to its members based
on their earnings and length of service, and is administered by the London Borough of
Lambeth on behalf of all 24 employers in the Fund. Benefits are funded by member
contributions and investment returns and are guaranteed by statute.

6.2

Membership of the LGPS is open to all public sector employers providing some form of
service to the local community and, whilst most members will be local authority employees
(and ex-employees), other employers can also join the scheme where they are providing
services in place of (or alongside) local authority services, such as academy schools,
contractors, housing associations and charities.

6.3

As at 31 March 2021 there were 20,928 members in the Fund across three categories:

6.4



5,013 active members (representing 24% of membership) who are currently
employed by one of the Fund’s employers;



8,460 deferred members (representing 40% of membership): these are members
who worked for a scheme employer in the past and are entitled to receive a pension
from the Fund in the future; and



7,455 pensioner members (representing 36% of membership), being members who
are currently receiving their pensions.

Lambeth Council is the largest employer in the Fund, accounting for 96% of overall
membership, or 91% of active membership, 97% of deferred membership and 99% of
pensioner members. Most of the other employers in the Fund are academies/education
trusts or housing management organisations; further information is available on the Fund’s
website.

Investment Time Horizon
6.5

Lambeth Pension Fund takes a long-term view with regards its investment and funding
strategies. The Fund’s primary investment objective is to achieve an overall rate of return
that is sufficient to ensure that assets are available to meet all liabilities as and when they
fall due; to achieve this, the Fund must ensure its long-term solvency by adopting a prudent
long-term view of not just investment returns but the changing liabilities of the Fund and
the forces that will impact on them in the future. In recognising these variables, the Fund’s
investment strategy also allows for some flexibility to manage short-term volatility in
markets, the different risk/return profiles across asset classes, and the changes to cashflow
requirements as the membership profile of the Fund or benefit structure changes.

Page 92

Communication with Members
6.6

Lambeth Pension Fund is committed to delivering value to its members and other
stakeholders, ensuring strong lines of communication and readily available information
when it is needed and in whatever format or language it is required, in recognition of the
culturally rich and diverse client base the Fund serves. It communicates with its members,
employers, and other interested parties on a regular basis (continuing with its regular
communication throughout the Covid-19 pandemic) and sets out how it does this, and how
it measures the success of that communication, in its Communication Policy Statement
(available on the Fund’s website at the following link:
https://www.lgpslambeth.org/lambeth-pension-fund/about-us/forms-and-publications/).

6.7

The Fund’s communication objectives not only include being able to resolve member
queries and complaints to the customer’s satisfaction, but also to educate and explain to
existing and prospective members the benefits of the LGPS. To that end, the Fund maintains
its own website which acts as the first point of reference for information on the Fund, as
well as providing a central depositary for all Fund documentation including policies and
procedures, funding and investment strategies, and various request forms. This provides a
readily accessible route for communicating the Fund’s stewardship activities to its
beneficiaries and other interested parties, particularly as societal and environmental
changes have seen an increased interest from the Fund’s members on how their pensions
are invested responsibly and ethically. In 2020/21 the Fund website received an average of
294 visits per month, with half of those typically coming via search engine results and most
of the others directly by typing in the web address or using a saved favourite.

6.8

The Fund also communicates with members via alternative means; benefit statements are
issued every year providing an estimate of benefits, whilst newsletters are sent out at least
annually to both active and pensioner members setting out useful and topical information
relating to the Fund, such as changes to scheme regulations and updates on Fund
performance. New members are issued with a scheme guide on joining the Fund, whilst one
to one sessions and presentations are available on request.

6.9

There is also a Member Self Service (MSS) online platform where members can register and
access details about their personal pension rights and benefits. As at 31 March 2021 there
were 2,868 registered users of MSS representing 14% of Fund membership; officers
encourage all members to use MSS, and links are provided in emails and other
communication methods.

6.10

To measure the effectiveness of its communication methods the Fund has set several target
delivery periods for issuing and responding to certain requests, all much earlier than the
statutory timeframes where applicable and as set out in its Communication Policy. Updates
on administrative performance in general, including performance indicators, are reported to
the Pensions Board every quarter, including the number of complaints received and actions
taken to resolve them.

Page 93

Principle 7: Stewardship, Investment and ESG Integration
7.1

Lambeth Pension Fund requires its investment managers to integrate all material financial
factors, including ESG considerations into the decision-making process for all fund
investments, and delegates to them responsibility for making individual investment
decisions. The Fund’s Pension Committee believes that ESG (including climate change) risks
should be considered on an ongoing basis and is consistent with the Committee’s fiduciary
duty as set out in its investment beliefs. ESG considerations are an integral part of the
Fund’s strategy as a long-term investor, and the Committee receives quarterly ESG updates
from its investment adviser by way of ESG ratings for each of the Fund’s managers.

7.2

These ratings, on a scale of 1 to 4, are assigned to managers and their strategies according
to their integration of ESG into the investment process. The best strategies, rated 1, are
those the advisers believe to be leaders in integrating ESG and active ownership into their
core processes and where ESG is central to idea generation or portfolio construction; the
worst, rated 4, provide little evidence of any integration of ESG and active ownership into
core processes.

7.3

When taken into consideration with traditional alpha ratings assigned to managers by the
Fund’s advisers, as well as investment performance, the Committee can form a view of the
Fund’s managers and engage accordingly, either to seek reassurance from the managers or
consider investing elsewhere. In addition, the Committee uses these ESG ratings when
procuring new managers to ascertain the extent of ESG integration within a strategy, as part
of the wider evaluation process.

7.4

As at 31 March 2021 none of the Fund’s investment managers/strategies were rated 4,
although four managers were rated at 3 suggesting a small degree of progress has been
made by those managers to integrate ESG factors into their stewardship and investment
activities but there is much room for improvement to integrate ESG factors into core
investment processes.

7.5

The Fund has committed to reduce climate change risk by eliminating fossil fuel exposure
from the Fund’s portfolio. The Committee expects to continuously review further
opportunities, across all asset classes, to reduce the Fund’s reliance on sensitive assets by
considering the potential financial impacts of both the transition to a low-carbon economy
and the physical impacts of different climate outcomes. The Committee expects its
investment managers to include information on how fossil fuels are being managed within
their respective portfolios as part of regular reporting for the Fund, and this information is
reported to both the Committee and Pensions Board on a regular basis as a means of
monitoring progress towards fossil fuel reduction.

7.6

The Fund recognises the importance of responsible investment principles as an integral part
of any pension’s investment strategy, and the increasing relevance of RI and ESG factors as
material interests to the Fund’s stakeholders. The Fund aims to improve its integration of RI

Page 94
and ESG considerations into its stewardship activities and its decision-making throughout
the investment value chain, improving the transparency of Fund performance in this area
through regular, high quality disclosure. In March 2021 the Pensions Committee instructed
Fund officers to develop a Climate Strategy for the Fund with specific objectives and
measurable targets against which to monitor progress. In addition, the Committee has
agreed to formally adopt the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-Related
Financial Disclosures (TCFD) and has instructed officers to compile an initial report using the
TCFD framework, analysing the Fund’s governance, risk management, strategy, and metrics
and targets in relation to climate risks and opportunities; work is ongoing on both reports.

Page 95

Principle 8: Monitoring Managers and Service Providers
8.1

Lambeth Pension Fund believes that effective monitoring of its managers and service
providers is an essential aspect of good stewardship activity, and adopts several methods of
monitoring its providers to ensure services have been delivered as expected.

8.2

The Fund monitors its managers through regular in-person and virtual meetings and calls,
engagement at conferences, attendance at performance update webinars and calls, and
though its advisers and the London CIV. The Fund receives quarterly performance updates
from its investment advisers summarising financial performance against a wider market
backdrop as well as a measure of the managers’ progress towards integrating ESG factors
into their core processes. These reports are reported at both Pensions Committee and
Pensions Board. Managers are invited to Pensions Committee meetings where there are
particular areas of concern that the Committee wish to escalate or otherwise periodically to
ensure strong ongoing monitoring of the Fund’s asset managers by its decision-makers.

8.3

The London CIV prepare quarterly performance and voting reports for its clients as well as
monthly capital statements, which allows for effective monitoring of managers’
engagement, voting, and wider ESG activity in line with the Fund’s policies. The CIV hold
monthly business update meetings with its clients to update on pooling progress and any
new pool developments, as well as ‘meet the manager’ sessions which give clients the
opportunity to engage directly with managers. Officers also maintain regular dialogue with
the LCIV on all aspects of Fund management. A quarterly update is presented to the
Pensions Committee and Pensions Board summarising performance information as well as
service delivery, mandate development and wider pooling updates. The CIV periodically
present at Pensions Committee meetings which ensures regular face-to-face interaction
with the LCIV client servicing team.

8.4

The Fund has established a list of 7 strategic objectives for its investment advisers, Mercer,
in compliance with the Competition and Markets Authority 2019 Order, “The Investment
Consultancy and Fiduciary Management Market Investigation Order”. The objectives are
aligned with the Fund’s primary objective to be able to pay member benefits as and when
they fall due, and include a requirement to consider the responsible investment
responsibilities of the Fund and to assist in determining and delivering an appropriate
investment strategy. The objectives will be reviewed and amended, if necessary, after any
significant changes to the Fund’s investment strategy or objectives, and at least every three
years. The Fund monitors adherence to the objectives and engages in client feedback
meetings with Mercer where officers can flag concerns but also highlight areas of the
relationship that are working well, as well as identifying any future needs and how they
might best be met.

Page 96

Principle 9. Engagement
9.1

The Fund believes that effective management of financially material environmental, social
and governance risks will support the Fund’s long-term approach to protect and enhance
the value of the Fund’s assets. The Investment Strategy Statement includes the requirement
that its investment managers integrate all material financial factors, as well as corporate
governance and ESG considerations, into the decision-making process for all its investments.
It expects its managers to follow best practice and use their influence as major institutional
investors and long-term stewards of capital to promote best practice in the investee
companies and markets to which the Fund is exposed.

9.2

The Fund’s officers regularly engage and meet with Fund stakeholders, such as the London
CIV and investment managers, for regular updates on investment performance, new fund
developments or strategy changes, which are reported to the Pensions Committee as
relevant. The Fund has instructed its external advisers Mercer to engage with its investment
managers on its behalf. The advisers report to the Pensions Committee at least quarterly on
manager performance which includes business updates and comments on assurances
sought from asset managers regarding issues of concern.

9.3

The London CIV engages directly with issuers and investment managers on the Fund’s behalf
for those assets which the Fund has pooled, recognising that at the macro-level it must
consider top-down global risks and client priorities and, from a bottom-up perspective,
recognise the micro-risks of individual assets and the social and financial materiality of those
risks.

9.4

Examples of engagement activities that have been undertaken and reported to the Pensions
Committee in 2020/21 include:


In May 2020 Mercer notified the Committee of changes to the management team of
the Global Alpha strategy at Baillie Gifford, specifically the retirement of a long
serving Senior Partner. However, following discussions with the manager, Mercer
were comforted by the significant period of notice in which Baillie Gifford had to
plan a handover, the promotion of internal talent, and the explicit steps taken to
address concerns raised about diversity on the team.



In December 2020 the London CIV were invited to attend Pensions Committee and
update members on developments at the pool, including the performance of the
Fund’s assets pooled with the CIV, as well as explain the CIV’s approach to
responsible investment and a timeline for implementation.



Officers engage with fund managers on a regular basis, whether in person, by email
or virtually, to carry out due diligence on ongoing performance, adherence to agreed
policies and to audit the Fund’s exposure to fossil fuels which is reported to
Committee.

Page 97

9.5

The Fund is also a member of the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF). LAPFF is the
UK’s leading collaborative shareholder engagement group encompassing over 80 local
authority pension funds and 7 investment pools from across the country with combined
assets of £300 billion. On the Fund’s behalf, the Forum engages directly with company
chairs and boards to affect change at investee companies, challenges regulators, and
delivers reforms that advance corporate responsibility and responsible investment.

Page 98

Principle 10: Collaboration
10.1

Lambeth Pension Fund recognises the value in engagement with partner organisations and
other stakeholders, whether with other LGPS funds, service providers, industry bodies or
regulators, and is committed to actively engaging and collaborating with those partners.
This includes working collaboratively with likeminded pension funds, particularly those in
London, and the London CIV on issues related to climate change and ESG, particularly as the
Fund focuses on decarbonisation and engagement as opposed to divestment, and in
developing mandates that meet the needs of multiple boroughs.

10.2

The Fund has a strong history of collaborating with partner London boroughs, particularly in
regard to joint procurements of asset managers to achieve cost savings and efficiencies. For
example, the Project Monument pool of five boroughs in 2018 collaborated to procure two
private debt managers, Churchill and Permira, at a time when the London CIV was not in a
position to launch such a fund. More recently, in 2020 the Fund worked with the London
Borough of Islington Pension Fund in a joint procurement exercise to appoint M&G as a
multi asset credit manager, where the strategy of both Funds could be aligned, and savings
achieved through cost sharing.

10.3

The Fund maintains a strong relationship with the London CIV, and has to date been
involved in several ‘Seed Investor Groups’ (SIGs), working with the pool and other boroughs
to generate ideas and proposals for new mandates from early-stage development through
to fund launch. The London CIV also engages with a wide range of initiatives and pensions
bodies on behalf of the Fund, as well as working with other pools, by collaborating in joint
initiatives and working groups such as the Asset Owner Diversity Working Group, the Cost
Transparency Initiative (CTI), and the Marine Conservation Society’s Microplastic Pollution
Collaboration.

10.4

As an example, the Cost Transparency Initiative (CTI) is a new industry standard for
institutional investment cost data which aims to increase the availability of comprehensive
and transparent information on investment costs and charges, helping investors to decide if
investments represent value for money. The Pensions and Lifetime Savings Association
(PLSA) created a set of templates and tools which together form a framework that asset
owners can use to receive standardised cost and charges information from asset managers.
By collaborating with the London CIV and the PLSA on this initiative, the Fund has been able
to issue CTI templates to its asset managers which has improved the analysis and reporting
of investment management expenses to the Pensions Committee and within the Fund’s
accounts.

Page 99

Principle 11: Escalation
11.1

The Fund expects its investment managers, and the London CIV, to undertake appropriate
monitoring of current investments with regards to their policies and practices on all issues
which could present a material financial risk to the long-term performance of the Fund,
including environmental, social and corporate governance factors. Effective monitoring and
identification of these issues can enable engagement with boards and management of
investee companies to seek resolution of potential problems at an early stage.

11.2

Where collaboration is likely to be the most effective mechanism for encouraging issues to
be addressed, the Fund expects its investment managers to participate in joint action with
other parties as required and permitted by the relevant legal and regulatory codes. The
Fund also expects its investment managers to escalate any stewardship activities on its
behalf, in line with best practice but particularly in line with any applicable
recommendations of the Fund, when company dialogue is too slow or unresponsive, or
when there are concerns that require ongoing dialogue and a change in approach by the
underlying company.

11.3

The Fund monitors its investment managers’ engagement activities through regular reports
and discussion, including those occasions when managers have escalated their approach
when required. Examples include:


From May 2020 the London CIV raised concerns with Baillie Gifford, the Fund’s
global equity manager, concerning its investment in Rio Tinto, a metals and mining
company which hit the headlines for its destruction of a site of cultural significance
in Western Australia. A meeting was called with Baillie Gifford to discuss whether
they would engage with the company to raise the issue of proper engagement with
local communities. Baillie Gifford suggested a number of changes to the Board of Rio
Tinto, including the appointment of a Group Head of Sustainability to report directly
to the CEO, which gave the London CIV and Lambeth Pension Fund as an investor the
reassurance that Rio Tinto was committed to making greater efforts to balance its
impact as a natural resource extractor against its responsible investment objectives.



In late 2020 the Fund’s emerging market equity manager, JP Morgan, engaged with
the President Chain Store Corp, a Taiwan-based food and drug retailer, to discuss
areas where the company fell short of the asset manager’s materiality framework
(setting out how ESG factors should be integrated within the investment process).
This included raising concerns about the low level of female board participation and
discussions about the removal of tobacco advertising from its stores to comply with
ESG best practices. The company committed to seriously considering the
recommendations and JP Morgan continues to monitor progress.



In early 2021 the Fund’s sustainable equity exclusion manager, RBC, escalated
concerns with Bluebird Bio, a biotechnology company that develops gene therapies

Page 100
for severe genetic disorders and cancers, about a health scare with a recent gene
therapy trial which led to the stock to decline, as well as the implications of plans to
split the company into two. The manager spent a lot of time in discussions with the
CEO, Head of R&D, and Chairman of the Board to understand the reasons for both
incidents and gain the necessary assurances that the company remained a viable
investment option for investors.

Page 101

Principle 12: Exercising Rights and Responsibilities
12.1

The Lambeth Pension Fund is a long-term active investor that takes seriously its role in
fostering and promoting higher standards of stewardship, and believes that good
stewardship can enhance and protect the long-term interests of the Fund and its ultimate
beneficiaries.

12.2

The Fund has a commitment to actively exercising the ownership rights attached to its
investments, reflecting the Fund’s conviction that responsible asset owners should maintain
oversight of the companies in which it ultimately invests and recognising that the
companies’ activities impact upon not only their customers and clients, but more widely
upon their employees, other stakeholders, and wider society.

12.3

Voting rights give shareholders both the opportunity and responsibility to participate in the
stewardship of companies, and the Fund delegates these rights and responsibilities to its
investment managers. There are of course different expectations for managers depending
on the asset class, fund, and geography, noting that engagement can be more challenging
for pooled funds, alternative assets such as those in private markets and fixed income, and
those in emerging markets; however, the Fund’s policy on the exercise of its rights, as set
out in its ISS, allows for flexibility in these expectations with due consideration for the
particular circumstances of each company. As a minimum, all managers are expected to
engage with invested companies on areas related to ESG issues and, in particular, to
exercise voting rights with regards to ESG factors in a manner that will most favourably
impact the Fund.

12.4

The Fund expects its managers to use their influence as major institutional investors and
long-term stewards of capital to promote good practice in the investee companies and
markets to which the Fund is exposed, and to report to the Fund on their engagement with
company management and their voting record.

12.5

The Fund’s investments through the London CIV, which account for 64% of the Fund and
include investments in global and emerging market equities and multi asset credit, are
covered by the voting guidelines of the CIV which have been agreed by the Shareholder
Committee. The London CIV’s investment managers are expected to vote on all proxies
considering the impact of ESG factors to ensure shareholder value is maximised, and to vote
in accordance with guidelines issued by the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum as far as is
practically possible to do so (or explain why not).

12.6

The Fund recognises that more needs to be done to develop its approach to exercising its
rights and responsibilities, particularly with regards the reporting of voting and engagement
for scrutiny by the Pensions Committee and Pensions Board and the public disclosure of
such information for its members’ benefit.

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 103

Agenda Item 7

PENSIONS COMMITTEE 06 OCTOBER 2021
Report title: Lambeth Pension Fund – General Update October 2021
Wards: All
Portfolio: Cabinet Member for Finance and Performance: Councillor Andy Wilson
Report Authorised by: Strategic Director for Finance and Investment: Fiona
McDermott:
Contact for Enquiries: Robert Browning, Head of Treasury and Pensions, 07394
402801, rbrowning@lambeth.gov.uk

REPORT SUMMARY
This paper provides members with an update on several general pensions related
matters to have arisen since the last meeting.

FINANCE SUMMARY
There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations in this
report.

1.

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS
That the Committee respond to the recommendations and requests for information
from the Pensions Board as asset out at section 2.10.
That the remainder of the report, together with the information in the accompanying
papers, be noted.

Page 104
1
1.1

CONTEXT
The Pensions Committee is responsible for ensuring that the Fund is properly
operated in accordance with all relevant legislation and best practice as advised by
the Pensions Regulator, the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS), Scheme
Advisory Board (SAB), the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
(MHCLG) and the Chartered Institute of Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), including
both financial and administration matters.

1.2

The purpose of this report is to update the Committee on a number of pensions
related matters to have arisen since the last meeting and of relevance to the Fund,
including standing items on the London CIV, the Pensions Board and training
opportunities.

2

PROPOSALS AND REASONS

2.1

LONDON CIV
Funding and Fee Savings
The most recent London CIV (LCIV) Business Update call took place on 16 July
2021, during which updates were provided on their current fund launch activity and
new fund launch pipeline; the current fund offering is attached at Appendix One for
information. The next update meeting takes place on 17 September, any relevant
updates will be presented to the Committee verbally.

2.2

As at 30 June 2021 the LCIV had £13.5bn of assets under direct management,
including commitments, and a further £13.2bn held in ‘pooled’ passive arrangements
managed by Legal and General and BlackRock.

2.3

The Lambeth Fund is a key stakeholder in the LCIV, with approximately £1.21bn or
65% of the Fund’s active assets invested directly in the pool as at 30 June 3021, one
of the highest proportions of total Fund assets compared to other London boroughs.

2.4

In early September the LCIV published annual fee savings attributable to clients for
the financial year 2020/21; gross savings, being the difference between the
estimated expense if investing outside the LCIV and the actual expenses incurred
within the pool were £1.27m. Net savings, after accounting for LCIV management
fees and service charges were £938k (£831k gross and £592k net in 2019/20).

2.5

Governance Update
The LCIV AGM took place on 15 July 2021, the first to be held on a hybrid basis with
most attendees joining online. The LCIV’s Annual Review and statutory accounts
were presented to members (attached at Appendix Two for information), with
discussions on developing relationships with client funds including exploring different
investment solutions, developing the LCIV’s approach to responsible investment, and
on financial effectiveness. The AGM also discussed an update to the Medium-Term
Financial Plan and the iterative consultation to take place during September to
December to finalise the plan in discussion with shareholders; this will then form the

Page 105
basis for the 2022/23 Annual Budget and objectives to be agreed by shareholders at
the General Meeting in January 2022.

2.6

2.7

Staffing Update
LCIV have appointed Rob Treich as Head of Public Markets who joined in early
September and have also appointed a Head of Public Funds Accounting, the
individual taking up post in late October.
PENSIONS BOARD
The Board last met on 12 August 2021 and considered the quarterly administration
performance report for the Fund as well as the latest risk register. Updates included:


statistics on key administrative workflows in the latest quarter, usage of the
Fund website and the Member Self Service platform, and details of member
complaints and responses in the period;



the latest on McCloud, Guaranteed Minimum Pensions (GMP) reconciliation
and rectification, and exit pay reform; and



the results of the Pensions Regulator’s 2020/21 Public Service Governance
and Administration Survey

2.8

As set out in the Terms of Reference of both the Committee and Board, and as a
means of ensuring the good governance of the Fund, the Committee will work with
and receive and consider reports from the Board and ensure that appropriate actions
are undertaken as required. The Board can request information from the Committee
and make recommendations which should be considered, and a response made to
the Board on the outcome within a reasonable period of time.

2.9

The agreed process with the Committee and the Board is for these recommendations
to be made via officers and raised at the next available meeting where appropriate so
that the response or resolved action can be recorded in the meeting minutes.

2.10

Following its August meeting, the Board have requested the following information
from the Committee:
2.10.1

The Board notes that several of the Fund’s managers are currently rated by
Mercer as ESG3, the penultimate score in Mercer’s proprietary ESG
ratings, where managers have made some progress towards ESG
integration and/or active ownership but for which there is little evidence that
ESG considerations are taken into consideration in valuations and
investment processes. Can the Committee explain what actions the Fund is
taking to mitigate the financial and reputational risks from investing in these
managers, and what consideration is being given to investing in funds with
a higher ESG rating instead?

2.10.2

Can the Committee comment on the Fund’s continued exposure to indirect
fossil fuels given its agreement with the Board’s recommendation to divest

Page 106
from indirect investments in fossil fuels, and explain what actions are being
taken to eliminate the Fund’s exposure?
2.10.3

2.11

2.12

2.13

2.14

Will the Committee commit to agreeing an updated Statement of Investment
Beliefs before year-end that encapsulates it’s climate-related beliefs and
sets the direction for the Fund’s future investment strategy?

The next meeting of the Board will take place on 20 October 2021.
EXTERNAL AUDIT
The Fund external audit is currently underway, and officers have now been presented
with the final Audit Strategy Memorandum which was unavailable for the March
meeting item on the Audit Plan. This is attached at Appendix Three for information
purposes.
The auditors are expecting to have competed their audit and be in a position to report
their final results to the Corporate Committee on 25 November 2021.
TRAINING UPDATE
A selection of external conferences, workshops and other training opportunities has
been shared with members at Appendix Four; these events have been specifically
identified as relevant to the Fund and/or members’ interests. Should members decide
to attend any of the sessions or have identified other training they would like to
attend, please inform the Fund’s Governance and Compliance Officer Sarah
Hargraves (SHargraves@lamebth.gov.uk) so that member training records can be
updated.

2.15

These sessions form part of the main training offer to members; other sessions
arranged by fund managers or advisors will be held throughout the year and outside
of formal meetings in line with the Training Plan (addressed elsewhere in this
agenda). It is vital that members continue to develop and maintain their knowledge of
the overall LGPS landscape to fulfill statutory obligations and compliance
requirements.

3
3.1

FINANCE
There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations in this
report.

4
4.1

LEGAL AND DEMOCRACY
The Lambeth Pension Fund is run in accordance with the Local Government Pension
Scheme Regulations 2013 enacted along with other Regulations under the
Superannuation Act 1972 and the Public Service Pension Act 2013, and is for the
benefit of Council employees and outside organisations which have entered into an
agreement with Lambeth to provide pensions for their staff.

Page 107
4.2

The Pension Committee must be mindful of their fiduciary duty to obtain the best
possible financial return on the investments it administers within the investment
strategy framework.

4.3

There are no additional comments from Democratic Services.

5
5.1

CONSULTATION AND CO-PRODUCTION
Not Applicable.

6
6.1

RISK MANAGEMENT
Investment decisions involve taking risks that Members of the Committee should
always bear in mind. Generally, risk is taken to mean the variability of returns.
Investments with greater risk must usually promise higher returns than more ‘stable’
investments before investors will buy them. Members must consider the risk/reward
trade-off; generally, the higher the potential return expected the higher the associated
risk. Members in their capacity as Trustees bear that risk.

7
7.1

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT
None for the purposes of this report.

8
8.1

COMMUNITY SAFETY
None for the purposes of this report.

9

ORGANISATIONAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

Environmental
None for the purposes of this report.

9.2

Health
None for the purposes of this report.

9.3

Corporate Parenting
None for the purposes of this report.

9.4

Staffing and accommodation
None for the purposes of this report.

9.5

Responsible Procurement
None for the purposes of this report.

10
10.1

TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
Not Applicable.

Page 108
AUDIT TRAIL
Consultation
Name/Position
Councillor Andrew
Wilson, Cabinet
Member
Fiona McDermott,
Strategic Director
Christina Thompson,
Director of Finance
Hamant Bharadia,
Assistant Director of
Finance
Andrew Pavlou,
Legal Services
Marianna Ritchie,
Democratic Services

Lambeth
directorate/
division or
partner

Date Sent

Date
Received

Finance and
Performance

20.09.2021

23.09.2021

20.09.2021

23.09.2021

20.09.2021

20.09.2021

20.09.2021

23.09.2021

20.09.2021

21.09.2021

20.09.2021

21.09.2021

Finance and
Investment
Finance and
Investment
Finance and
Investment
Legal and
Democratic
Services
Legal and
Democratic
Services

REPORT HISTORY
Original discussion with Cabinet Member
Report deadline
Date final report sent
Part II Exempt from
Disclosure/confidential accompanying
report?
Key decision report
Date first appeared on forward plan
Key decision reasons
Background information

Appendices

Comments
in para:

N/A
15 September 2021
23 September 2021
No
No
N/A
N/A
N/A
 Appendix One – LCIV Current
Fund Offering – June 2021
 Appendix Two – LCIV Annual
Review 2021
 Appendix Three – Audit Strategy
Memorandum
 Appendix Four – Suggested
Training Q4 2021 – Q1 2022.

Appendix One – LCIV Current Fund Offering at 30 June 2021

Page 109

This page is intentionally left blank

London LGPS CIV Limited
Annual Review 2019-2020

For the reporting year ending
31st March 2021

Page 111

London LGPS
CIV Limited
Annual Review

2

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Contents
OVERVIEW

3	London CIV and Client Funds Key Facts
4	Our purpose, vision and culture
5	London CIV Timeline
6	Chair’s Foreword

BUSINESS REVIEW

8	CEO’s Overview
10	10 Assets invested by our Client Funds with London CIV as at 31 March 2021
11	London CIV core objectives and outcomes for 2020-2021
12 London CIV Operating Model
13 Client Engagement
14 London CIV Assessment of Value
16	London CIV Fund Range and Assets under Management
17 Risk Management Framework
19 Summary of Principal Risks and Mitigation
22 What ESG means for London CIV
23	Investment Review
26 Responsible Investment
30	Financial Review

Page 112

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

34	Governance Framework
36	London CIV Board and Committees
41	Pay and People
43	Glossary

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

46	London LGPS CIV Limited Annual Report and Financial Statements
62	Company and Investment Managers’ information

Our Client Funds
London LGPS CIV Limited (‘London CIV’), established in 2015 by London Local Authorities manages London Local Government
Pension Scheme (‘LGPS’) assets. London CIV is one of eight U.K. LGPS asset pooling companies. The London Boroughs and
City of London who are the 32 Shareholders, are also our clients (‘Client Funds’).

Hampstead

3

Overview

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

London CIV and Client Funds Key Facts

£11.2bn

22 funds

4 funds

21

35

UNPRI

TCFD

SAB
Code of
Transparency

Signatory

Signatory

Climate
Action100+

LAPFF

Diversity
Project

Pensions
for Purpose

Member

Member

Member

Member

4
5

Launched this
reporting year2

Signatory

Investment managers
and partners3

of client funds pooled1
as at 31/3/21

Staff members4

Denotes the amount of assets invested via the London CIV ACS, EUUT and SLP and excludes amounts committed to LCIV Private Markets funds. If committed funds are included the percentage is 57%. This figure also includes assets that are invested passively through LGIM and Blackrock.
 he London Fund (15 December 2020), LCIV Private Debt Fund (29 March 2021) LCIV Renewable Infrastructure Fund (29 March 2021), LCIV Inflation Plus Fund (11 June 2020)
T
ACS - Baillie Gifford (x2 Funds), Newton (x2 Funds), Longview, Epoch, RBC (x2 Funds), MSIM, JP Morgan, CQS, PIMCO, Pyrford, Ruffer. EUUT – Stepstone, Blackrock, Stonepeak, Foresight, Quinbrook, Churchill, Pemberton, Aviva. SLP – LPPI. Indirect (passives) – LGIM, Blackrock (already counted)
including interim staff/consultants
Plus LPFA as a client of The London Fund

Page 113

assets held by client funds
as at 31/3/21

beneficiaries across
32 client funds5
as at 31/3/21

3

54%

in passive funds
as at 31/3/21

672,000

2

£44bn

AUM in active funds
as at 31/3/21

Launched since 2015

1

£12.6bn

Overview

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Our purpose, vision
and culture
Purpose

Our Culture

To be the LGPS pool for London to enable
the London Local Authorities to achieve
their pooling requirements

Working together to secure a sustainable future

Vision

We are committed to developing funds
with clients that improve outcomes
and add value, helping protect the
future for a world worth retiring in.
Transparency:
We share information, communicating
effectively between teams and with
stakeholders, whilst also respecting
confidentiality.

Collaboration
with
Client Funds
AN

SP

AR

ENCY

We always strive to have the highest
professional standards and act on
behalf of our clients. We are also all
honest about where we can improve
and are open to constructive challenge.

INTE
GR
IT

DI

S
VER

AGILITY

Responsibility:

UST
TR

TR

The current target for London CIV is to pool 75% of London
LGPS total assets to help maximise value for our clients and
broader stakeholders. We aim to add value for our clients
through economies of scale, greater efficiency and improved
performance.

We aim to be reliable, to deliver on our
promises and to reset expectations when
we face challenges on our deliverables.
We encourage an open and equitable
partnership with all of our stakeholders.

Integrity:

Y

To be the best in class asset pool delivering
value for Londoners through long term
sustainable investment strategies

Trust:

IT

Y

Agility:
We work flexibly as one team, so that
the end service provided to Client
Funds is as seamless as possible.
Diversity:
We respect and celebrate our
differences and recognise this makes
our organisation stronger.

Page 114

We are here to deliver solutions which will allow LGPS client
funds to invest assets on behalf of beneficiaries to provide
improved and more efficient investment outcomes.

Collaboration is at the core of our business, bringing together a wealth of experience across teams to deliver, through
excellent service, our Client Funds’ pooling requirements. Our values help us collaborate with our clients to achieve our
Vision to be the best-in-class asset pool delivering value for Client Funds and ultimately for all stakeholders, through
long-term sustainable investment strategies

ONSIBILITY
RESP

4

5

Overview

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

London CIV Timeline
2015

2016

2017

Authorised and
regulated by the FCA

2018

Governance review

Launch of ACS fund
structure

2019

New governance
framework

Launch of EUUT
structure

• Shareholder Committee

LCIV Infrastructure Fund
launches with a focus on
renewable energy

•	2 Shareholder NEDs
and Treasurer Observer
added to board

First fund launched

2020

Move to Lavington St

2021

Change of business purpose

ESG Review, six priority
areas for action agreed

Governance Progress Review
Cost Transparency Working
Group (CTWG)
LCIV Inflation Plus Fund
launched
First UN PRI report

Joined the UN PRI

LCIV Renewable
Infrastructure Fund is
launched
London CIV commits to
setting ambitious both
short and long-term
net zero targets before
November 2021 COP26
LCIV Private Debt Fund
launched

Pensions for Purpose joined
Signatory to the TCFD
London CIV joins
ClimateAction100+
S&P Global appointment
enhances Climate change
analytics capability
The London Fund is launched

As at 31/12/2015

£0.3

As at 31/03/2016

bn

£0.8

As at 31/03/2017

bn

£3.6

As at 31/03/2018

bn

£6.2

As at 31/03/2019

bn

£8.2

As at 31/03/2020

bn

£7.6

As at 31/03/2021

bn

£11.2

1fund

7funds

11funds

14 funds

14 funds

14 funds

19 funds

5 staff

12 staff

12 staff

18 staff

25 staff

27staff

35 *staff

* Staff numbers include interim staff
** Assets pooled on ACS

Stewardship Outcomes
Report
Climate Policy
Stewardship Policy
LCIV Global Alpha
Growth Paris Aligned
Fund launched April
2021
London CIV builds on its
Stewardship and Voting
capabilities with Hermes
EOS

Page 115

Responsible Investment
Reference Group (RIRG)
established

London CIV’s first RI Policy
is approved by the Board

Post
year
end

bn**

6

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Chair’s Foreword
Lord Bob Kerslake

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

I am pleased to be able to say that including
passive funds well over half of all Client Fund
assets are now pooled, we are achieving good
performance overall against benchmark,
achieving real savings for Client Funds and still
ambitious to achieve more.

London CIV is committed to working
together with client funds to secure
a sustainable future.

in June 2021 and has accelerated the implementation of our Responsible

launch process has been an improved understanding of Client Fund

Investment and Stewardship activity, supported by two additional team

requirements, greater commitment by Client Funds to invest which in

members. Our initial focus has been on climate change risk and building

turn has assisted with delivering launches to meet expectations in some

our capacity stewardship and engagement. We are now well placed to

very challenging circumstances. We are pleased with the way in which

develop a specific net zero climate ambition target which we will announce

the Cost Transparency Working Group (“CTWG”), chaired by John Turnbull,

by the end of 2021, bearing in mind that COP 2026 takes place this year.

s151 officer at LB Waltham Forest, is developing, especially in its work to

We have just published our first Stewardship Outcomes report and

support our review of the funding model and reporting as part of the Cost

Our Client Funds provide pensions which benefit about 672,000 people

appointed a Voting and Engagement provider which will enhance our

Transparency Initiative (CTI). We expect to see more involvement by the

ability, working collaboratively with others including LAPFF to influence the

CTWG in our CTI and savings work in 2021/22.

across London. I would like to place on record my gratitude and that
of my colleagues to all who work of London Local Authorities for their
dedication to providing services to Londoners in these difficult times. Our
focus is on helping Client Funds pay pensions. I am proud of the way in
which the London CIV team have risen to the challenge of delivering 4
more fund launches and holding client fund meetings in an online working
environment. I am pleased to be able to say that, including passive funds,
well over half of all Client Fund assets are now pooled, we are achieving
good performance overall against benchmark, achieving real savings for
Client Funds and we remain ambitious to achieve more.
I am also pleased that concerns that ESG would be a casualty of the
pandemic have proved unfounded and that there has been an increased
focus on the “S” in ESG as well as climate change. London CIV is committed
to working together with client funds to secure a sustainable future. At
the start of the 2020/21 financial year we began to implement our 6 point
ESG action plan, including the establishment of a Responsible Investment
Reference Group (RIRG). We received an “A” rating for our first UNPRI
report. Jacqueline Jackson took up post as Head of Responsible Investment

market place. We have also published our first Climate and Stewardship
Policies. May I encourage you explore our new website where you will find
more information and the detailed reports and policies www.londonciv.org.
uk I would also like to take this opportunity to acknowledge the support
of the Responsible Investment Reference Group (RIRG) as we develop this
area of activity to respond to Client Fund requirements.

I come to the end of my term of office in September 2021 so it is pleasing
to be able to end on a positive note as I hand over to my successor. We
now have a stable and skilled staff and leadership team. In September
2020 we appointed Alison Talbot and Kitty Ussher to the Board and we
will shortly have both as Chairs of two key Board Committees, CARCO
and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee, with Paul Niven now

I am also pleased to report that during the year we launched 4 funds and

as Investment Oversight Committee (IOC) Chair. We are in the process

shortly after the reporting year end, a Paris Aligned version of the LCIV

of recruiting two Non-Executive Directors (NEDS) to replace Eric Mackay

Global Alpha Growth Fund. Jason Fletcher, who joined us as Chief Investment

and Chris Bilsland and I would like to pay tribute to their commitment to

Officer (CIO) in July 2021 has been leading the team in developing a Strategic

London CIV over the last six years and insights they have contributed. I

Product Roadmap for discussion with Client Funds. We are conscious of

would also like to thank Cllr Ravi Govindia and Cllr Stephen Alambritis for

the importance of identifying principles for a Medium Term Strategy that

their supportive challenge as shareholder NEDs. It is of course the staff

ensure we can meet the strategic asset allocation requirements of our 32

team/ led by Mike O’Donnell who are responsible for delivering London

Client Funds and also deliver value add and savings across the pool. We look

CIV’s achievements and it is good to be leaving with a strong team in place.

forward to working with you to ensure that is the case.
Working collaboratively is key to our success and we are pleased that
the outcome of the Seed Investor Groups (SIGs) as part of the fund

Lord Bob Kerslake, Chair of London CIV

Page 116

I am pleased to be able to report that
London CIV has made good progress
this year, despite the challenging context
created by the COVID19 pandemic including
volatile financial markets.

7

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Page 117

Business
Review
“Working together through the CTWG to review the funding model and benchmarking
has been very important in building confidence in what London CIV can deliver for Client
Funds and beneficiaries in terms of adding value. I am looking forward to next year’s
CTWG programme including further work on achieving value add, benchmarking, cost
transparency and the scope for greater benefits from asset pooling.”
John Turnbull, s151 LB Waltham Forest

Millennium Bridge

8

Overview

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

I am proud of everything the team have
achieved in collaboration with Client Funds in
what has been a challenging year, adapting to
working online to continue to provide a good
service and high levels of communication to all
of our Stakeholders colleagues.

CEO’s Overview
Mike O’Donnell
Collaboration and resilience in
challenging circumstances

pooling in delivering efficiencies and added value including the scope

London Local Authorities have of course also faced significantly

frame that meets expectations. As the chart on page 16 shows our focus

increased challenges in delivering front line services to Londoners. I am

has moved to Private Markets funds and those which meet Client Funds

pleased that the staff team have been able to work collaboratively with

ESG requirements. During the year we launched the LCIV Inflation Plus

client funds to deliver so much in such difficult circumstances. At the

Fund, The London Fund, LCIV Renewable Infrastructure Fund and the LCIV

year end we had £23.6bn of the total £44bn London Assets pooled of

Private Debt Fund (the last two on 29th March 2021) and shortly after the

which £11.1bn was invested in London CIV funds and £12.5bn in LGIM

year end launched the LCIV Global Alpha Growth Paris Aligned Fund on

and Blackrock passive funds which is counted as pooled.

13th April 2021. In each case we delivered the launch on time in line with

Unpredictability has been a key feature of this year for us all. When we
went into lockdown in March 2020, none of us expected it to last as long
as it has. Online working and online client meetings, even committee
meetings and AGMs became the norm and we adapted our regular

for greater collective influence including in respect of the “S” in ESG.
Our business model is one built on high levels of engagement with Client
Funds and Stakeholders and we have revised our Fund Launch Framework
(FLF) during the year, in particular with the use of Seed Investor Groups
(SIGs) to achieve a much higher level of Client Fund involvement in fund
development. We believe that this is now bearing fruit in terms of delivering
funds that meet Client Fund asset allocation requirements within a time

client expectations. We expect to make some changes to the Fund Launch
Framework in 2021 to streamline it where possible whilst maintaining high
levels of Client Fund engagement and making sure it meets the needs of
Private Market fund launches.

London CIV Business Update, Meet the Manager events and Client Fund

Savings made by individual Client Funds depend on the scale of the

regular meetings accordingly with continued high levels of attendance.

investments made and the length of time invested. Following the 2019

The flexibility afforded by online events appears to be popular with

governance progress review we have re-defined the scope of the Cost

Client Funds and we expect to continue with this post lockdown whilst

Transparency Working Group (CTWG) and appointed a s151 officer, John

attending individual meetings face to face where this is preferred.

Turnbull of LB Waltham Forest, as Chair to involve Client Funds more

This has served to underline the importance of our collaboration with
Client Funds across London and with other pools in initiatives such
as The London Fund. It also emphasises the potential value of LGPS

closely in our cost transparency work. The CTWG will also be involved in our
planned cost benchmarking review and the review of our funding model.

Medium term plan, strategic asset allocation
trends and funding model review
In the Autumn of 2020, we decided that it would be more appropriate to
separate out the work to develop a Medium-Term Plan from the Annual
Budget 2021/22 exercise so that we had better information from Client
Funds about their Strategic Asset Allocations on which to build a Strategic
Product Roadmap and resourcing plan. We are part way through the
development of the Medium-Term Plan exercise at the time of writing this
Annual Review and expect to consult with Client Funds before we begin the
normal Annual Budget cycle. We have been working closely with individual
Client Funds on their Strategic Asset Allocation plans and are now holding
six monthly Progress on Pooling Strategy meetings with each client fund.
These are the basis on which we are developing our short term and
Medium-Term Strategic Product Road map and also our financial plans.
Taken together with the regular Client Fund meetings we believe
both Client Funds and London CIV will be able to have a high level of
confidence that both the overall Medium-Term Plan and individual asset
pooling opportunities available will be capable of delivering long term
cost savings and value add.
The increase in Assets under Management (AuM) target we set for
2020/21 has been achieved but only about half of this is the result of
new fund launches and investments in existing funds. The rest reflects
market conditions. This is not unexpected as against the backdrop of the
COVID19 pandemic Client Funds have made Strategic Asset Allocation
decisions and individual fund investment later than might otherwise
have been expected. The response to recent fund launches, in particular
Private Market and ESG funds has been positive, and we have also
responded to the shift towards investment in passive funds.

Page 118

This has been a busy year in a challenging
environment, but London CIV has proved it
can be resilient in a high stress operating
environment, both in terms of volatile financial
markets and chilling economic winds in the
context of the COVID19 pandemic.

9

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

East Village
Financial Statements

CEO’s Overview continued

During 2020 we conducted a review of our funding model and identified
a preference from clients for a move towards a higher level of funding
through Ad Valorum fees when this could be achieved whilst still ensuring
a sufficiently resilient and stable business and financial model. We also
undertook a benchmarking exercise which we expect to make use of as
part of a cross- pools benchmarking and reporting project due to report
in July 2021. The report by EY, who undertook the benchmarking work,
concluded that London CIV operates with disproportionally few resources
even though it has a wider breadth of client funds and a wider fund offering.
The CTWG has supported us in the review of the funding model and our cost
transparency work, and this continues to be the case in 2021/22.
including key objectives, is subject to a number of stress tests and we
report to the Shareholder Committee quarterly on financial and corporate
performance and also to the General Meeting of all Shareholders twice
annually. The outcomes reported in this Annual Review are in line with
those reports. In summary I am pleased to be able to confirm that despite
such a volatile operating environment London CIV has proved to be
resilient with a stable staff team committed to delivering a quality service
and sustainable future for Client Fund pension scheme members.

Responsible investment
We have made substantial progress in implementing our ESG action plan
and moving towards our objective of having a leading-edge reputation
for Responsible Investment and Stewardship. Our vision is to be the best
in class asset pool delivering value for Londoners through long term
sustainable investment strategies.
Last year our focus was on laying the foundations for that work including

Last year we agreed to close the staff Defined Benefit pension scheme
to new entrants. Early in this reporting year we finally achieved the long
outstanding signature by all shareholders on the pension guarantee
agreements. This meant that the Admission Agreement with the
City of London could be signed and the scheme closed to new entrants
on 1 June 2020.
A talented team is key to delivering London CIV’s objectives and we are
pleased that it has been possible to make permanent appointments at
all levels in the organisation this year to make sure we have the skilled
stable team needed to deliver our plans for the future. This includes
Jason Fletcher as CIO, Cameron McMullen as Client Relations Director

Page 119

The budget we put to shareholders for approval in January 2021,

People, culture and values

and Jacqueline Jackson as Head of Responsible Investment. Rob Hall our
Deputy CIO left us just after the 2021 year end for a new role after three
and a half years with London CIV. In the meantime we have recruited
two new “Heads of” in the investment team, Vanessa Shia and Andrea
Wildsmith and a further Client Relations Manager, Stephanie Aymes. We
have over the course of the last 12 months increased our staffing levels
by a third.
A new culture and values statement was developed by a staff group and
formally adopted by the Board in March 2021. It emphasises our focus
on working collaboratively, delivering a quality service for clients and
commitment to “working together to secure a sustainable future”. To
reflect this commitment all staff will agree one Responsible Investment
and one Culture and Values objective for 2021/22.
You can read about our approach to diversity and inclusion in the people
and pay section of this report.

The London Fund was established to provide
sustainable, long-term and risk-adjusted value to
pension scheme investors, while creating a ‘double
bottom line benefit’ by investment in real estate,
infrastructure and growth capital sectors in Greater
London. Its secondary objective is to generate
a social benefit in the UK Capital through job
creation, area regeneration and providing a positive
environmental impact for Londoners.
London CIV is working in partnership with Local Pensions

undertaking a review and the culture and governance framework. This

We are supported by a committed and insightful Board. I would like to

Partnership Investments (LPPI) and our own Client Funds on

year the focus has been on implementation and the resources needed to

pay tribute to the leadership and contribution of Lord Bob Kerslake as he

this collaborative development which seeks to deliver good

achieve that objective. We are pleased that in July 2020 progress to date

comes to the end of his term of office in September 2021 and who has

financial returns and wider social benefits. The seed investor

was recognised by an “A” rating for our first UNPRI report.

guided London CIV from its beginnings as an FCA authorised and regulated

was the London Pension Fund Authority (LPFA) – one of LPPI’s

company to the positive stage of its development where it is today.

clients. An example of one of The London Fund’s investments

There is still more to do in 2021/22 and beyond and we have outlined our

is a large scale residential property project that delivers high-

ambition in our recently published Climate Policy and Stewardship Policy.
You can read more in the Responsible Investment section of this report
and on our website where the policies and our reports are available.

Mike O’Donnell, CEO

quality, affordable and professionally-managed homes.

10

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Business Review

Overview

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Assets invested by our Client Funds with London CIV or invested by our
Client Funds in passive funds managed
by
third
parties
at 70%
as 31
March
2021
0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
80%
90%
100%
Brent
Hammersmith and Fulham
Redbridge
Haringey
City of Westminster

Hamm

Bexley
Tower Hamlets
Havering
Hillingdon
Lambeth

Page 120

Hackney
Camden
Harrow
Ealing
Southwark
Merton
Croydon
Kensington and Chelsea
Barnet
Wandsworth

Ke

Waltham Forest
Enfield
Sutton
Greenwich
Islington
Barking and Dagenham
Lewisham
Newham

Ba

Hounslow
City of London
Kingston upon Thames
Bromley

K

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

LCIV Pooled

50%

Passives (%)

60%

Unpooled (%)

70%

80%

90%

100%

11

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

London CIV’s core objectives and outcomes for 2020-2021
Objective

KPIs/Deliverables

Progress at March 2021

Establish a pooling strategy
to meet Client Funds strategic
allocation plans including
Responsible Investment and
climate change requirements

• AUM increase of £1.4bn on £8bn

• AUM increase met through increased investment by Client Funds and market conditions

•	Complete mapping of Client Fund intentions to drive three-year plan for AUM
growth and fund portfolio

•	Medium Term Plan to be developed during 2021 based on mapping available in early 2021. To
include Strategic Product Roadmap and short to mid- term product pipeline.

• Develop investment and fund strategy to meet client strategic allocation plans

•	FCA submission made in December 2020. Implementation plans for new services to be made
once additional regulatory permissions received.

Deliver fund launches on time
Deliver strong fund
performance

•	Produce proposal for additional investment management and investment
advisory service (dependent on additional regulatory permissions)
• Produce passive investment proposal

•	Low Carbon (passive) fund proposal made and options for life funds once regulatory
permissions received under review

•	Implement 6-point Responsible Investment plan including engagement, voting
and Products

• 6-point action plan delivered including key outputs in April to June 2021

Improve Client Fund
(development and oversight)
engagement

• Review current client engagement model and ensure adding value

• New engagement model in place

• Undertake and implement governance progress review

• Governance progress review complete
•	Revised approach includes Responsible Investment Reference Group, Cost Transparency
Working Group, Seed Investor Groups, Business Update and Meet the Manager event

Undertake governance progress
review
Deliver on financial efficiency
and savings

• Review funding model
• VAT and transfer pricing review
• Undertake cost benchmarking and cost/savings reviews
• Deliver fee savings and quarterly net savings reporting

Deliver strategic projects

People and culture

• VAT review outcome beneficial
• Cost benchmarking review complete and will assist in developing next MTFS

•	Deliver CIPFA, SAB and Cost Transparency Initiative compliant reporting for clients

• Savings and CTI work on track

• Change in permissions –dependent on achieving business purpose change

•	Change in permissions application made having obtained approvals to change in business
purpose

• Senior Management Certificate Regime (SMCR)

Improve transparency,
communication and reporting

•	Funding model review complete with proposed model and conditions for implementation
(75% potential AuM pooled) identified

• Information systems including FIS

• SMCR implemented

• Improve website

• Web and client portal re-launch April 2021

• Access to shareholder cttee papers and board minutes

• Shareholder Committee papers and Board minutes available on client portal

• Enhance London CIV year-end report

• Enhanced year-end report published July 2020

• Enhance fund engagement process and information about fund decision-making

• Enhanced fund launch engagement process in place

• Appoint permanent CIO and stabilise team

• New culture and values statement agreed

•	Close LGPS to new hires, signature of 32 pension guarantee and recharge
agreements

•	Jason Fletcher joined as CIO July 2020 and other appointments across the team increase stability
and resources to provide quality client services

• Information systems development ongoing into 2021/22 and on track

•	LGPS closed to new hires following signature of 32 guarantees. 4 recharge agreements outstanding

Page 121

Establish leadership position
on Responsible Investment and
climate change

12

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

London CIV’s
Operating Model
London CIV was established as a
collective venture to pool LGPS pension
assets and is owned by its 32 London
Local Authority clients.
It is FCA authorised and regulated. Client Funds and their 672,000
beneficiaries are the key stakeholders. A disciplined fund launch
framework which provides high levels of engagement with Client
Funds is fundamental to our business model.

Business Review

Corporate Governance

32 Clients Funds are
shareholders and investors

London LGPS CIV Limited

Pooling company creating value

Regulatory oversight
• FCA
•	Northern Trust
Depositary
• External Auditor

dedicated client service
–
investment expertise and market insight
–
strong client relationships and stakeholder insights
–
negotiation through scale delivering cost savings and wider
range of client solutions
–
committed to sustainable investment
–
robust assurance through external oversight,
accountability and internal controls

Funds using ACS, EUUT partnership and potentially other
structures. structure
Investment management is mostly outsourced but a small
amount of private market funds use some inhouse expertise
combined with outsourced managers

+
Added value services such as climate reporting

Outsourced
investment
administration

Page 122

Fund development
characterised by high
levels of client engagement
including seed investor
groups

Hackney

Financial Statements

Client Fund and
stakeholder accountability
through CTWG and RIRG
in addition to formal
governance

13

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Business Review

Overview

Client Engagement
We have also established quarterly meetings to make sure we keep client’s

Some objectives had already been agreed as part of the MTFS and

Our new website and client portal launched in April 2021 has significantly

about areas where changes needed to be made to achieve the high
engagement business model that London CIV aspires to. Cameron
McMullen joined as Director Client Relations in April 2020 and has led
an expanded Client Relations Team in developing a stronger, more
collaborative working relationship with Client Funds and co-ordinated

We have launched four funds in the last 12 months: The LCIV Inflation
Plus Fund (11 June 2020), The London Fund (15 December 2020); the
LCIV Private Debt Fund (29 March 2021) and; the LCIV Renewable
Infrastructure Fund (29 March 2021) all of which were launched on time
and all attracting sufficient committed assets from our Client Funds to
make these successful launches. The London Fund launched with £100m;
The LCIV Private Debt Fund launched with £290m and; the LCIV Renewable
Infrastructure Fund launched with £435m. We have second closes for each
of these three funds that we anticipate by the end of December 2021 to

investment consultants and independent advisers appraised of current
developments at London CIV. Our communications strategy will continue to
evolve and mold itself around the needs and requirements of our audience.

more content and improved access to information which we also
expect to raise London CIV’s public profile and influence on Responsible
Investment matters. The Client Portal includes tailored content for
individual Client Funds including about funds and forthcoming meetings
likely to be of interest.
Our first step in reporting improvements has been expanded information
in the Quarterly Investment Reports (QIR) which responds to client
feedback. The next step will be to add more information to Private
Markets reports and about Responsible Investment/ESG reporting
together with our voting and engagement activities.
Our culture statement sets out our commitment to a client centered
approach to delivering on London CIV’s purpose and our MTFS
objectives for 2021/22 set out some of the specifics in detail, including
developing our Medium Term Plan on a collaborative basis, continuous
improvements in communication and improved reporting.

have attracted a further approximate £450m in aggregate for these three

9

2

9

1

Business Updates

Consultants/
Independent
Advisors Meetings

4

Fund investors
Meetings LCIV MAC
fund

2

LCIV Funding
Model Workshop

Semi-Annual
General Meetings

Pension Chair
Induction event

20

Seed Investor
Groups (SIGs)

2

Specific Pooling
Opportunity
meetings

6

Meet the Manager
Events

funds, pending Pension Committee decisions.
London CIV’s engagement strategy with Clients Funds and
our wider Stakeholders now includes the regular monthly
Business Update; a quarterly Meet the Manager event;
and the Seed Investor Groups (SIG), which collaboratively
help in the design of new fund mandates. Importantly
we have implemented bi-annual high level strategy
meetings with senior decision makers at each of
our Client Funds.

“Working far more closely with our clients and broader
Stakeholders in a genuinely collaborative manner via a
structured engagement strategy, has undoubtedly resulted
in enabling us to better meet our client’s expectations.”
Cameron McMullen

Page 123

consultation with Client Funds across the London CIV teams.

Financial Statements

Engagement statistics for the year

Improving the quality of client services and
client engagement has been a key theme for
2020/21 and will continue to be so in 2021/22.
we received valuable feedback as part of the 2019 governance review

Corporate Governance

14

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Business Review

Overview

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

London CIV Assessment of Value
The London CIV Assessment of Value has
been prepared for investors in the London
LGPS CIV Authorised Contractual Scheme
(LCIV ACS) following the introduction of the
reporting requirement from the FCA for
Authorised Fund Managers in 2020.

The format and the presentation of information will continue to evolve

London CIV continues to focus on improving the quality of its services

over time and the principles at the heart of the Assessment of Value

and transparency of operations with its investors and shareholders.

(AOV) will remain a key focal point for London CIV. London CIV believes

Over the course of the last year, London CIV has enhanced the quality

that many of the AOV principles were enshrined in the operation of its

of its processes covering investments, operations, governance, risk

ACS sub funds prior to the FCA requirement.

management and client engagement many of which touch on the FCA

It is worth noting that many of the topics referenced in the original
FCA study that led to introduction of the AOV reporting regime such
as product profitability margins, value for money and transparency
are already addressed through London CIV’s engagement and
governance framework that links the needs of London CIV’s investors

London CIV will continue to build on its achievements to date, ensuring
that it operates to the standards expected of an organisation responsible
for the assets of the client funds of London Local Authorities and London
pensioners. The table below summarises the basis on which the FCA
assessment of value criteria are being met.

Page 124

to the core requirement of value for money.

value assessment criteria. Improvement is an iterative process and

Summary of how the FCA criteria are met
The following table summarises how the FCA criteria have been met during the year under review.

FCA Criteria

Quality of
service

Comment
i.	Each investor has in place a Service Level Agreement which sets out the services provided by London
CIV to the investor .
ii.	Quarterly client relationship meetings are offered to investors together with attendance at investor
pension committee meetings.
iii.

Investment performance is assessed as part of the quality of service review.

London CIV considered the range and quality of services
provided to investors. This included the quality of portfolio
management including delegation and includes factors such
as ESG, delays, breaches, complaints and compliance with
service level agreements complaints.

iv.	Complaints and breaches are reviewed by London CIV where they arise and reported to the various
governance bodies.

Performance

i.

London CIV reports on performance on a monthly basis to its investors via the Business Update.

ii.	ii. Detailed Quarterly Investor Reports (QIR) are prepared for each investor including details on
performance against benchmarks and comparators.
iii.

Investors are offered quarterly meetings to discuss performance

iv.	As part of the fund launch process, potential investors are involved in mandate design to ensure that
investment requirements meet with investor needs including ESG.
v.	The Responsible Investment Reference Group (RIRG) was set up in 2020 to improve ESG focus for
investors together with the addition of ESG investment resource

London CIV considers the investment performance of each
fund against the fund objective. The clarity of the fund
objective is an area of scrutiny for the FCA so it is important
that each fund has a stated benchmark or comparator
benchmark.

Overal RAG

15

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

London CIV Assessment of Value continued

FCA Criteria - Continued

Comment

Costs

The FCA’s rules require London CIV to compare the charges
it levies to investors against its actual costs in providing the
services to which the charges relate, effectively London CIV’s
gross margin.

i.	London CIV operates to break even in each financial year and therefore gross margins are minimal,
compared to the general industry standard where the FCA have reported on gross margins being 30%+.
ii.	The Annual Budget seeks to deliver a balanced budget each year so that income is set at a level to
cover costs and meet regulatory capital requirements.

Overal RAG

iii.	The Annual Budget is agreed each year with its shareholders who are its investors. The revenue of the
Company is a combination of ad valorem fees charged on assets managed, which is a fee to investors
and fixed fees charged to shareholders.
iv.	Currently investor charged ad valorem fees represent 45% of income which is insufficient to cover the
operating costs of the business.

Page 125

v.	In 2020, the investor led Cost Transparency Working Group (CTWG) were involved in a
cost benchmarking exercise conducted by EY. The report concluded that the Company has
‘disproportionately fewer resources’ than other pool comparators.
vi.	As part of the fund launch process, potential investors are involved in discussions on the costs of
launching funds.
vii.	Fee savings reporting is based on the total investment management costs incurred by investors within
the ACS sub fund compared investment management costs outside the ACS.

Economies
of scale

i.

Comparable
market rates

i.	As part of the fund launch process, London CIV conducts a benchmarking exercise to evaluate new managers.

All investors benefit from tiered or discounted fee rates within each sub fund.

ii.	London CIV regularly reviews the fees charged by investment managers and its major outsource providers.
iii.

The company reports fee savings to investors and MHCLG on at least an annual basis.

The FCA expects firms to pass on economies of scale to
investors.
In relation to each service, London CIV must assess the market
rate for any comparable service provided by the company to or
by any of its delegates.

iv.	Fee savings are based on what investors are deemed to be able to obtain outside of the London CIV pool.
v.	London CIV also reports via the Cost Transparency template on the overall level of costs and individual
costs to investors and the Scheme Advisory Board on an annual basis.

Comparable
services

i.	All investors receive the same service for each fund. All funds offer the same level of service – no
differentiation between funds or investors.

London CIV assessed each charge for comparable services to
investors. The FCA intention is that the different investors are
not paying different or substantially higher fees where the size
and service are similar.

N/A

Share classes

i.	London CIV only offers one share class, with investors having the option to receive distributions or
reinvest.

London CIV does not offer multiple share classes across its
fund range.

N/A

16

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Business Review

Overview

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

London CIV’s Fund Range and Assets under Management
as at 31 March 2021
LONDON CIV

Exempt Unauthorised
Unit Trust (EUUT)

Authorised Contractual Scheme (ACS) pooling structure

Total £11.1bn

Total £1,231m*
Private Markets

Total £150m*

Private Markets

Fund

LCIV
Global Alpha
Growth Fund

LCIV
Global Equity
Fund

LCIV
Global Equity
Focus Fund

LCIV
Equity
Income Fund

LCIV
Emerging Market
Equity Fund

LCIV
Global Core Fund

LCIV
Sustainable
Equity Fund

LCIV
Sustainable
Equity Exclusion
Fund

LCIV
Global Alpha
Growth Paris
aligned Fund

LCIV
Infrastructure
Fund

LCIV
Inflation Plus
Fund (PROPERTY)

The
London Fund

AUM

£3,691m

£725m

£917m

£141

£497M

£512m

£693M

£390m

£500m

£399m*/£30m**

£107m*/£50m**

£150*/£22m**

Launch
Date

11/04/16

22/05/17

17/07/17

08/11/2017

11/01/18

21/08/20

18/04/18

11/03/20

12/04/21

31/10/19

11/06/20

16/12/2020

Baillie Gifford

Newton

Longview

Epoch

JP Morgan

MSM

RBC

RBC

Ballie Gifford

Stepstone

Aviva

LPPI

Infrastructure

Private Debt

Manager

Fixed Income

Multi Asset
Fund

LCIV
Global Total
Return Fund

LCIV
Diversified
Growth Fund

LCIV
Absolute Return
Fund

LCIV
Real Return
Fund

LCIV
MAC Fund

LCIV
Global Bond
Fund

LCIV
Renewable
Infrastructure
Fund

LCIV
Private Debt
Fund

AUM

£241m

£657m

£1,018m

£124m

£1,137m

£343m

£435m*/£0m

£290m*/£0m

Launch
Date

17/06/16

15/02/16

21/06/16

16/12/16

31/05/18

30/11/18

29/03/21

29/03/21

Manager

Pyrford

Baillie Gifford

Ruffer

Newton

CQS

PIMCO

BlackRock, Quinbrook
Stonepeak and
Foresight

Churchill and
Pemberton

*Denotes the total commitments
**Denotes the amount invested.
Two of the 22 funds launched prior to the end of the 2020/21 financial year have been closed. A further fund is in the process of closure.

Page 126

Global Equities

Scottish Limited
Partnership
(SLP)

17

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Business Review

Overview

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Risk Management Framework
London CIV takes enterprise risk
management seriously, recognising
the importance of understanding and
mitigating risks to the business and
maximising business opportunities,
setting and monitoring risk appetite and
implementing the systems and controls
required to manage them.

Business Strategy
Business Strategy Risk Appetite (Defined by the Board)
Risk Identification (Agreed By CARCO)
1

2

3

4

5

6

Strategic

Operational risk: firmwide
operations including
outsourcing & IT

Operational risk:
legal and
compliance

Investment risk

People

Financial strength
and balance sheet

•	The Board sets the Company’s risk appetite and approves the risk
tolerance levels on an annual basis to guide business activities and
to shape the controls framework.
•	In setting the risk appetite the Board state: “The Company
acknowledges the inherent risks in growing the business at pace,
selecting and overseeing portfolio managers, establishing effective

Core Risk Management
Process

pooling structures and delivering accurate reporting to clients and

arrangements, client communication and engagement, operational
processes or procedures which would impact the financial stability
of the company and its ability to achieve its purpose and strategic
objectives.”

ICAAP

Standard Reporting
to Management

Roles And Responsibilities

Risk Event Management

EXCO

Business

Scenario Development

ISSUES & ACTIONS

CARCO

Risk & Compliance

Stress Testing

RCSA

IOC

CARCO & Internal Review

Reverse Stress Testing

Risk Register including Policies

Quarterly Risk Group

has established an appropriate control framework. London CIV has
a medium appetite for manager selection, third party outsourcing

Governance

•	The risk appetite must be taken into consideration in establishing
the annual business plan and be integrated with the operational
control culture of the organisation.
•	The Board delegates the oversight of the Risk Management
Framework (ensuring it is an integral part of the Company’s strategy,
business planning and decision making) to the Compliance, Audit
and Risk Committee (‘CARCO’) and the executive directors that are
responsible for implementing the framework.

Risk Profile Monitoring
KRIs

CULTURE

Capital Calculation

Page 127

London CIV’s principles for risk management are as follows:

Risk Management Framework (RMF)

18

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Risk Management Framework continued

First line

Business environmental risks

Risk and control ownership

We identify the following risks:

plan approved prior to launch covering at least market,

Specific accountabilities include:

Climate change

credit, counterparty, liquidity, leverage and operational risks,

• Business strategy

combined with regular updates to ExCo and CARCO on the

• Risk appetite defined by the Board.

current level of risk and foreseeable or actual breaches of

• Risk identification

• The Company notifies the FCA of any material changes to the
Risk Management Policy.
• Each fund has an appropriate risk profile and monitoring

any risk limits.
•	All employees are responsible for risk management and
must conduct their business activities in a risk-controlled
issues, compliance breaches and potential complaints.
• The Company’s allocation of resources to the identification,
measurement, management and monitoring of risks is
commensurate to the nature, scale, and complexity of the
Company and the funds it manages.
•	The Company’s Risk Management Framework (RMF) is
reviewed by CARCO at least annually to ensure it remains
proportionate and effective.
• The RMF defines the Company’s independent business
functions, their roles, responsibilities, risk management
tools and processes and reporting requirements. A three
lines of defence risk management model is in place to
support the RMF and is embedded in the Company’s overall
business strategy, operational policies and practices and is
summarised on the following table:

• Defining, operating and testing controls
•	Implementing and maintaining regulatory compliance
• Reporting to Management
• Identifying future threats and risks

Second line
Oversight, support and challenge
Specific accountabilities include:
•	Providing expert regulatory advice on business initiatives
•	Advising the Board on setting risk appetite and risk framework
•	Reporting aggregate enterprise risks to the Board
•	Conducting independent and risk-based assurance
• Interpreting material regulatory change
• Overseeing the policy framework

Public Policy

We work closely with our Client Funds to identify public policy
changes which might impact on the business and Client Funds.
The Shareholder Committee has specific responsibility for
identifying emerging trends which might impact on the business
or Client Funds which should be considered by the Board or the
Executive. Issues include national government policy in respect of
pensions and LGPS pooling and local government together with
pension and financial market regulation. The societal impact of ESG
policy is becoming increasingly significant in addition to climate
policy and we are responding in the way we manage London CIV
corporately and across the extended enterprise including through
our Responsible Investment activity.

Brexit

Third line

The direct impact of Brexit on London CIV was minimal; we have
been updating investment and legal agreements, taxation and
regulatory arrangements as a result of legislative change and
evolving market practice.

Assurance

Covid-19

• Identifying future threats and risks

Specific accountabilities include:
• Depositary Annual Due Diligence
•	Annual audits of the financial statements of the Funds and of
London CIV
•	CARCO oversees work of Compliance and Risk.

We continue to assess the impact of Covid 19 on our operating
environment including our outsource providers. In the absence of
unforeseen shocks, we anticipate a gradual return to the use of our
office and more face to face meetings. We will use more flexibility
in our working arrangements in the future which we believe will be
beneficial for our Client Funds and our staff.

Page 128

manner and report risk events (including near misses),

• Owning and managing risk

We are responding to climate change risk by increasing our
risk analysis capability in order to develop a science based net
zero ambition for London CIV including the funds we offer and
corporately. We will work collaboratively with our Client Funds in
order to do so.

19

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Summary of Principal Risks and Mitigation
The Company has identified the following six key risks that may arise in the course of its activities, and has implemented systems and
controls to prevent these risks from materialising and to manage and mitigate the impact of those that do:
Principal risk description

How we mitigate

Changes during 2020-21

Strategic

Risk that we fail to deliver due
to poor client engagement or
inadequate offering

We engage with Client Funds regularly on the performance of the funds
in which they invest and are available to them.
Annually we assess the value of our funds, reporting on costs and cost
savings.

During the year the proposition was enhanced with the launch of the
four private markets’ funds and a further global equity fund on the ACS.
This includes the use of Seed Investor Groups to enhance engagement.
We continue to improve cost transparency reporting and we are
engaged in cross pool work on benchmarking value add and cost saving
measurement.

Failure to deliver strategy due to
poor execution, decision making
or governance

We work closely with Client Funds to understand the changing external
markets including engagement with the pooling agenda.

We have developed resources and an approach to responsible
investment to help Client Funds mitigate climate risk.

We have an extensive programme of Client Fund engagement with a
dedicated Client Relations Team with a focus on developing effective
working relationships with our Client Funds and their advisers. We
work to a defined service standard supported by customer relations
management tools. We track and report on engagements at our ExCo

Client Funds delayed their Strategic Asset Allocation decisions in 2020
because of COVID-19 which constrained the Company in making
forward plans. Firmer information became available in early 2021.

Failure to conduct effective
investment risk oversight
(including counterparty, credit,
liquidity, market risk), or
failure to deliver on investment
objectives

We have enhanced our Shareholder Engagement arrangements
principally through a monthly business update meeting as well as direct
engagement with the principal officers of all Client Funds.
The development of Seed Investor Groups is showing early promise as is
the move to provide greater transparency on London CIV processes and
is delivering successful fund launches

Investment Risk
Failure to conduct effective
investment risk oversight
(including counterparty, credit,
liquidity, market risk), or
failure to deliver on investment
objectives

The risk that investment
Performance and Pooling
Structure are not effective

We have a structured investment manager selection process with
qualitative and quantitative filters together with a rigorous investment
due diligence process. Our manager oversight process is supported by
an operational and performance assessment which escalates concerns
to an enhanced monitoring.

Strengthened resource though appointment of a permanent CIO and
Heads of Responsible Investment, Performance and Risk, and Private
Markets.
Published the Investment Governance Document clarifying our
investment process.
Added additional database resources to support manager selection.
Worked with investment advisers on manager selection for the first time.

Undue counterparty, credit,
liquidity or market risk

We closely monitor the performance of delegated investment managers
against the risk limits set for our funds for counterparty, credit, liquidity
or market risk.
We offer liquid public markets funds and much less liquid private
markets funds. We maintain close relationships with our Client Funds to
help ensure we understand their liquidity needs and we work with them
to achieve their liquidity requirements.

Improved performance and risk reporting, operational due diligence
and mandate compliance arrangements.
Upgraded Liquidity Policy and liquidity monitoring arrangements were
put in place but remains an area of focus.

Page 129

Principal Risk & Definition

20

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Summary of Principal Risks and Mitigation continued

Principal Risk & Definition

Principal risk description

How we mitigate

Changes during 2020-21

Operational
Risk - Legal and
Compliance

Regulatory Compliance

We scan the regulatory change horizon and track regulatory
developments and engage and build compliance requirements into daily
operational decisions.

We put in place an independent compliance and risk function with a
dedicated staff, membership of ExCo and reporting to the CEO and to
CARCO.

Our Compliance Matrix details all our obligations which are assess via
our annual compliance monitoring programme.

We implemented Senior Management and Certification Regime during
the year.

The risk that the Company does
not comply with the applicable
regulatory framework.

The risk that the Company does
not comply with the applicable
regulatory framework or does
not adhere to applicable laws

The risk of loss as a result of
inadequate internal processes,
poor internal controls, poor
contingency plans and poor
operational oversight (internal
and 3rd party)

The risk that our Operational
or Administrative Process is not
effective.

The risk of exposure to raised
operational risk through thirdparty service providers

The risk that our business is not
resilient - Failure to safeguard
and maintain operations

We manage our fund developments, dealing and reporting processes
thorough a dedicated team who manage our infrastructure and key
third party service providers. Our operational activities are overseen by
Northern Trust the depositary of the funds who proactively assess our
compliance with FCA fund regulations.

We put in place an independent compliance and risk function with a
dedicated staff, membership of ExCo and reporting to the CEO and to
CARCO.

In addition to our controls this risk is mitigated by insurance and
regulatory capital.

We submitted a request to the FCA to expand our regulatory licence
which is under consideration.

We operate a rigorous selection, due diligence and evaluation
framework to support the appointment of material third party service
providers. We maintain a register of outsourced arrangements;
supported by contractual agreements and Service Level documents.
Third party service providers are held to account via service meetings
supported by key performance indicators as well as periodic revaluation.
Our third party service providers provide expertise, capabilities and
independence to us, but we aim to ensure this lowers rather than
increases our risk. As well as capability we also monitor the financial
strength of our third party service providers.

We completed significant additional work at the beginning of the
COVID19 crisis to assess the operating effectiveness of our third party
service providers as they needed to adjust their operating arrangements.

Our business is dependent on Information Technology to operate
smoothly. Our platform is operated on our behalf by a material
outsource providers with ISO27001 accreditation under the information
security standard. We use other specialist resources to test the
effectiveness of these arrangements.

The whole company has worked from how for the entire year following

We undertake an annual review of our business continuity and disaster
recovery plans.

We implemented the Senior Management and Certification Regime (SM &
CR) during the year.

We continue to monitor their arrangements as they move away from
work from home to hybrid operating models.

government COVID-19 guidance. No changes were required to our
operating platform.
During the year we strengthen aspects of our IT security and we are
enhancing surveillance arrangements.

Page 130

Operational
Risk - Firmwide
Operations
including
Outsourcing
and IT

We submitted a request to the FCA to expand our regulatory licence
which is under consideration.

21

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Summary of Principal Risks and Mitigation continued

Principal Risk & Definition

Principal risk description

How we mitigate

Changes during 2020-21

People

Risk that we cannot hire and
retain appropriately skilled
people

Our colleagues are central to the development and delivery of our funds
and services for our client funds.

We increased our permanent headcount from 23 to 31 (year end figures).

The ability to attract and
retain top talent and the
ability to maintain appropriate
employment practices alongside
a suitable remuneration
framework

We operate from London where there are many skilled people, but at
the same time there is competition for their talents.

We replaced our defined benefit pension scheme with a defined
contribution arrangement.

We offer fixed salaries, great experience and opportunities to learn and
develop and as we grow career advancement.
We recruit primarily through our network and when necessary with the
help of recruitment partners.

Financial
Strength and
Balance Sheet
The risk that the Company does
not have sufficient regulatory
capital reserves or does not
achieve sufficient income to
remain a going concern

Capital Adequacy
The risk that London CIV does
not have sufficient financial
resources to meet its operational
regulatory capital requirements.

We have been well capitalised by our shareholders and maintain a
highly liquid balance sheet.

We closed our Defined Benefit Pension Scheme to new members,
significantly reducing balance sheet risk.

We carefully plan through our Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

MTFS agreed with no increase in DFC for 2022-23

Culture is the foundation
on which a risk away
business is created.
Eric Mackay, Chair of CARCO
Lambeth

Page 131

We undertake capacity and resource planning and supplement our
staff with additional temporary employees or external support when
appropriate.

22

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

What ESG means for London CIV
The diagram below summarises how we work together across the four pillars to create not just a sustainable
city but a future in which people and planet will prosper
People, Planet, Principles of Governance and Prosperity as defined by the World Economic Forum in collaboration with Deloitte, EY, KPMG and PwC

Planet

“An ambition to end
poverty and hunger,
in all their forms and
dimensions, and to ensure
that all human beings
can fulfil their potential in
dignity and equality in a
healthy environment”

“An ambition to protect the
planet from degradation,
including through
sustainable consumption
and production, sustainably
managing its natural
resources and taking urgent
action on climate change,
so that it can support the
needs of the present and
future generations.”

What it means for LCIV:
recognising that assets
are dependent on human
capital and can positively
or negatively impact
society.

What it means for LCIV:
environmental degradation
poses critical financial and
economic risks to longterm investment returns.

“The definition of
governance evolves
as organisations are
increasingly expected to
define and embed their
purpose at the centre
of their business. But
principles of agency,
accountability, and
stewardship are vital.”
What it means for LCIV:
companies and assets
which are well managed are
poised for better returns
due to better resource
management, improved
employee productivity and
better reputation.

Prosperity

Page 132

People

Principles of
Governance

“An ambition to ensure that
all human beings can enjoy
prosperous and fulfilling
lives and that economic,
social, and technological
progress occurs in
harmony with nature.”
What it means for LCIV:
our primary goal is to pay
pensions, ensuring that
people are not vulnerable
to financial challenges that
could minimise the ability
to prosper.

Wimbledon Park

23

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Investment Review
Jason Fletcher

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

London CIV’s Fund Management
ESG Processes

Design

Design products that meet the
clients’ objectives and strategies

“Looking to integrate ESG, Cost Transparency
and Risk Management into the Investment
Lifecycle.“

These processes and policies have been shared with clients in the
Investment Governance Document (IGD) on the new website and
portal. The output from this process is reflected in client reporting in
the enhanced Quarterly Investment Reports. (QIRs).
London CIV have continued working with Client Funds through the
Seed Investment Groups (SIGs) and Investment groups for existing
investors co-ordinated by the London CIV Client Relations Team. These
meetings are critical to the design of new funds and the development
of our existing funds.

The year also saw the closure of the LCIV Equity Income fund with
divestments by two client funds. In all cases ESG was important in the
design and selection of investment manager(s). We also launched
a Climate Change version of the LCIV Global Alpha Growth Fund
with Baillie Gifford demonstrating our commitment to develop and
integrate ESG throughout our product offering.
Private Markets funds have increased from 2 to 5 funds in the last 12
months with over £1.3bn of client commitments. Of this 64% has been
committed to external managers and 11% has been invested (see table
on page 16. Given more than half these commitments have only been
made in the last 3 months we expect these funds to deploy capital more
quickly moving forward. We also expect to have a second close on The
London Fund and LCIV Renewable Infrastructure funds in July 2021.
We have three funds in the pipeline leading with the LCIV Low
Carbon Passive Equity Fund which will move from the design into the

Management

Monitor selected managers versus
the objectives and the KPIs/RAG
status for the fund
Compare with Peers in similar
strategies and asset classes

implementation stage over the summer. We are currently assessing
client demand for a Sterling Credit fund and an Alternative Credit fund.
On fund monitoring we have developed an internal monitoring
structure RAG (Red, Amber, Green) that feeds into the monitoring
status of our funds that we share with Investors. We currently
have the LCIV Equity Focus fund on watch and the LCIV MAC fund
on enhanced monitoring. The other 17 funds are all on normal

This design process has enabled us to launch 4 funds in the last year,

monitoring. With the 2 funds we are working with investors and the

The London Fund, LCIV Renewable Infrastructure, LCIV Private Debt,

underlying managers to resolve the concerns we have. Commentary

LCIV Inflation Plus Fund. Shortly after the year end we also launched

on this monitoring is shared in the QIRs.

the LCIV Global Alpha Growth Paris Aligned Fund.

Select investments and Investment
managers that meet and beat the
objectives of the fund

Change Management/
closure

If failing to deliver on the objectives
of the fund or the KPIs then
terminate managers and prepare
options for replacing the manager

Page 133

Our focus this year has been to develop the
Design–Select–Manage lifecycle to launching
funds and managing existing funds. We
are integrating ESG, cost transparency and
risk management into each part of the
investment lifecycle. This is being done to
ensure that London CIV achieves its aim of
adding value to our clients, adds access to
Infrastructure assets and in order to provide
robust governance and decision making.

Selection

24

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Investment Review continued

London CIV Investment Beliefs
The revised Investment Beliefs agreed in October 2020 reflect the increased focus on ESG, Cost
Transparency and Risk Management together with the collective benefit we get from working in
partnership with client funds
The Investment Governance Document (IGD) was published on the
Client Portal in late 2020. This document details the process that we
apply to the investment funds that we have at London CIV. We are
currently upgrading this to add enhancements around risk, ESG and
private markets. We have also upgraded the Investment Oversight,

1

Termination and Selection & Appointment polices also published on
the Client Portal and are reviewing the Allocations Policy which will
also be available to Client Funds.
During the year we have increased the level of resources in the

2

investment team, in particular by establishing a dedicated Responsible
portfolios as we have expanded our product offer and management
of our risk and performance reporting capability.

3

As set out in the MTFS agreed at the January 2021 General Meeting we
are working on an Investment Strategy Roadmap which will form part
of the Medium Term Plan demonstrating how we aim to achieve the
medium to long term ambitions of the London CIV pool. In the short

4

term we expect to launch new funds during 2021 as described above
and expect to see higher levels of investment by Client Funds in our
late 2020 and early 2021.

	We believe taking the right risk for the
right return will maximise opportunities

	We believe robust risk management and
mitigation improves risk adjusted returns

	We believe Responsible Investment mitigates
financial risk and maximises opportunity

b)	We believe in good stewardship and in proactive
engagement
Jason Fletcher, Chief Investment Officer

c)	We believe management of climate change risk
is a key element of our investment strategy
d)	We believe diversity adds value for our clients

5

	
We believe that costs are important
and should be managed
a)	We believe managing fees and assessing
remuneration will support cost effectiveness

a)	We believe good corporate governance
improves outcomes

existing funds following decisions about Strategic Asset Allocations in

6

	
We believe diversification can
improve returns and reduce risk

b)	We believe fund structuring and
implementation costs matter

7
8
9
10

	We believe clear objectives, expert knowledge
and robust research will add value by
supporting investment and manager selection

	
We believe transparency and
accountability build client trust

	
We believe innovation and strong leadership
supports more sustainable returns

	
We believe that a collective approach to
investment improves returns and reduces risk

Page 134

Investment team and by adding to the expertise across each of the

	We believe long term investors get
better risk adjusted returns

25

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Investment Review continued

Two case studies of new funds are shown below.

LCIV Renewable Infrastructure Fund

The LCIV Private Debt fund has a closed-ended
structure and will seek to achieve its objective by
investing its assets into underlying funds which
make loans to European and North American
middle market companies.

The LCIV Renewable Infrastructure Fund was
developed in consultation with Client Funds and
will focus on renewable energy infrastructure
assets by investing in greenfield and brownfield
assets.

The approach was developed in collaboration
with Client Funds using London CIV Seed
Investors Groups (SIGs). London CIV have
selected funds managed by Churchill
Asset Management, and Pemberton Asset
Management. The LCIV Private Debt fund has
been seeded by three Client Funds with a total
commitment of £290m; a further three investors
are expected to invest more than £150m by the
end of the year. It will remain open to further
commitments from London CIV Client Funds for
the next twelve months.

This will include generation, transmission,
distribution and enabling assets. It uses an open
ended structure. London CIV have selected funds
managed by BlackRock Investment Management,
and Foresight Group , Quinbrook Infrastructure
Partners , and Stonepeak Global Renewables
Advisor. Five seed investors have committed
an initial £435m into the fund and we currently
expect to see a further six Client Funds invest
more than £300m.

Page 135

Image source: Churchill Asset Management

LCIV Private Debt Fund

26

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Business Review

Overview

Responsible Investment
Jacqueline Jackson

Corporate Governance

Aside from testing any assumptions we can make
about risk, the pandemic has highlighted a myriad
of inequalities and accelerated our desire to drive
change. By sharpening the focus on stakeholder
value, we seek to improve returns across
environmental, social and economic capital”.
Jacqueline Amy Jackson, Head of Responsible Investment

Our vision is to be a best-in-class asset pool
that delivers value for Londoners through
long term sustainable investment strategies.

The ESG Action Plan

London CIV are committed to protecting the interests of our clients

At the end of 2019 we conducted a review of our responsible investment activity and agreed
on a programme for 2020 which included cultural change, product development, improved
resourcing, better stewardship and climate change risk mitigation.

environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors are a source of financial risk.
We aim to make long-term sustainable investments supported by data-led
and transparent processes. Our vision is to be a best-in-class asset pool that
delivers value for Londoners through responsible investment strategies.
In collaboration with all our stakeholders we are building better futures
by investing for a world worth living in. The support of the Responsible

Page 136

Responsible Investment
and members by acknowledging that climate-related risks and broader

Financial Statements

In the reporting year, the Responsible Investment (“RI”) Team grew from a baseline of no dedicated
staff to a team of three. A Responsible Investment Reference Group (“RIRG”) was set up and an ESG
Champion on the Board was appointed in order to drive action on RI throughout the organisation.
London CIV’s Responsible Investment and Engagement Strategy and Process is ongoing. Priorities and
processes are reviewed and reported on at least annually.

Investment Reference Group (RIRG) has been key in developing our
approach to engagement and response to Client Funds’ expectations.

Collaboration
London CIV recognise that our voice is more efficient and effective when

Research & review

Design

companies, investment managers and our own organisation.

Peer Review

London CIV are a signatory to the UN-backed Principles of Responsible
Investment (PRI). In the reporting year we were assessed on three modules
Strategy & Governance, Listed Equity and Fixed Income – SSA, and achieved

Regulation

an A score against all three. We also support the Financial Reporting
Council’s UK Stewardship Code (UKSC).
Other initiatives we proudly support include Climate Action 100+,
ShareAction: Better Work Coalition, and Pensions for Purpose.

Investment
Beliefs

Disclose

Implementation

Client Policy

we work together. This is why we work in collaboration with a multitude
of partners and industry leaders to raise the standards of our investee

Implement

London CIV
Responsible
Investment
and
Engagement
Policy

Voting
Principles

Stewardship
Code

Operations
Selection

Disclosure and
Transparency

Stewardship
Climate
Policy

Collaboration

UKSC

PRI

TCFD

27

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Business Review

Overview

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Responsible Investment continued

49%
49%

52%
52%

Climate Change

Exposure to Fossil Fuel Activities (Source: Trucost)

Climate change presents an immediate systemic risk to the ecological,
societal, and27%
financial stability
of every economy, country, asset
24%
27%
24%
type and sector on the planet. It will have a significant physical and
economic impact on most aspects of human activity and consequently
multiple implications for our Client Funds and their beneficiaries.
Addressing climate change is therefore part of our fiduciary duty and
VOH
49%
27%
24%
45%
2%
a strategic investment
45% priority for
2%London CIV.

8%
8%
7%
7%

Carbon Intensity (tCO2e/mGBP)

3,500

70%
10% 20% 30% 40% 50%
60%
60% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%
Average Carbon Intensity
(Source: Trucost)
50%
50%
3,278

3,000

20%
20%
10%
10%

2,500
2,000

40%
40%
30%
30%

642
642

1,500
1,000

593
593

Portfolio

30%
20%

-20%
-20%

Sovereign
Sovereign
Fixed Income

10%

Fixed Income
1,077

0%

Relative
Efficiency
Relative500
Efficiency
0

40%

642

Listed Equity & Corporate
Fixed Income

Benchmark

593
Sovereign
Fixed Income

-10%
-20%

Relative Efficiency

London CIV’s exposure to fossil fuel and coal was also lower than the
benchmark at 3.5% versus 6.8% and 1.9% versus 3.8% respectively.

generation sources by renewable energy assets.

7%

2%
2%
1%
1%

6%

0%
0%

The fund commitments towards renewable energy infrastructure

5%

Portfolio
Portfolio

Benchmark 4%
Benchmark

All
All Fossil
Fossil Fuels
Fuels
3%
Extractives
Revenue
Energy
2%
Extractives Revenue
Energy Revenue
Revenue

Portfolio
Portfolio

will contribute towards 335,040 tCO2e of avoided emissions

Benchmark
Benchmark

Coal
Coal Only
Only
Company
Level
Exposure
Company Level Exposure

during the project lifetimes1. This corresponds to 14,287 tCO2e of
avoided emissions on an annual basis. Based on this assessment

1%
better

Whilst London CIV performs
than the benchmark across
all climate metrics and despite0%positive progress
on Benchmark
climate risk
Portfolio
FossilisFuels
mitigation efforts, the London CIV transitionAllpath
currently not
Extractives
Energy Revenue
compatible with a warming below
2°C. Revenue

London CIV concluded that the investments contributed to 4 of the
Portfolio

17 Sustainable
Development Goals (“SDGs”):
Benchmark

Coal Only

Company Level Exposure

500,000
500,000

60%
50%

resulting from the displacement of conventional power

8%

600,000
600,000

70%

0%
0%
-10%
-10%

infrastructure portfolio and estimated the avoided emissions

4%
4%
3%
3%

Emissions Trajectory (Source: Trucost)

80%

Relative Efficiency

Weighted

quity & Corporate
quity & Corporate
xed Income
xed Income

chmark
chmark

0%

Relative
RelativeEfficiency
Efficiency

3,278
3,278

London CIV has calculated the carbon footprint of its

6%
6%
5%
5%

400,000
400,000

600,000

300,000
300,000
200,000
200,000
2012
2012

500,000

2013
2013

Portfolio
Portfolio

2014
2014

2015
2015

2016
2016

2017
2018 2019F 2020F 2021F 2022F 2023F 2024F 2025F
400,000
2017
2018 2019F 2020F 2021F 2022F 2023F 2024F 2025F

Portfolio
Portfolio -- 2D
2D Aligned
Aligned

300,000

Benchmark
Benchmark

Benchmark -- 2D
2D Aligned
Aligned
Benchmark

In terms of apportioned emissions, these are approximately 11.5%
200,000
2015 balance
2016 2017over
2018the
2019F 2020F
higher than the emissions allowed2012
for a2013
2°C2014
carbon
period 2012 to 2025. The analysis
confirms
that
a
significant
level
of
Portfolio
Portfolio - 2D Aligned
Benchmark
decarbonisation is required by investee companies to be in alignment
with 1.5°C of warming.

2021F 2022F 2023F 2024F 2025F

Benchmark - 2D Aligned

London CIV have committed to setting short-, medium- and longterm targets to achieve net zero emissions by 2050 and will publish a
decarbonisation framework ahead of COP26 in Glasgow, November 2021.
In the meantime, London CIV continues to engage with its investment
managers and investee companies as a key part of its climate risk
mitigation efforts.

1

	The content above was prepared by London CIV with data derived from
the Ecoinvent LCA inventory, Bloomberg New Energy Finance, and the EPA
Greenhouse Gas equivalencies calculator.

Page 137

Recognising the materiality of the issue and demonstrating our
commitment to assessing climate-related financial risks London
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
90%
CIV have
up to80%
and disclosed
Financial Stability
20% 30% 40%
50% signed
60% 70%
70%
80%
90% 100%
100%against the45%
GHG
52%
2%
Board’s Taskforce on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD). We
have completed our first climate risk
and opportunities analysis and
80%
80%
published a standalone Climate Policy.
70%

Contribution to the United Nations
Sustainable Development Goals

28

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Business Review

Overview

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Responsible Investment continued

Key Outcomes
Stewardship
Stewardship is the responsible allocation, management and oversight
of capital to create long-term value for clients and beneficiaries
leading to sustainable benefits for the economy, the environment and
society.
The effectiveness of active ownership depends upon the achievement
of real-world outcomes at scale. Achieving such outcomes matters
to London CIV, our clients and their beneficiaries. This is because
systemic risks, such as climate change and inequitable social
structures seriously threaten the long-term performance of

£11.2bn £44bn
Active investments
through London CIV

of assets held by Client Funds

93%

36%

27.5%

48.5%

9,647

363

10,010

424

42

10

100%

100%

15 16

1

of our infrastructure
investments are committed
towards renewable energy

our beneficiaries live.
To sharpen the focus on our role as active owners, London CIV
have released a standalone Stewardship Policy and published its
first Stewardship Outcomes Report. Both helping us to identify
priority themes across the four pillars of People, Planet, Principles of
Governance and Prosperity and to track the progress of our efforts.

out of 9,966 votes cast on
management proposals in 20203

engagement meetings held by
our managers in 2020

Source: London CIV. Data as of 31 March 2021
	In terms of the consolidated LCIV pool’s WACI, as per 30.11.20 according to Trucost,
S&P Global data
3
Representing a 97% voting execution
4
With only 1 abstention
5
	Diversity was covered as a topic in engagement discussions with companies in 42
separate instances during 2020
6
	Please see section 3 on collaboration: delivering outcomes at scale. This includes
engagement initiatives
includes groups such as ClimateAction100+ and membership groups such as PRI.
i
As of 31st December 2020
1
2

of investment managers are
signatories of the UN Principles
for Responsible Investment
(“UN PRI”)

out of 364 votes cast on
shareholder proposals in 20204

of which included discussions
on diversity5

managers committed to cost
transparency

Total Fossil Fuel Exposure for
London CIV is 48.5% lower than
the benchmark at 3.5% in total

votes cast in total

Engagement Initiatives and
Membership Groups supported
by London CIV in 20206

out of

funds managed by signatories
of the Task Force on
Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (“TCFD”)i

Page 138

economies and asset owners’ portfolios, as well as the world in which

London CIV Listed Equity and
Corporate Fixed Income has
27.5% lower carbon intensity
than the MSCI World2

AUM covered in
ESG risk analysis

29

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Business Review

Overview

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Responsible Investment continued

Key Stewardship Priorities (2021)
Risk to
Society

Political
Crime

Physical
Risks

Health &
Wellbeing

Technology
inc. Cyber
Security

Biodiversity
Loss

Human
Capital
Management

Diversity &
Inclusion
Tax & Cost
Transparency

People

Air
Pollution
Executive
Compensation

Client and Peer Priorities

Climate
Change

Human
Rights

Reduced
Inequalities

Build Back
better

Water
Risks

Page 139

Digital

Plastics

Planet
Governance
Size of Bubble =
Financial Materiality
Source: London CIV Research 2020

30

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Business Review

Overview

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

In the last twelve months, we have
reviewed our funding model and our
costs to ensure we continue to deliver
value for money

Financial Review
Brian Lee
During a year of volatility our financial
arrangements have remained stable.

As we are all well aware, the last twelve months have been
unprecedented as we have responded to the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic. During that time, London CIV staff have been home
working but we have continued to operate the business as normal
and I am pleased to confirm our financial arrangements have
remained stable and on course when compared to our budget. We
remain focussed on managing our costs to deliver value for our
shareholders and investors.

Based on current trends in AUM and feedback from Client Funds

Income

about preferred options we envisage that we will review the scope

The income for the year comprises fixed income elements relating

to move to a new model in about 2023 when we expect that AUM

undertake further work on the funding model as part of our mediumterm plan, with a particular focus on the pricing model for different
funds. Cost transparency, and the best use of resources to support the
development of new funds and run existing funds will be a key theme
for 2021/22 and underpin the work on our medium-term plan.

Income statement
The operating profit for the year, before the exceptional item, is £23k
and is slightly higher than the budgeted profit in the Annual Budget

management and expenses have been managed to remain close to
budget. A number of fund launch costs have been expensed this year.

Scheme. At March 2020, AUM was £7.6bn and had risen to £11.2bn by

During 2020/21 we consulted on options for a new funding model,
bearing in mind the importance of sustainability and stability, the
impact on all clients and the balance between the fixed fee and ad
valorem fee (which varies depending on which funds clients invest in).

Actual
March
2021
£000

Budget
March
2021
£000

Turnover

5,364

6,335

6,153

Expenses

(5,744)

(6,312)

(6,146)

(380)

23

7

Operating Profit/(Loss)

passive assets fees. Income for the year was £6.3m of which £2.9m
relates to the fixed fees. The level of fixed fee income was important
last year as market volatility could have led to a loss of income if asset
values had continued to fall from the March 2020 low point.

Income
Service Charge
Passive Asset Fees

higher than the budget due to the higher levels of assets under

Actual
March
2020
£000

Contractual Scheme and the Exempt Unauthorised Unit Trusts and

Development Funding Charge ("DFC")

for the year approved by the Board and Shareholders. Income is

of assets under management (AUM) on the Authorised Contractual

asset appreciation. The budgeted AUM at year end was £9.5bn.

and ad valorem fees, relating to management fees of the Authorised

ad valorem fee and fixed fee funding. During 2021/22 we expect to

The level of volatility last year can be assessed by the change in the value

March 2021, an increase of £3.5bn of which £2.8bn was on account of

to the service charge and the development funding charge (DFC)

will have increased sufficiently to allow a 70%/30% split between

Actual
March
2020
£’000s

Actual
March
2021
£’000s

Budget
March
2021
£’000s

800

800

800

2,080

2,720

2,720

506

564

538

Management Fees

1,978

2,251

2,094

Total Income

5,364

6,335

6,153

Page 140

I am pleased to introduce the Financial
Review for London CIV for the year to
March 2021. This section of the Annual
Review summarises the financial
performance of the Company. A full set of
statutory financial statements are included
as the second half of this document .

31

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Business Review

Overview

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Financial Review continued

Operating Expenses
The operating expenses of the Company fall into five main categories
namely, staff costs, facilities, professional fees, technology and data
costs and a smaller cost category comprising miscellaneous expenses.
Actual
March
2021
£000

Budget
March
2021
£000

Staff costs

3,815

4,051

4,148

Facilities

666

638

707

Legal & Professional

637

877

595

55

41

74

Technology

449

296

172

Investment systems costs

122

410

450

5,744

6,312

6,146

Travel & general expenses

Total expenses

Full time staffing levels have been lower than budget and the
Company has resourced the shortfall through the use of contractors
which are included in the staffing number table below. The table below
shows the additional human resources employed by the Company and
the approved rise in staffing levels is reflected in the increase in staff
costs from £3.8m in year ending March 2020 to £4.1m in year ending
March 2021.
Actual
March
2020

Actual
March
2021

Budget
March
2021

27

35

35

Staff numbers (including contractors)

Funds

the associated legal costs. These costs will be recovered when the
actual funds launches start investing.

Assets Under Management
The Company launched its first sub fund on the Authorised
Contractual Scheme (ACS) in December 2015, since when it has
launched a further 15 funds on the ACS, Exempt Unauthorised Unit
Trusts (EUUT) and one fund as a Scottish Limited Partnership.

March
2018
£bn

March
2019
£bn

March
2020
£bn

March
2021
£bn

0.8

3.6

6.2

8.2

7.6

11.2

2

7

11

14

14

16

During the year, London CIV launched four private markets funds with
client fund commitments of approximately £1bn. The private markets
funds will continue to be an area of growth. After the year end we

The Company is classified as a Collective Portfolio Management Firm
(CPM). This is the definition used by the FCA for a UK AIFM which does
not have ancillary permissions to manage investments. Currently the
Company is approved by the FCA to manage authorised funds (such
as the ACS) and unauthorised funds (such as the EUUT).
In respect of the regulatory capital that the FCA requires of a CPM
firm, at the end of the year ending in March 2021, the Company had a

launched the LCIV Global Alpha Growth Paris Aligned Fund.

regulatory capital requirement of £2.3m and a surplus of £2.8m. The

The management fee rates that the Company receives from the sub

based on assets under management or annual expenditure.

funds on the ACS range from 0.5bp on the Global Bond Fund, 1bp for

capital adequacy calculation is based on the higher of the calculations

the MAC fund and 2.5bps which applies to the rest of the sub funds on
the ACS.

Actual
March
2020
£000

Actual
March
2021
£000

Budget
March
2021
£000

In addition to the income items noted above, the Company also

Regulatory capital requirement

1,705

2,306

1,934

receives a fee in respect of passive investments managed by Legal and

Regulatory capital surplus

3,486

2,751

3,366

General Investment Management and Blackrock. This fee arrangement
goes back to 2016/17 when it was agreed by the Pensions Sectoral Joint
Committee (PSJC) and the Board that the Company should receive a
fee of 0.5bp in respect of fee negotiations the Company conducted on
behalf of Client Funds. The Company does not provide any regulated
service in connection with the passive investments.

receives a fee is shown in the table below.

Passive investments

March
2016
£bn

March
2017
£bn

March
2018
£bn

March
2019
£bn

March
2020
£bn

March
2021
£bn

0

7

8.4

9.7

9.1

12.6

Regulatory Capital
The Company is an Alternative Investment Fund Manager (AIFM)
and subject to the Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive
2011/61/EU (AIFMD), which is defined as an entity that provides
portfolio management and risk management services for an
Alternative Investment Fund (AIF) or a number of AIFs.

Cost Transparency Working Group
The Company continues to work with client funds through the Cost
Transparency Group (CTWG), chaired by John Turnbull, the
treasurer of the London Borough of Waltham Forest. The role of the

The value of passive investments in respect of which the Company

The increase in legal and professional fees arises from the significant
level of fund launch activity in the last quarter of the financial year and

March
2017
£bn

Working Group (CTWG) is to ensure that there is full transparency
and understanding between London CIV and its investors about the
calculation of cost savings and benefits that London CIV is delivering
as the pool company of London Local Authorities.

Cost Transparency
The Company has been working with its Client Funds over the last
year to provide cost reporting that complies with the reporting
requirements of the Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) and the Local
Government Association as part of the Cost Transparency Initiative
(CTI). In June 202I, the Company provided its Client Funds with the
CTI reports.

Page 141

Expenses

Actual
March
2020
£000

AUM on ACS and EUTT

March
2016
£bn

32

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Financial Review continued

Cost Benchmarking
During the year a number of other strategic finance related projects
were completed. We conducted a detailed review of our funding
arrangements as well as a cost benchmarking exercise, working
with our stakeholders and the Cost Transparency Working Group.
Engagement with our shareholders involved surveys, working groups
and presentation of findings led by EY.

The outcomes from the exercises were an agreement to move to a
higher level of ad valorem fees and less reliance on fixed fees once a
greater level of assets had been pooled, identified as 75%, compared
to the current level of 54% of available assets (rising to 57% including
commitments) pooled. In terms of costs, EY determined that the cost
base of the Company was lower than other pools, even taking into
account different operating models, and that London CIV has a wide
breadth of Client Funds and fund offering.

The Board of London CIV committed in last year’s MTFS to conduct a
cost benchmarking exercise to ensure that the operating costs of the
business were within reasonable cost parameters given the cost and
review and the report findings are summarised below :• Disproportionally fewer resources. In comparison to other pools
London CIV operates on the lowest budget (£5.7m vs £8.5m £12.6m for comparator pools), and have the lowest personnel costs
(£3.8m vs £4.7m - £6.0m for comparator pools).
•	
Wider breadth of Client Funds and fund offering. London CIV
has materially more Client Funds than other pools (32 compared to
4-8 for other pools) and also offers a wide range of active funds (15
vs 5 to 17).
•	
Budget and service evolution. Since 2017, the number and
breadth of deliverables required of the LCIV, whether they be driven
by regulation, growth towards objectives, enhancing core functions
or Client Fund needs and demand, has expanded meaningfully.
•	
Qualitative considerations. London CIV has been launching
their owns funds in increasingly more complex asset classes
(requiring new vehicles including the EUUT and SLP) which has led
to an increase in the volume of investment-related activities and
compliance.

The CTWG also oversaw the funding model review conducted by EY
including reviewing client fund funding questionnaire responses,
attending funding workshops and reviewing the EY proposals arising

Last year a detailed financial analysis looking at the going concern
position of the Company was undertaken. This financial assessment
covered the potential impact of COVID 19 and included stress testing.
In recent months, the impact of COVID-19 has abated and this has
been reflected in the approach to the going concern analysis this
year. We have reviewed the Annual Budget that was signed off
by shareholders in January 2021 for the financial year 2021/22 to
determine if there have been any material changes to the business
model which could impact on the financial integrity of the Company.
There are two important points to note in assessing the going concern
status and regulatory capital requirements of the business:-

from the funding review. There were two workshops attended by over

Pension scheme – last year London CIV shareholders agreed to

40 representatives from Client Funds.

provide a guarantee in favour of the City of London in respect of

In respect of the funding review, the CTWG made the following
comments and observations:
•	All Clients Funds are shareholders of the London CIV and therefore
have an interest in the continued financial viability of the London
CIV. Continuation of a service charge will help support the continued
financial viability to the benefit of all stakeholders
• Client Funds that have illiquid investments may not be able to meet
minimum threshold pooling levels given the lock-up periods on
those assets.
• Pooling is defined as both assets on the ACS and passive assets.
Whilst a Client Fund may have the same % of total assets pooled,
the ad valorem fees they pay may be materially different due to their
ACS/passive split. This may raise concerns around fairness.
• Client Funds may have to accept they may be a little worse off
under a new model, but this would be acceptable if there is a clear
direction of travel towards a long-term model that is fair.

the defined benefit pension scheme in the event that London CIV
was unable to meet its exit payment obligations which would arise
in the event of London CIV exiting the COL pension scheme. This
guarantee reduces the uncertainty on the Company’s finances arising
from funding future defined benefit pension scheme liabilities. This
guarantee has also led to a reduction in the DB funding rate for
2020/21.
Variation of Permissions – the impact on the capital adequacy
requirements arising from any new permissions has been factored
into the analysis, including detailed risk capital analysis captured in the
Company’s Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process
Finally, we have been working on our Internal Capital Adequacy
Process, generally known as the ‘ICAAP’, which determines the capital
requirements for our planned new regulatory permissions. We are
pleased to note that the pension guarantee agreements referred to
above have been helpful in our ICAAP analysis.
Brian Lee, Chief Operating Officer

Page 142

complexity of the organisation. We commissioned EY to undertake the

Funding Model Review

Going Concern

33

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

An effective governance
framework is key to London
CIV’s operation, long term
success and sustainability.

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Page 143

Corporate
Governance

Overview

34

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Governance Framework

Business Review

Overview

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

London CIV committee structure
Formal Governance

Stakeholders

London CIV is an FCA regulated company
limited by shares whose 32 London Local
Authority shareholders are its only clients.
It was established as a collective venture in
2015 to provide a more effective vehicle for
managing the pooled pension fund assets
of the London Local Authorities.

An effective governance framework is key to London CIV’s operation,
long term success and sustainability, and to our legal and regulatory
requirements. During 2020/21 we have implemented the changes
to our corporate governance arrangements agreed following the
2019/20 governance progress review. We have also made changes
to ensure that the business model is characterised by visibly high
levels of client fund engagement, in particular in respect of Client
Fund involvement in fund launch development (Seed Investor Groups
“SIGs”) and engagement with fund managers. We now have an
active Responsible Investment Reference Group (RIRG), chaired by
Cllr Robert Chapman of LB Hackney, which has provided a sounding
board to steer the development of our Responsible Investment
and Stewardship activity. The Cost Transparency Working Group
(CTWG) chaired by a s151 Officer, John Turnbull of Waltham Forest
has supported us in the work to review our funding model and
develop our cost transparency and benchmarking activity. The new
website and client portal have allowed us to improve the quality
and transparency of information about London CIV’s decisions,
performance and services.

Informal
Client Fund
Engagement

Exercise Shareholder powers
AGM plus budget meeting
Hold Board to account

Two meetings annually

Fund launch
governance and
engagement
framework

Shareholder
Committee

Consultation on strategy and business plan (MTFS)

Quarterly Meetings

Matters reserved to shareholders

Financial and corporate performance
Responsible Investment, Reporting & Transparency
Emerging issues, shareholder priorities

London CIV Board
Remuneration &
Nomination Committee

Responsible
Investment
Reference
Group
(RIRG)

Cost Transparency
Working Group
(CTWG)

Investment Oversight
Committee (IOC)

Compliance Audit & Risk
Committee (CARCO)

Executive Committee

The Terms of Reference of the Shareholder Committee were amended
to include the Trade Union member as a voting member which means
that beneficiaries are now more explicitly included in our governance
structures, in line with Scheme Advisory Board expectations and
Investment Association guidance in respect of good corporate
governance in respect of stakeholders. This is consistent with the
Committee’s consultative role and responsibility for identifying
emerging issues which may impact on the Company or shareholders
and assists Directors in fulfilling their Companies Act s172 obligation
to consider the impact of decisions on stakeholders.

The Responsible Investment section of this report provides more
information about how the Company has fulfilled its stewardship
responsibilities and more information can be found in the Stewardship
Outcomes report and other Climate and Stewardship reports and
policies including the TCFD report published on the website at
www.londonciv.org.uk

Page 144

The client funds and their beneficiaries are London CIV’s key
stakeholders and London CIV’s purpose statement underlines the
importance of adding value to London as a whole To be the LGPS
pool for London to enable the London Local Authorities to
achieve their pooling requirements. Other stakeholders include the
Ministry for Housing Local Government and Communities (MHCLG),
London taxpayers and the users of London local government
services which include education, public health, social care, waste
management, housing and culture.

Shareholder
General Meeting
and Shareholder
Agreement

35

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Governance Framework continued

London CIV Governance Framework
Major decisions, including approval of the budget, objectives and
business plan are reserved to Shareholders in General Meeting
as set out in a Shareholder Agreement. As part of the 2019/20
governance review it was agreed to provide for a Disputes and
Deadlock procedure to be put in place.

The overall strategic direction, management and general policy of
London CIV is vested in the Board, which is responsible for major
decisions unless reserved to shareholders. The Executive Directors,
led by the Chief Executive, are responsible for the day-to-day
management of the company and there is an Executive Committee
which is attended by other senior managers in the firm. The Board
Governance Committees are an Investment Oversight Committee
(IOC); a Compliance, Audit, and Risk Committee (CARCO); and a
Remuneration and Nomination Committee (RemNomCo) which
includes the Chair of the Shareholder Committee. The Shareholder
Committee is a consultative committee to the Board.

London CIV Company Board

Consultation on strategy
and business plan (MTFS)
financial and corporate
performance matters
reserved to shareholders
Responsible Investment,
Reporting & Transparency
Emerging issues,
shareholder priorities.

Matters reserved to the Board (subject to matters reserved to shareholders) include:
• Strategy and oversight of management of the company
• Budget setting and forward plan
• Reviews performance
•	Major contracts and significant decisions including in relation to funds
• Financial reporting and controls

Investment Oversight
Committee (IOC)

Compliance/Audit/Risk
Committee (CARCO)

Remuneration and Nomination
Committee (RemNomCo)

Oversees the investment activity of
London CIV in line with the Company’s
strategy and business plan, including
responsible investment

• Oversee compliance obligations

• Remuneration policy

• Risk management framework

• Remuneration of key staff

•	Integrity of financial statements and
reporting

•	Nominations and succession
planning for key staff and the Board

Executive Committee (EXCo)
•	The CEO is responsible, together with other executive directors, for the day-to-day operations of the company, supported by the wider
executive leadership team

•	The executive directors acting collectively as ExCo have a number of specific delegated responsibilities. The role of ExCo in summary is to:
-	Execute the board-approved strategic objectives and business plan in line with risk appetite and financial limits (and developing this
for approval)
- Develop and implement effective solutions to address issues and opportunities facing the company
- Ensure the day-to-day operations meet relevant legal requirements and compliance obligations of the company
-	Keep corporate and financial performance under review and ensure the Board and Board Committees receive reports such that they
can fulfil their responsibilities

Page 145

Certain decisions require written approval from all (or a majority of)
shareholders. There are 2 meetings each year of all shareholders
and quarterly meetings of a Shareholder Committee representative
of shareholders. The Committee considers all reserved matters,
emerging issues and corporate and financial performance. In
addition, there are two shareholder nominated directors on
the Board who are Leaders of London Councils and a Treasurer
Observer (s151 officer) on the Board.

Shareholder committee

36

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

London CIV Board and Committees
Chaired by
Lord Kerslake

Key issues discussed by the Board during the year, including cross-cutting themes
identified in the 2019/20 board effectiveness review were:

•	Financial performance, including regulatory capital requirements and related issues such as the pension
guarantee and recharge agreements
• Annual budget, business plan and objectives
• Medium Term Strategy and “Big Questions”

Key changes to membership of the Board that took place during the year or are due to take
place in the first few months of 2021/22 are:

• Regular update on governance and shareholder matters

• K
 evin Corrigan who was appointed as interim CIO in November 2019 joined the Board on 11 February
2020 and left the Board on 30 June 2020.

• R
 esponsible Investment and Stewardship including London CIV’s net zero climate ambition and priorities
for voting and engagement

• Jason Fletcher CIO was appointed to the Board from 23 July 2020

•	Client engagement, communication and reporting
•	The impact of strategic and operational decisions on client funds and alignment of business proposals
with strategy
•	Corporate culture including the new statement of culture and values in order to deliver good outcomes for clients
• Strategic challenges and risks to delivering the strategy and specific proposals
•	Diversity and inclusion, remuneration, succession and appointment matters
• Application for additional regulatory permissions and related ICAAP
• Year-end financial report and Annual Review
The Board’s collective review of its own effectiveness would usually have taken place before this report was
written. However it was decided to defer the review until July 2021 so that it can be taken forward by the
incoming Chair of the Board and Chair of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee whilst also taking
advantage of feedback from outgoing board members and the Chair of the Board. The Chair of the Board
has conducted appraisals of Non Executive members of the Board and the CEO. The Shareholder nominated
NEDs have conducted an appraisal of the performance of the Chair. The CEO has conducted appraisals of
the two Executive Directors including their roles as Board members.

• Linda Selman came to the end of her three-year term of office in September 2020
• P
 aul Niven was re-appointed to serve for a further three year term to September 2023 and in November
2020 appointed as Chair of the IOC in succession to Chris Bilsland
•	Alison Talbot was appointed to the Board commencing 21 September 2020 and as Chair of CARCO in
succession to Eric Mackay in March 2021
• K
 itty Ussher was appointed to the Board commencing 21 September 2020 and took office as Chair of the
Remuneration and Nomination Committee in succession to Eric Mackay on 9 June 2021
•	The Board has commenced a search with the aim of making two new non-executive director appointments
to replace Chris Bilsland and Eric Mackay by November 2021. Cllr Ravi Govindia comes to the end of his
term of office in September 2021 and is eligible for re-appointment. Cllr Stephen Alambritis comes to the
end of his term of office at the same time and is not eligible for re-appointment. New nominations have
been requested
•	
Mike Craston has been appointed Chair of the Board in succession to Lord Kerslake subject to FCA approval

Page 146

•	Corporate performance, including Assets Under Manager (AUM), the investment pipeline, performance
against MTFS objectives, client feedback and communication

All directors must meet FCA fitness to serve requirements and are specifically approved by the FCA
where required by the SM&CR regime. The Executive directors, Chair of the Board and Compliance and
Risk Director hold designated Senior Manager Functions (SMF) under the FCA’s Senior Management &
Certification Regime (SM&CR). Two Non-Executive Directors, Cllr Stephen Alambritis and Cllr Ravi Govindia
are nominated by Shareholders and Ian Williams is the Treasurer Observer. There is also a Non-Executive
member of the Investment Oversight Committee (IOC) who is not a Board member

37

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

London CIV Board and Committees continued

Shareholder Committee

Shareholders Role and Responsibilities

Chaired by
Cllr Yvonne Johnson

Shareholder Responsibilities

(LB Ealing Pension Fund Panel)

During the year the Committee has worked with the Board to find ways to improve the way in which
the members of the Committee and the Board work together, despite the additional challenges of
doing so in a virtual environment given the restrictions of the COVID19 pandemic. Committee and
Board members have held two “meet and greet” events and Board Committee Chairs have attended
Shareholder Committee meetings.

Key issues discussed by the Committee in the last year were:
• Corporate and financial performance
• A
 nnual budget, business plan and objectives prior to decision by the January 2020 General
Meeting of all Shareholders (it was decided this year to consider the Medium-Term Strategy
separately later in 2021 so that this could be based on better information about Client Fund
strategic asset allocations)
• The emerging Medium-Term Strategy
• Responsible Investment and Stewardship
• Investment Oversight Committee (IOC) update
•	Governance and shareholder matters which is a regular agenda item

•	Shareholders have rights and responsibilities set out in company law
(Companies Act 2006)
•	London CIV Shareholder obligations, responsibilities and rights are set out
in the Articles of Association and Shareholder Agreement

Shareholder General Meetings
•	32 Members
•	Meeting every six months (AGM and one other)
•	Approves annual budget, business plan and objectives
•	Approves membership of the Shareholder Committee
•	Attended by all Shareholder Representatives

Shareholder Agreement
•	Reserves certain decisions to all or a majority of shareholders in general
meeting or in writing
•	Sets out requirement for all shareholders to appoint a named “shareholder
representative” (usually the Pension Committee Chair or equivalent)

Shareholder Committee Role
• Corporate and financial performance review
•	Consulted on any matters reserved for shareholder approval including
Annual Budget, business plan and objectives
• Identifies emerging issues for the Board and Executive to consider
• Consulted on Responsible Investment and Transparency and Reporting

Page 147

The committee is consulted on: London CIV’s strategy, budget and business plan (MTFS); financial
and corporate performance; all matters reserved to shareholders; emerging issues and shareholder
priorities; Responsible Investment, and Reporting & Transparency. This role means that the
Shareholder Committee plays an important role in identifying emerging issues and realistic
solutions which will ensure that London CIV can deliver pooling to meet the needs of London. It has
a key role in reviewing the budget and other matters reserved to shareholders before the Board
makes a recommendation to all Shareholders.

•	London CIV’s shareholders are the Client Funds

38

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

London CIV Board and Committees continued

Compliance, Audit and
Risk Committee (CARCO)

Investment Oversight
Committee (IOC)

Chaired by
Eric Mackay

Chaired by
Chris Bilsland

to March 2021

to November 2020

In summary CARCO is responsible for: overseeing compliance obligations; for the integrity of financial
statements and reporting, the external auditor engagement; and for the risk and control framework.

The key issues considered by CARCO this year include
•	FCA regulatory requirements in particular the implementation of the SM&CR regime and review of
Liquidity arrangements
•	Business resilience, including the impact of COVID19, Brexit, and working from home arrangements
and the response made by the firm

Key topics discussed by the IOC, discussed in more detail in the Investment Report.

• T
 he statutory report and financial statements for London CIV and for the Authorised Collective
Scheme (which contains reports on the funds) and EUUT .

•	The Strategic Product Roadmap which aims to identify how London CIV will provide the funds required to
meet Client Funds asset allocation requirements in a way which adds value

•	The report of the external auditors including going concern requirements in particular in the context
of COVID19

•	The fund launch programme, including the appointment of new managers

•	Variation of Regulatory permissions in particular the ICAAP process which considers regulatory capital
requirements

•	Fund performance and the performance of fund managers

• Responsible Investment and Stewardship

•	Work to enhance the risk and control framework to meet the changes in the external and internal
strategic and operating environment of the firm, including to identify changes to enterprise risks and
mitigating actions required, bearing in mind changes to the organisational model as the firm grows
and the number of funds and the complexity of their structures increases
• The Annual Report of the Depositary

From March 2021
chaired by Alison Talbot

From November 2020
chaired by Paul Niven

Page 148

• The ongoing compliance monitoring programme

In summary, the role of the IOC is to oversee the investment activity of London CIV in line with the
Company’s strategy and business plan. This includes forward looking activity such as the Strategic Product
Roadmap and fund launch pipeline and fund launches in progress, including the appointment of fund
managers. It covers fund performance and the performance of investment managers. The IOC’s Terms of
Reference (ToR) reflect the increased emphasis on Responsible Investment and Stewardship and include
an annual review of the Company’s Investment Principles and consideration of environmental, social and
governance (ESG) matters, particularly climate change. The Responsible Investment Policy is reserved to the
Board for approval and subject to consultation with the Shareholder Committee.

39

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

London CIV Board and Committees continued

Remuneration and Nomination
Committee (RemNomCo)
Chaired by
Eric Mackay

More information about pay and the
gender and ethnic profile of the board
and staff team is given in the people
and pay section on page 41 .

In summary the Committee is responsible for: remuneration policy; remuneration of key staff; nominations
matters (appointments) and succession planning for key staff and the Board.

The annual review of the remuneration policy resulted in drafting changes to ensure the wording
emphasises the importance London CIV places on a diverse and inclusive culture. Changes have also been
made to ensure it is consistent with the Senior Manager & Certification Regime (SM&CR).
Other matters discussed by the Committee were;
• Annual staff pay award
• Non executive director pay, it was agreed to pay an extra fee of £2,500 to committee chairs

From June 2021
chaired by Kitty Ussher

Page 149

The main focus for the work of the Committee this year has been succession planning and the appointment
of non-executive directors, Board Committee Chairs and the Chair of the Board. Kitty Ussher and Alison
Talbot were appointed to the Board in September 2020. A panel, chaired by Eric Mackay, was appointed to
oversee the recruitment of an successor to Lord Kerslake as Chair of the Board. Alison Talbot was appointed
to replace Eric Mackay as CARCO Chair and Kitty Ussher has been designated as the RemNomCo Chair to
succeed Eric Mackay. Paul Niven was appointed to succeed Chris Bilsland as IOC Chair. The recruitment
of two new NEDs is due to commence in June 2021. The Board and RemNomCo reviewed London CIV’s
approach to Diversity and Inclusion in October 2020 and March 2021 including the approval of a Board
Diversity and Inclusion policy. The targets were revised in March 2021 so that the calculation now excludes
the two shareholder nomination NEDs. The target is to achieve a Board where 40% of the members are
female and where there is at least 1 BAME member. The 3 Executive directors are all male and have only
been recruited relatively recently so a specific target date has not yet been set.

40

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

London CIV Board and Committees continued

Lord Kerslake

Mike O’Donnell

Jason Fletcher

Brian Lee

Alison Talbot

Kitty Ussher

Lord Kerslake is Chair of London CIV, Chair
of Peabody (the housing association), Chair
of the Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS),
a President of the Local Government
Association and Chair of Be First.

Mike O’Donnell is the Chief Executive
Officer of the London CIV which he joined
in March 2019. Mike has over 15 years’
experience as a local government finance
and corporate services director, having
spent 13 years at the London Borough of
Camden and, more latterly, undertaking
interim executive director roles at
Birmingham City Council and the London
Borough of Newham.

Jason Fletcher is the Chief Investment
Officer at the London CIV and joined in
July 2020. Jason has significant experience
in the LGPS sector; he has previous
experience as Chief Investment Officer
at LGPS Central and at West Midlands
Pension Fund prior to that, where he has
worked in partnership with a multitude of
pension funds.

Brian Lee is the Chief Operating Officer
of London CIV. Brian is a Chartered
Accountant and has been responsible
for the management and operation of
substantial investment management and
fiduciary services businesses including
the asset management division of a major
bank, a FTSE 250 wealth manager, and
a NYSE listed hedge fund and private
equity manager.

Alison Talbot has over 20 years’ experience
in senior roles in financial services with an
emphasis on asset management. Her most
recent C suite executive roles include Chief
Legal Officer of AEGON Asset Management
Europe/Kames Capital Plc and she is a
qualified solicitor. Her roles have included
a wide range of corporate governance,
fund structuring and merger and
acquisition activity. Her earlier career was
with Standard Life and Scottish Widows
and included the project leading to the
demutualisation and merger of Scottish
Widows and Lloyds TSB. She has been
Chair of the Executive Risk Committee
and Executive Legal and Financial Control
Meeting, and Member of the Board Audit
and Risk Committees for AEGON/Kames.
She has been active in AEGON/Kames
diversity and inclusion work. Alison Chairs
the Compliance, Audit and Risk Committee.

Kitty Ussher is an economist, former
Lambeth councillor and MP who served
as Economic Secretary to the Treasury
(City Minister) during the financial crisis of
2007-08. In parliament she was a member
of the Public Accounts Committee, the
2006 Companies Act and several Finance
Bill committees. She has also served
on the Financial Services Consumer
Panel of the FCA.

Cllr Ravi Govindia

Chris Bilsland

Ian Williams

Cllr Ravi Govindia has led Wandsworth
Council since 2011. He has specialised
in the fields of regeneration, housing,
finance and planning.

Chris is a non-executive director for
London CIV and NED Responsible
Investment Champion. His experience
with the LGPS dates back to 1991 when
as the Somerset County Treasurer he was
responsible for the Somerset Fund. He
previously served as the Chamberlain of
London where he was responsible for the
finances of an organisation with turnover
in excess of £500m p.a. and property and
investment assets of over £4bn.

Ian is the London Borough of Hackney’s
statutory Chief Finance Officer. His
directorate includes Customer Services,
Revenues – Council tax and Business rate
collection, Housing Benefits

Chair

A former Head of the Civil Service,
Lord Kerslake led the Department for
Communities and Local Government
(DCLG) from November 2010 and prior

Before joining the Civil Service Lord
Kerslake served in local government in
London and Sheffield. He was made a life
peer in 2015.

Eric Mackay

Non-Executive Director
Eric Mackay has over 20 years’ experience
in investment management, where he
has held a number of senior roles in
authorised firms. Eric spent fourteen
years at F&C Asset Management where he
was Chief Risk Officer and in 2013 joined
TT International. At TT Eric is the Chief
Operating Officer.
Eric has extensive experience providing
oversight and bringing appropriate
independent challenge within an
investment firm managing over £100bn
of assets. He also has a range of
other relevant experience, including
responsibility for the risk management
framework, legal, compliance and
operational functions.

Mike is a former President of the Society of
London Treasurers and a former Chair of
the London Finance Advisory Committee.
He is also a former NED and Chair of the
Audit and Risk Committee of the London
Pension Fund Authority.

Paul Niven

Non-Executive Director
Paul is Head of Multi-Asset Investment at
BMO Global Asset Management, which
manages in excess of £180bn. He has over
twenty years of investment experience
and is Fund Manager of the FTSE 250
listed F&C Investment Trust, one of the
largest Investment Trusts in the UK.
Paul has invested across a wide range of
traditional and alternative asset classes
and has experience across a number
of relevant areas including manager
and product selection, strategic and
tactical asset allocation as well as risk and
portfolio management. Paul Chairs the
Investment Oversight Committee.

Chief Investment Officer

His familiarity with the LGPS sector
complements 25 years of experience
in the financial services industry more
broadly, where he has previously
progressed at the Universities
Superannuation Scheme Investment
Management (USSIM), initially specialising
in Equities and succeeding as Co-Deputy
Chief Investment Officer.

Cllr Stephen Alambritis
Non-Executive Director

Cllr Stephen Alambritis was elected as
the Leader of the Council at the London
Borough of Merton in 2010 and reelected twice before stepping down
in October 2020. He is a former Board
member at the London Pensions Fund
Authority (until 30 September 2018) and
a former member of the Committee of
the Regions representing London Local
Government in Brussels. He was for many
years the voice of small firms as Head of
Public Affairs at the Federation of Small
Businesses from 1988 until 2010. He
was a member of the Better Regulation
Task Force at the Cabinet Office and
was a Commissioner at the Equality and
Human Rights Commission. In 2020
he was awarded a MDE for services to
local government.

Chief Operating Officer

Brian has deep experience in the set up
and operation of investment management
businesses and has been responsible for
the operation and compliance of collective
investment schemes under FSMA
2000 since 2005.

Non-Executive Director

He is co-chair of the Nine Elms Vauxhall
Partnership and played a key role in
securing the Northern Line extension to
Nine Elms, unlocking London’s biggest
regeneration programme.
Under his leadership, Wandsworth has
delivered record housing, the second
lowest council tax and pioneered a range
of innovative homeownership schemes. In
2017 he was awarded a CBE for services to
local government.

Non-Executive Director

Non-Executive Director

Chris has worked in both the public and
private sector. He has been an advisor to
the LGPS Scheme Advisory Board, was
President of CIPFA from 2011/2012 and
received the OBE in 2014 for his services
to local government finance. In 2016, Chris
was granted an Honorary Fellowship for
his services to music and drama.

Non-Executive Director

More recently, her expertise has
come from public policy research
consultancy, including as Chief Executive
of the think- tank Demos and Managing
Director of Tooley Street Research.
She is currently the Chief Economic
Advisor to Demos and a fintech firm
NED. Kitty Chairs the Remuneration and
Nomination Committee.

Treasurer Observer

and Needs, ICT, Strategic Property,
Procurement, & Contracts, Audit and
anti-fraud investigation. He is also the
lead officer for the £500m development
of the Britannia Site to include Leisure
and Education provision alongside 480
residential properties.
Ian is an active member of the Society of
London Treasurers and a member of the
London Finance Advisory Committee.

Page 150

to this was the first Chief Executive of the
Homes and Communities Agency. The
current Ministry for Homes, Communities
and Local Government (MHCLG) oversees
the statutory framework for pension asset
pooling within which London CIV operates.

Chief Executive Officer

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Corporate Governance

Business Review

Financial Statements

Pay and People
London CIV’s remuneration policy seeks to attract, recruit,
retain and motivate staff of the calibre necessary to achieve the
Company’s corporate objectives and long term strategic goals.
London CIV is a small company with 31 employed staff, well under the 250 staff threshold for statutory
reporting on gender pay ratios and some other pay reporting. However Executive Management and the
Board, in particular the Remuneration and Nomination Committee, are concerned to use this reporting
information as a tool to keep the company’s culture and working practices under review and also to respond
to stakeholder expectations about transparency of information.

London CIV Culture and values

Our culture and values can be
summed up as “working together
to secure a sustainable future”

Page 151

The NED fees paid are more in line with public sector rather than private sector financial services NED
fees. A fee review took place during the year and it was agreed to pay a small additional fee of £2,500 to
Committee Chairs whilst keeping the fee of £3,500 pa paid to the Shareholder Committee Chair at the same
level. It was agreed to review the fee paid to Chair in the context of reviewing the expectations of the role
when recruiting his successor. The fee agreed is £45,000 pa. Michael Green is paid a fee of £7,500 as a nonexecutive member of the IOC.
Remuneration is defined as the fee or salary received in the year.

Statutory Director pay/fees 2020/21
Name

Chair

£30,000

Chris Bilsland

NED, IOC Chair

£15,268

Eric Mackay

NED, CARCO and RemNomCo Chair

£15,000

Paul Niven

NED

£16,271

Linda Selman

NED (resigned 18 September 2020)

Cllr Stephen Alambritis

NED

£15,000

Cllr Ravi Govindia

NED

£15,000

Mike O’Donnell

CEO

£246,600

Brian Lee

COO

£182,758

Jason Fletcher

CIO (appointed 23 July 2020)

£167,475

Kitty Ussher

NED (appointed 21 September 2020)

Alison Talbot

NED (appointed 21 September 2020)

Kevin Corrigan

Paid through a third party as interim CIO

Note 1: resigned 30 June 2020

£7,500

We aim to be reliable, to deliver
on our promises and to reset
expectations when we face
challenges on our deliverables.
We encourage an open and
equitable partnership with all of
our stakeholders.

Responsiblilty:
We are committed to developing
funds with clients that improve
outcomes and add value, helping
protect the future for a world
worth retiring in.

£8,750

Transparency:

£8,750

We share information,
communicating effectively
between teams and with
stakeholders, whilst also
respecting confidentiality.

See note under Role

Integrity:

UST
TR

INTE
GR
IT

Collaboration
Working
together
with
for a sustainable
Client
Funds
future
AN

SP

AR

ENCY

We always strive to have the
highest professional standards
and act on behalf of our clients.
We are also all honest about
where we can improve and are
open to constructive challenge.

DIV

E

I
RS

AGILITY

Lord Kerslake (Chair)

Trust:

Y

Remuneration

TR

Role

ONSIBILITY
RESP

41

Agility:
We work flexibly as one team,
so that the end service provided
to Client Funds is as seamless as
possible.

TY
Diversity:
We respect and celebrate our
differences and recognise this
makes our organisation stronger.

42

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Corporate Governance

Business Review

Overview

Financial Statements

Pay and People continued

Diversity and Inclusion

CEO Pay and Pay Ratios

45% of employees are female and 19% of employees are BAME. 42% of staff at “Heads of” and above are
female against a target of 40% and 9% of staff at “Heads of” and above are BAME against a target of 8%. All
61% figures are at 31 March 2021 and given the small permanent staff numbers, 31 in total not including interim
staff/consultants, one individual can impact significantly on percentages

Mike O’Donnell received a salary of £246,600 in the year. The hourly pay ratio between the CEO and the

The Board has agreed a Diversity and Inclusion Policy which includes targets for the composition of the
Board and senior staff defined as “Head of” and above which are based on the recommendations of the
Hampton—Alexander and Parker reviews. The Board agreed in March 2021 that the calculation for the
Board should exclude the two shareholder nominated NEDs. Of the 9 members of the Board excluding the
39% 2 shareholder nominated NEDs 22% of the Board overall are female against a target of 40% and 33% of the
other NEDs are female. Currently none of the 9 Board members are BAME against a target of at least 1 (the
Parker review target).

London CIVs gender pay report is based on the 31 permanent staff employed as at 31 March 2021 and does

lowest paid employee based on permanent staff numbers is 7:1.

Gender pay ratio analysis
not include interims and consultants. Based on such a small cohort, one individual can significantly impact
the gender pay ratios so that caution is required in interpreting the data.
The analysis is based on hourly earnings by gender and indicates that for every £1 the median man earns,
the median woman earns £0.74 across a workforce of 31 permanent staff, 45% of which are female.

ed

the year a Culture and Values staff group developed the new organisational culture and values
statement which was agreed by the Board in March 2021. This underlines our commitment to work together
Not disclosed
for a sustainable future and our commitment to diversity and inclusion. In June 2021 London CIV became a
corporate member of the Diversity Project.

31

attract, motivate and retain a diverse workforce, providing as many development and progression
opportunities as possible within the constraints of a very small and specialist team.

Total staff (as at 31 March 2021)

55%
55%

Gender

55%19%
19%

London LGPS CIV Limited Hourly Earnings by Gender

19%

100100

8 100
8

80 80

80
25%
25%

60 60

60

78 8

25%
43%
43%

25%
25%
43%

45%

88 8

81%
81%

8

For every £1 the median
man earns, the median
woman earns

25%

88%
88%

88%

40

75%
75%
100%

87 7

Diversity
40 40

45%
45%

81%
20 20

20

0 0

0

75%
57%
57%

75%
75%
57%

75%

12%
12%

12%

Upper
Upper
Income
Income Upper
Upper
Upper
Income
Middle
Middle Upper
Lower
Lower
Middle
Middle
Middle Lower
Lower
Lower
Middle
Income
Income Lower Income
Quarter
Quarter
Income
Quarter
Income
Quarter
Quarter
Income
Income
Income
Quarter
Quarter
Quarter
Income
Quarter
Quarter
Quarter
Quarter
Male
Male

Female
Female
Male

Female

White
White

Page 152

The key challenge for London CIV is to make sure that the organisational culture and working arrangements

el
Board-level
rsity
y Female Diversity
During

BAME
BAME
White

BAME

Male
Male

Female
Female
Male

Total
Total
Female
staff
staff

Total staff

Gender
Gender
paypay
gapgap
shown
shown
is based
is based
onshown
on
median
median
hourly
earnings
earnings
byhourly
gender
by gender
Gender
pay
gap
is hourly
based
on
median
earnings by gender

£0.74

Percentage of employees
are women

45%

43

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Business Review

Overview

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Glossary

Definition

ACS – Authorised
Contractual
Scheme

An Authorised Contractual Scheme (ACS) is a UK authorised, tax transparent
fund structure, which provides a flexible alternative to open ended investment
companies and authorised unit trusts.

AIF – Alternative
Investment Fund

An alternative investment fund (AIF) is a collective investment in so-called ‘nonstandard’ tangible and non-tangible assets whereby investors’ capital is pooled,
and the returns are also pooled.

AIFM – Alternative
Investment
Fund Manager

An AIFM is defined as an entity that provides, at a minimum, portfolio
management and risk management services to one or more AIFs as its regular
business irrespective of where the AIFs are located or what legal form the AIFM
takes.

AIFMD –
Alternative
Investment Fund
Managers Directive

Directive reference 2011/61/EU

AUM – Assets
Under
Management

Assets under management (AUM) is the total market value of the investments that
the Company manages on behalf of client funds.

CARCO –
Compliance,
Audit, and Risk
Committee

CARCO oversees London CIV’s activity in respect of compliance, audit and risk.

CTI – Cost
Transparency
Initiative

The CTI is a new industry standard for institutional investment cost data designed
to provide transparent information on costs and charges and help investors decide
whether investments represent value for money. The CTI Board partners are

The Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive (AIFMD) is a regulatory
framework for alternative investment fund managers (AIFMs), including managers
of hedge funds, private equity firms and investment trusts.

the LGPS Scheme Advisory Board, Pension and Lifetime Savings Association (PLSA)
and Investment Association
CTWG – and a
Cost Transparency
Working Group

The role of the Working Group (CTWG) is to ensure that there is full transparency
and understanding between London CIV and its client funds about the calculation
of cost savings and benefits that London CIV is delivering.

Climate Action100+ An investor initiative to drive corporate action on climate change. Over 400
investors with >$35 trillion in assets under management (“AUM”) are engaging 100
systemically important emitters (accounting for two thirds of global emissions) on
improving governance, curbing emissions and strengthening disclosures.

Acronyms and
Terms

Definition

DFC – Development The DFC and service charge together comprise the London CIV’s fixed income
Funding Charge
stream and are paid by all shareholders contributing to the core costs of the
company. When introduced the intention was that the DFC would be a short to
medium term measure until management fee income had risen sufficiently to
contribute to core costs.
Diversity Project

The Diversity Project is a cross-company initiative championing a more inclusive
culture within the Savings and Investment profession.

ESG –
Environmental,
Social and
Governance

ESG Environment, Social and Governance are issues that are identified or assessed
in responsible investment processes. Environmental factors are issues relating
to the quality and functioning of the natural environment and natural systems.
Social factors are issues relating to the rights, well-being and interests of people
and communities. Governance factors are issues relating to the governance of
companies and other investee entities.

EUUT – Exempt
Unauthorised Unit
Trust

An unauthorised unit trust (UUT) is any unit trust which has not been authorised
under Section 243 of the Financial Services and Markets Act (FSMA) 2000 by the
Financial Services Authority and, a UUT can qualify as an exempt unauthorised
unit trust (EUUT) if: the trustees are UK resident, the investors are exempt from
capital gains tax or corporation tax on chargeable gains (for reasons other than
residency) and, approved by HMRC.

FCA – Financial
Conduct Authority

The conduct regulator for 59,000 financial services firms and financial markets in
the UK and the prudential supervisor for 49,000 firms, setting specific standards
for 19,000 firms.

IOC – Investment
Oversight
Committee

The Investment Oversight Committee (IOC) oversees the investment activity of
London CIV in line with the Company’s strategy and business plan, including
responsible investment.

LAPFF – Local
Authority Pension
Fund Forum

The Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) is a voluntary association
of public sector pension funds based in the UK. LAPFF exists to promote the
investment interests of local authority pension funds, and to maximise their
influence as shareholders in promoting corporate social responsibility and high
standards of corporate governance among the companies in which they invest.

MHCLG – Ministry
for Housing Local
Government and
Communities

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government’s (formerly the
Department for Communities and Local Government) job is to create great places
to live and work, and to give more power to local people to shape what happens in
their area. (source: MHCLG website).

Page 153

Acronyms and
Terms

44

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Business Review

Overview

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Glossary continued

Acronyms and
Terms

Definition
A financial strategy which outlines investment and other financial goals within an
annual and 5-year timescale.

NED – NonExecutive Director

A non-executive director is a member of London CIV’s board who is not a member
of the executive team and not involved in the day-to-day management of the
com-pany. They are involved in strategic direction, governance, setting the
company’s risk appetite, and monitoring corporate and financial performance.
They are expected to provide challenge and act in the interests of the Company’s
stakeholders.

Pensions for
Purpose

Pensions for Purpose is a collaborative initiative of impactmanagers, pension
funds, social enterprises and others involved or interested in impact investment.
Its aim is to promote understanding of impact investment by effectively sharing
news stories, blogs, case studies, academic research and thought leadership
papers.

QIR – Quarterly
Investment Report

A report sent to all London CIV Client Funds detailing the financial and ESG
performance of London CIV funds on a quarterly basis.

RemNomCo –
Remuneration
and Nomination
Committee

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee are responsible for London CIV’s
remuneration policy, remuneration of key staff and, nominations and succes-sion
planning for key staff and the board.

RIRG – Responsible
Investment
Reference Group

RIRG is a forum which supports the Executive and IOC in developing and coordinating London CIV and Client Funds’ approach to stewardship, responsible
in-vestment and ESG.

RMF – Risk
Management
Framework

The Risk Management Framework is used to identify threats to London CIV and
outlines the process for mitigating those risks. The RMF is embedded in the
Company’s overall business strategy, operational policies, and practises.

SAB – Scheme
Advisory Board

The Local Government Pension Scheme Advisory Board is a body set up under
Section 7 of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 and The Local Government Pension
Scheme Regulations 110-113. The purpose of the Board is to be both reactive
and proactive. It will seek to encourage best practice, increase transparency, and
coordinate technical and standards issues in respect of the LGPS.

SM&CR –
FCA’s Senior
Management
& Certification
Regime

Definition
The Senior Managers and Certification Regime (SM&CR) replaced the Approved
Persons Regime (APR) for solo-regulated firms from 9 December 2019. The regime
aims to reduce harm to consumers and strengthen market integrity. It sets a new
standard of personal conduct for everyone working in financial services.

SMF – Senior
Senior Management Functions (SMFs) are a type of controlled function under
Manager Functions FSMA. They are prescribed in the Handbook and apply to UK-authorised firms and
EEA Branches.

TCFD – Financial
Stability Board’s
Task Force on
Climate Related
Financial
Disclosures (“TCFD”)

TCFD was established with the goal of developing a set of voluntary climaterelated financial risk disclosures which can be adopted by companies so that those
companies can inform investors and other members of the public about the risks
they face related to climate change.

UK Stewardship
Code 2020

The Code sets stewardship standards for asset owners and asset managers, and
for service providers that support them. The Code comprises a set of ‘apply and
explain’ principles for asset managers and asset owners, and a separate set of
principles for service providers.

UNPRI – the UN
Principles for
Responsible
Investment

A set of six principles that provide a global standard for responsible investing as it
relates to environmental, social and corporate governance factors. Organisations
follow these principles to meet commitments to beneficiaries while aligning
investment activities with the broader interests of society.

UN SDGs – UN
Sustainable
Development
Goals.

These include the SDG targets and indicators, thresholds set by the UNFCCC 2015
Paris Agreement, expectations set out in the Universal Declaration of Human
Rights, and other environmental, social, governance, and development objectives
established by political or socio-economic institutions.

Page 154

MTFS – Medium
Term Financial
Strategy

Acronyms and
Terms

45

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Page 155

Financial
Statements
This section is the audited Financial
Statements for London LGPS CIV
Limited approved by the Board of
London CIV on 29 June 2021.
Wandsworth Common

46

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

for the year ended 31 March 2021

Company registration number : 09136445
Authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority No. 710618

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Contents
47

Directors’ Report

49

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of
London LGPS CIV Limited

52

Statement of Comprehensive Income

52

Balance Sheet

53

Statement of Changes in Equity

53

Notes to the Financial Statements

62

Company and Investment Managers’ information

Page 156

London LGPS CIV Limited
Annual Report and
Financial Statements

Overview

47

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Directors’ Report

For the year ended 31 March 2021
Pension scheme

The directors present their annual report and the audited
financial statements of London LGPS CIV Limited (the
“Company”) for the year ended 31 March 2021.
Directors
The directors who served during the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements,
unless otherwise stated, were:
C N Bilsland
Lord R W Kerslake
B M Lee
E G Mackay
L M Selman (resigned 18 September 2020)
P G Niven
Cllr S S Alambritis

Cllr R P Govindia
M F O’Donnell
K F Corrigan (resigned 30 June 2020)
J C Fletcher (appointed 23 July 2020)
A J Talbot (appointed 21 September 2020)
K Ussher (appointed 21 September 2020)

Board Attendance
The list below shows the attendance at board meetings by board directors during the year. There were
5 formal Board meetings held during the course of the financial year ending 31 March 2021.
Director

Meetings

Lord Robert Kerslake (Chair)

5/5

Christopher Bilsland

5/5

Eric Mackay

5/5

Paul Niven

5/5

Linda Selman

1/2

Brian Lee

5/5

Cllr Stephen Alambritis

5/5

Cllr Ravindra Govindia

4/5

Michael O'Donnell

5/5

Kevin Corrigan

2/2

Kitty Ussher

3/3

Alison Talbot

3/3

Jason Fletcher

3/3

COVID-19 Update
Since the emergence of COVID-19 last year, the Company has continued with home working for all
staff and is following UK Government advice on how to operate safely with the health and welfare of
staff, investors and business outsource partners remaining paramount. The Company continues to
monitor the impact of COVID-19 on its business.

Going concern and COVID-19
The Directors have reviewed the financial results for the year ended 31 March 2021, and the annual
budget for the year to March 2022 which covers income and expenses, regulatory capital and the
cashflow requirements of the business. The Directors are of the opinion that the Company has
sufficient financial resources to meet its ongoing obligations as they fall due over the next 12 months
from the date of signing the financial statements. Accordingly the Directors believe it is reasonable for
the Company to continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements for a
period of at least 12 months from date of signing the financial statements.

Page 157

The Company participates, as an Admitted Body, in the City of London Corporation Pension Fund (the
‘Fund’) which operates a defined benefit pension scheme. The funding of the scheme by the Company
is determined by the actuary to the Fund. The Company is obliged to account for its participation in
the Fund under FRS 102 which is a different basis of calculation compared to the actuarial funding
rate. As at 31 March 2021, the actuary has reported an FRS 102 pension deficit of £1,567,000
(2020: £1,243,000). The Company also continues to arrange for agreements to be put in place with
its shareholders so that future pension contributions by the Company to the Fund are separately
reimbursed by its shareholders. These agreements enable a reimbursement asset on the Company’s
Balance Sheet. As at 31 March 2021, allowing only for the fair value of those recharge agreements
confirmed by individual shareholders to that date, this reimbursement asset was £817,000 (2020:
£1,206,795). After the Balance Sheet date, a further agreement was received from shareholders
which would be included in the financial statements for year ending 31 March 2022. If this agreement
was received before 31 March 2021, the pension reimbursement asset would have increased by an
additional £30,000. The Company agreed to close its defined benefit scheme to new entrants with
effect from the 1 June 2020. The Company continues to offer pension provision for eligible staff
through defined contribution arrangements.

48

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Directors’ Report continued

Brexit

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006.

In preparing for the UK’s departure from the European Union on 31 December 2020, London CIV has
been monitoring the potential impact on its business. Her Majesty’s Treasury (HMT) implemented a
number of statutory instruments (SIs) under the EU (Withdrawal) Act to ensure that common rules
continue to apply to the financial services industry during the implementation period (29 March 2019
through 31 December 2020) and beyond. The SIs have brought into UK law the requirements set out
in key European Directives and Regulations such as AIFMD and MIFID. The Company continues to
comply with all relevant requirements.

Disclosure of information to auditor

Variation of Permissions

Each of the persons who are directors at the time when this Directors’ Report is approved has
confirmed that:

Directors’ responsibilities statement
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulation.
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that
law the directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 “The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” Section 1A, and applicable law). Under
company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company
for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to:
•	select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
•	make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
•	state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 Section 1A,
have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements; and
•	prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the Company will continue in business.

•	so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor
is unaware; and
•	the director has taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a director in order to be aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that
information.

Independent auditor
Under section 487(2) of the Companies Act 2006, Deloitte LLP will be deemed to have been
reappointed as auditor 28 days after these financial statements were sent to members or 28 days
after the latest date prescribed for filing the financial statements with the registrar, whichever is earlier.

Small companies exemption
In preparing this report, the directors have taken advantage of the small companies exemptions
provided by section 415A of the Companies Act 2006.
This report was approved by the board and signed on its behalf by:

M F O’Donnell, Director
Date: 29 June 2021

Page 158

Following shareholder agreement to extend its range of regulated activities, the Company has filed
an application with the FCA to vary its regulatory permissions and we are currently working through
FCA questions on the application. As detailed in note 12 to the financial statements, the share capital
of the Company has been classified under FRS102 as a financial liability rather than equity capital as
a shareholder of the A and B shares could, in certain limited circumstances, request its shares to be
redeemed or repurchased. As a consequence, we are discussing the implications of the share capital
classification with the FCA.

The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

49

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Independent Auditor’s Report

to the members of London LGPS CIV Limited
Report on the audit of the financial statements

Conclusions relating to going concern

Opinion

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

In our opinion the financial statements of London LGPS CIV Limited (the ‘Company’):
•	give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 March 2021 and of its profit
for the year then ended;
•	have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in
the UK and Republic of Ireland”; and
•	have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

• the Balance Sheet;
• the Statement of Changes in Equity; and
• the related notes 1 to 19.
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and
United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are
described in the relevant sections of this report.

Other information
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other
information contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not
cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives
rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK))
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’)
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Responsibilities of directors

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or
to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Page 159

• the Statement of Comprehensive Income;

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial
statements are authorised for issue.

50

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Independent Auditor’s Report continued

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Accuracy of asset management fee

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.

There is an inherent risk of fraud that the asset management fee earned by the Company may not be
accurately calculated based on the key inputs to its calculation.
We have performed the following procedures to address this fraud risk:
•	evaluated the design and implementation of key controls covering the calculation and approval of
the management fee; and
• for a sample of asset management fees, we have:
(i)	recalculated the asset management fee amounts using the terms in the relevant Asset
Management Agreements;

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud

(ii) validated Asset Under Management used in the asset management fee computation; and

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in
respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.
We considered the nature of the Company’s industry and its control environment, and reviewed the
Company’s documentation of their policies and procedures relating to fraud and compliance with laws
and regulations. We also enquired of management about their own identification and assessment of
the risks of irregularities.
We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the Company operates in,
and identified the key laws and regulations that:
•	had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. These included the Companies Act 2006 and relevant tax and pensions laws and
regulations; and
•	do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be
fundamental to the Company’s ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty. These include the
Company’s regulatory solvency requirements, requirements of the Financial Conduct Authority
(“FCA”) and the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.
We discussed among the audit engagement team including internal pension specialists regarding the
opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and how and where fraud
might occur in the financial statements.
As a result of performing the above, we identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following
areas, and our specific procedures performed to address them are described below:

(iii) agreed asset management fee amounts invoiced to subsequent cash receipts.
In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to
respond to the risk of management override. In addressing the risk of fraud through management
override of controls, we tested the appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessed
whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and
evaluated the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal
course of business.
In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following:
•	reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing to supporting documentation to assess
compliance with provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on
the financial statements;
•	performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may
indicate risks of material misstatement due to fraud;
•	enquiring of management and external legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation and
claims, and instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations; and
•	reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, and reviewing correspondence with
Financial Conduct Authority.

Page 160

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

51

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Independent Auditor’s Report continued

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
•	the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
• the Directors’ Report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the
course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the Directors’ Report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

•	adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or
• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
•	the directors were not entitled to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the small
companies regime and take advantage of the small companies’ exemptions in preparing the
directors’ report and from the requirement to prepare a strategic report; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part
16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Michael Caullay CA (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor
Glasgow
Date: 29 June 2021

Page 161

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our
opinion:

Use of our report

52

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 March 2021

as at 31 March 2021

2020
£

Turnover

6,334,893

5,363,844

Fixed assets

Administrative expenses

(6,499,562)

(6,044,606)

Tangible assets

897,300

-

Operating profit/(loss)

732,631

(680,762)

Interest receivable and similar income

125,620

104,731

Interest payable and similar expenses

(115,818)

(117,557)

Profit/(loss) before taxation

742,433

(693,588)

(173,374)

185,257

569,059

(508,331)

Other operating income

Tax on profit/(loss)

6

7

Other comprehensive (expense)/income for the
financial year
Actuarial (losses)/gains on defined benefit pension scheme

(166,000)

671,000

Remeasurement of pension reimbursement asset

(418,155)

-

Deferred tax

-

108,110

Other comprehensive (expense)/income for the
financial year

(584,155)

779,110

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the
financial year

(15,096)

270,779

The above results were derived wholly from continuing operations.
The notes on pages 53 to 61 form part of these financial statements.

Registered Number: 09136445

Note

2021
£

8

47,901

2020
£
98,250

Current assets
Debtors: amounts falling due after more
than one year

9

914,962

1,237,292

Debtors: amounts falling due within one
year

9

1,365,542

1,194,853

10

5,310,668

4,753,984

7,591,172

7,186,129

Cash at bank and in hand
Creditors: amounts falling due within one
year

11

(870,799)

(824,766)

Net current assets

6,720,373

6,361,363

Total assets less current liabilities

6,768,274

6,459,613

(4,950,033)

(4,950,033)

Creditors: amounts falling due after more
than one year

12

Deferred tax

13

-

(243)

Provision for liabilities
Pension liability
Net assets

14

(1,567,000)
251,241

(1,243,000)
266,337

Capital and reserves
-

-

Other reserves

817,000

1,206,795

Profit and loss account

(565,759)

(940,458)

Total shareholders' funds

251,241

266,337

Called up share capital

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions applicable to companies
subject to the small companies regime and in accordance with the provisions of FRS 102 Section 1A small entities.
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its
behalf by:
M F O’Donnell, Director
Date: 29 June 2021
The notes on pages pages 53 to 61 form part of these financial statements.

Page 162

Profit/(loss) for the financial year

Financial Statements

Corporate Governance

Balance sheet

2021
£

Note

Business Review

53

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Statement of changes in equity

At 1 April 2019

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2021

Pension
Called up
share reimbursement
reserve
capital
£
£

Business Review

for the year ended 31 March 2021

Total
Profit and shareholders’
funds
loss account
£
£

1. General information
London LGPS CIV Limited (the “Company”) is a private company limited by shares and is incorporated
and domiciled in England and Wales. The address of its registered office is 4th Floor, 22 Lavington
Street, London, SE1 0NZ and Registered Number: 09136445. Authorised and regulated by the
Financial Conduct Authority No. 710618.

-

954,079

(981,946)

(27,867)

Loss for the financial year

-

-

(508,331)

(508,331)

Actuarial losses on pension scheme
Deferred tax

-

-

671,000

671,000

2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements

Actuarial losses on pension scheme

-

-

108,110

108,110

Other comprehensive income for the
financial year

-

-

779,110

779,110

Total comprehensive income for the
financial year

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost
convention except as outlined in the accounting policies below and in accordance with Section 1A
of Financial Reporting Standard 102, the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and the
Republic of Ireland and the Companies Act 2006.

-

-

270,779

270,779

Pension reimbursement asset reserve

-

252,716

-

252,716

Deferred tax

-

-

(229,291)

(229,291)

Total transactions with owners

-

252,716

(229,291)

23,425

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020

-

1,206,795

(940,458)

266,337

Comprehensive expense for the
financial year

Comprehensive income for the
financial year
Profit for the financial year Actuarial gains
on pension scheme

-

-

569,059

569,059

Remeasurement of Pension
reimbursement asset

-

-

(166,000)

(166,000)

Deferred tax

-

(418,155)

-

(418,155)

Other comprehensive expense for the
financial year

-

(418,155)

(166,000)

(584,155)

Transfer to Pension reimbursement asset
reserve

-

28,360

(28,360)

-

At 31 March 2021

-

817,000

(565,759)

251,241

The notes on pages 53 to 61 form part of these financial statements.

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with FRS 102 requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgement in applying the Company’s
accounting policies (see note 3).
The Company’s functional and presentational currency is GBP.
The following principal accounting policies have been applied consistently throughout the year:

2.2 Going concern
The Company continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its financial statements.
Further to note 12, the share capital of the Company is treated as debt in consideration of the, at
least 12 month redeemable option attached to A and B Ordinary Shares. When considering this share
capital as available capital, the Directors believe the Company has sufficient resources to enable it to
continue its activities in the future.
The Directors have also prepared an annual business plan which shows for a period of at least 12
months from the date of signing the financial statements the Company has sufficient resources to
meet its liabilities as they fall due.
The Company’s response to COVID-19, together with the factors likely to affect its future development,
performance and position, are reflected in the Directors’ Report on page 47 .
As set out in the Directors’ Report, maintaining sufficient regulatory capital to withstand market
pressures remain central to the Company’s strategy. The directors believe it is reasonable for the
Company to continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements for a
period of at least 12 months from date of signing the financial statements.

Page 163

Contributions by and distributions to
owners

2. Accounting policies

54

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

2. Accounting policies continued

2.6 Cash and cash equivalents

2.3 Turnover

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty
on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments that mature in
no more than three months from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

Turnover is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Company and the revenue can be reliably measured. Turnover is measured as the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, excluding discounts, rebates, value added tax and other sales taxes.
Service charges and development funding charge are billed annually in advance and recognised over the
year to which they relate.

2.7 Creditors
Short term creditors are measured at the transaction price.

2.8 Financial liabilities

2.4 Tangible assets

Financial liabilities and equity are classified according to the substance of the financial instrument’s
contractual obligations, rather than the financial instrument’s legal form.

Tangible assets under the cost model are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management.
Depreciation is charged so as to allocate the cost of assets less their residual value over their
estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives range as follows:
Leasehold improvements
Fixtures and fittings
Computer equipment

3 years
3 years
3 years

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted prospectively
if appropriate, or if there is an indication of a significant change since the last reporting date.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

2.5 Debtors
Short term debtors are measured at transaction price, less any impairment. Other Debtors represent
set-up costs directly attributable to the funds of the London LGPS CIV Authorised Contractual Scheme
and the London LGPS Exempt Unauthorised Unit Trust. The costs are typically recovered over 2 years
following the launch of the fund.
The debtors balances also includes pension reimbursement asset, see note 2.13 of the pension
reimbursement asset valuation.

2.9 Financial instruments
The Company only enters into basic financial instrument transactions that result in the recognition of
financial assets and liabilities like trade and other debtors and creditors, loans from banks and other
third parties, loans to related parties and investments in ordinary shares.
Debt instruments (other than those wholly repayable or receivable within one year), including loans
and other accounts receivable and payable, are initially measured at present value of the future cash
flows and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Debt instruments that
are payable or receivable within one year, typically trade debtors and creditors, are measured, initially
and subsequently, at the undiscounted amount of the cash or other consideration expected to be
paid or received. However, if the arrangements of a short-term instrument constitute a financing
transaction, like the payment of a trade debt deferred beyond normal business terms or in case of an
out-right short-term loan that is not at market rate, the financial asset or liability is measured, initially
at the present value of future cash flows discounted at a market rate of interest for a similar debt
instrument and subsequently at amortised cost.
Financial assets that are measured at cost and amortised cost are assessed at the end of each
reporting period for objective evidence of impairment. If objective evidence of impairment is found, an
impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
For financial assets measured at amortised cost, the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between an asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated cash flows discounted at the
asset’s original effective interest rate. If a financial asset has a variable interest rate, the discount rate
for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract.
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Balance Sheet when there
is an enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Page 164

Asset management fees are ad valorem fees calculated daily and invoiced monthly in arrears.

55

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

2. Accounting policies continued
2.10 Finance costs
Finance costs are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income over the term of the debt using
the effective interest method so that the amount charged is at a constant rate on the carrying amount.
Issue costs are initially recognised as a reduction in the proceeds of the associated capital instrument.

2.11 Operating leases
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a
straight line basis over the lease term.

2.12 Leased assets: the Company as lessor

A finance lease gives rise to two types of income: profit or loss equivalent to the profit or loss resulting
from outright sale of the asset being leased, at normal selling prices, reflecting any applicable
discounts, and finance income over the lease term.

2.13 Pensions
Defined benefit pension plan
The Company participates in a defined benefit plan operated by the City of London Corporation. A
defined benefit plan defines the pension benefit that the employee will receive on retirement, usually
dependent upon several factors including but not limited to age, length of service and remuneration.

a)		 the increase in net pension benefit liability arising from employee service during the period; and
b)		 the cost of plan introductions, benefit changes, curtailments and settlements.
The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined benefit
obligation and the fair value of plan assets. This cost is recognised in profit or loss as a ‘finance expense’.

Pension reimbursement asset and reserve
The Company continues to arrange recharge agreements with its shareholders to provide for them to
separately reimburse future pension contributions by the Company to the defined benefit plan. The
pension reimbursement asset recognised on the Balance Sheet is in respect of recharge agreements
signed as at 31 March 2021 and guarantee agreement dated 28 May 2020 which guarantees the
future contribution reimbursements relating to the cost of future accruals of benefits if the assets of
the pension plan are not sufficient.
Given the signing of the guarantee agreement dated 28 May 2020 and the closure of the Fund to new
members, the Company has revised its approach to valuing the reimbursement asset since the prior year.
This now discounts future contribution streams for 30 years under a number of different pension asset
return scenarios and averages them to give a fair value for the reimbursement asset as at 31 March 2021.
The surplus arising from the recognition of this asset is held in a separate ‘Pension reimbursement
reserve’ to make it clearly identifiable and separable from reserves arising on from the operations of
the Company.
Any changes arising from the remeasurement of the asset are recognised in Other Comprehensive Income.

2.14 Interest income

The liability recognised in the Balance Sheet in respect of the defined benefit plan is the estimated
present value of the Company’s share of the estimated defined benefit obligation at the Balance Sheet
date less the Company’s share of the fair value of plan assets at the Balance Sheet date out of which
the obligations are to be met.

Interest income is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income using the effective interest
method.

The defined benefit obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method. Annually the
Company engages independent actuaries to estimate the defined benefit obligation.

Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Company a legal or constructive
obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefit, and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The fair value of plan assets and liabilities are measured in accordance with the FRS 102 fair value
hierarchy and in accordance with the Company’s policy for similarly held assets. This includes the use
of appropriate valuation techniques.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions
are charged or credited to other comprehensive income.

2.15 Provisions for liabilities

Provisions are charged as an expense to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year that the
Company becomes aware of the obligation, and are measured at the best estimate at the Balance Sheet date
of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into account relevant risks and uncertainties.
When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance Sheet.

Page 165

Where assets leased to a third party give rights approximating to ownership (finance lease), the lessor
recognises as a receivable an amount equal to the net investment in the lease i.e. the minimum
lease payments receivable under the lease discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. This
receivable is reduced as the lessee makes capital payments over the term of the lease.

The cost of the defined benefit plan, recognised in profit or loss as employee costs, except where
included in the cost of an asset, comprises:

56

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

2. Accounting policies continued

4. Auditor’s remuneration

2.16 Current and deferred taxation
The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income, except that a charge attributable to an item of income and expense recognised
as other comprehensive income or to an item recognised directly in equity is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the
Company’s annual financial statements

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the Balance Sheet date in the countries where the Company operates and
generates income.

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors in respect of:

•	The recognition of deferred tax assets is limited to the extent that it is probable that they will be recovered
against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits; and
•	Any deferred tax balances are reversed if and when all conditions for retaining associated tax allowances
have been met.
Deferred tax balances are not recognised in respect of permanent differences except in respect of business
combinations, when deferred tax is recognised on the differences between the fair values of assets acquired
and the future tax deductions available for them and the differences between the fair values of liabilities
acquired and the amount that will be assessed for tax. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and laws
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the Balance Sheet date.

3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation
uncertainty
The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires management to make judgements
and assumptions regarding the valuation of defined benefit post-employment obligations and Pension
reimbursement asset that affect the financial statements and related disclosures. The Company believes
that the estimates utilised in preparing the financial statements are reasonable, relevant and reliable. Actual
results could differ from these estimates.
During the year, the principle actuarial assumptions i.e discount rate and future salary increase used by the
Company were not as prescribed by the actuary. The management used its external expert to determine
these rates. The Management believes that the rates used are within a reasonable range.
The change in rates have reduced the pension liability by £0.7 million.
The Directors do not believe any accounting judgements or estimates have been applied to this set of
financial statements that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Other audit related services

2020
£

39,011

40,320

2021
£

2020
£

13,600

15,720

Other audit related services relate to the provision of a client assets report to the Financial Conduct
Authority.

Page 166

Deferred tax balances are recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not
reversed by the Balance Sheet date, except that:

2021
£

5. Employees
The average monthly number of employees, including directors, during the year was 41 (2020: 36).

6. Other operating income
Other operating income
VAT refund

2021
£

2020
£

19,300

-

878,000

-

897,300

-

Included within other operating income is an amount of £878,000. This amount is deemed to be the VAT
element recovered from the expenditure incurred by the Company for 4 years up to 31 December 2019.

57

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

7. Tax on profit/(loss)

8. Tangible assets
2021
£

2020
£

Current tax result on profit/(loss) for the financial year

173,617

(64,319)

Total current tax

173,617

(64,319)

Corporation tax

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of timing differences

-

(120,938)

(243)

-

Total deferred tax

(243)

(120,938)

173,374

(185,257)

Total tax

Fixtures and
fittings
£

Computer
Equipment
£

Total
£

8,879

121,538

175,068

Cost
At 1 April 2020
Additions

44,651
-

-

6,793

6,793

44,651

8,879

128,331

181,861

At 1 April 2020

20,896

2,764

53,158

76,818

Charge for the year

14,884

2,960

39,298

57,142

At 31 March 2021

35,780

5,724

92,456

133,960

At 31 March 2021
Accumulated depreciation

Factors affecting tax charge/(credit) for the year

Net book value

The tax assessed for the year is higher than (2020: lower than) the standard rate of corporation tax in
the UK of 19.00% (2020: 19.00%). The differences are explained below:

At 31 March 2021

8,871

3,155

35,875

47,901

At 31 March 2020

23,755

6,115

68,380

98,250

2021
£

2020
£

817,000

1,139,330

2021
£

2020
£

Profit/(loss) before taxation

742,433

(693,588)

Profit/(loss) before taxation multiplied by standard rate of corporation
tax in the UK of 19.00% (2020: 19.00%)

141,062

(131,782)

2,828

2,828

Effects of:
Expenses not deductible
Movement in unrecognised deferred tax
Total tax charge/(credit) for the financial year

29,484

(56,303)

173,374

(185,257)

Factors that may affect future tax charges
On 3 March 2021, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced that the main rate of corporation tax
in the United Kingdom will rise to 25% with effect from 1 April 2023 for companies earning annual
taxable profits in excess of £250,000. Companies earning annual taxable profits of £50,000 or less
will continue to pay corporation tax at 19% with a marginal rate adjustment for companies earning
annual taxable profits between the two levels. These changes had not been substantively enacted at
the Balance Sheet date and therefore no adjustment has been made to deferred taxation balances to
account for this change.

9. Debtors
Due after more than one year
Pension reimbursement asset

97,962

97,962

914,962

1,237,292

2021
£

2020
£

Trade debtors

379,839

177,267

Other debtors

163,680

69,886

-

67,465

822,023

638,615

-

177,301

Rent deposits*
*The deposit is not expected to mature until the end of the lease on 15/11/2021.

Due within one year

Pension reimbursement asset
Prepayments and accrued income
Other receivable
Tax recoverable

-

64,319

1,365,542

1,194,853

Page 167

Credited to profit or loss

Leasehold
improvements
£

58

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

10. Cash at bank and in hand
Cash at bank and in hand

13. Deferred taxation
2021
£

2020
£

5,310,668

4,753,984

11. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

At beginning of year

243

Credited to profit or loss

(243)

Trade creditors

49,969

162,680

Corporation tax

173,617

-

Taxation and social security

193,194

202,865

Other creditors

19,113

11,404

Other provision

-

202,301

434,906

245,516

870,799

824,766

At end of year

The deferred taxation balance is made up as follows:

Tax losses carried forward

2021
£

2020
£

4,950,033

4,950,033

The holders of B Ordinary Shares are not entitled to receive any dividends, distributions of capital or
vote at General Meetings of the Company.
Both A and B Ordinary Shares can be redeemed at par at the option of the shareholder(s) subject
to the provision of at least 12 months’ written notice and as such the issued share capital has been
treated as financial liability. Refer to “variation of permissions” paragraph on page 48 for further
information.

-

The £105,601 charged to other comprehensive income represents the deferred tax on the movement
in the pension reimbursement asset (£74,061) and the deferred tax movement on the pension liability
(£31,540). The reversal of £105,601 represents the derecognition of a deferred tax asset on the
pension liability such that there is no overall net deferred tax asset.

Accelerated capital allowances

12. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

(105,601)

Reversed from other comprehensive income

Short term timing differences - trading

2021
£

2020
£

7,416

14,154

-

(6,352)

(7,416)
-

(7,559)
243

As at year end, there is a potential residual deferred tax asset of £135,084 (2020: £Nil) relating to
defined benefit obligations. No deferred tax asset has been recognised as it is considered unlikely that
the Company would generate sufficient taxable profits in the future to utilise these amounts.

Page 168

2020
£

Share capital treated as debt

105,601

Charged to other comprehensive income
2021
£

Accruals and deferred income

2020
£

59

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Financial Statements

Corporate Governance

Notes to the financial statements continued

2021
£

2020
£

4,858,000

3,580,000

14. Pension commitments
The Company operates a Defined Benefit Pension Scheme which is now closed to new staff members joining.

Fair value of plan assets

The Company participates in the City of London Pension Fund (the “Fund”), part of the Local
Government Pension Scheme. This is a multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme with assets
held in a separately administered fund. The Fund provides retirement benefits on the basis of
members’ earnings over their careers. The Fund is administered by the City of London, which is
responsible for ensuring that the Fund is sufficiently funded to meet current and future obligations.
The Company has agreed a funding plan with the City of London, whereby contributions made by the
Company into the Fund are equal to 15% of active employees’ salary. Additional contributions may be
agreed with the City of London to reduce any funding deficit ascribed to the Company if necessary.

Present value of plan liabilities

(6,425,000)

(4,823,000)

Net pension scheme liability

(1,567,000)

(1,243,000)

To assess the FRS 102 liabilities at 31 March 2021, the actuary has based the value of the Company’s
liabilities calculated for the funding valuation as at 31 March 2019, allowing for benefits paid and
further benefits to accrue to members and for benefits established in respect of transfer values
received, using financial assumptions that comply with FRS 102. Membership data has been updated
to 31 March 2021 and this has been used to value the liabilities. Mortality projections have been
updated to use the Continuous Mortality Investigation (CMI) 2020 model. To calculate the Company’s
asset share as at 31 March 2021, the actuary has used the assets allocated to the employer at 31
March 2019 allowing for investment returns, contributions and transfers paid in, and estimated
benefits paid from, the Fund by and in respect of the employer and its employees. The difference is
shown on the Balance Sheet as a deficit in accordance with FRS 102.

2021
£

2020
£

3,000

3,000

Current service cost

314,000

504,000

Interest on obligation

115,000

117,000

Interest on assets

(88,000)

(81,000)

Total

344,000

543,000

Administration expenses

The total return on the fund assets for the year to 31 March 2021 are as follows:
2021
£

2020
£

88,000

81,000

Return on assets less interest

896,000

(178,000)

Total

984,000

(97,000)

2021
£

2020
£

4,823,000

4,717,000

Current service cost

314,000

504,000

Interest costs

115,000

117,000

Interest on assets

Reconciliation of fair value of plan liabilities were as follows:

Composition of plan assets:
2021
£

2020
£

2,920,000

2,132,000

25,000

60,000

564,000

443,000

Multi-asset fund

1,349,000

945,000

Total plan assets

4,858,000

3,580,000

Equities
Cash
Infrastructure

The return on the Funds (on a bid to bid basis) for the year ended 31 March 2021 is estimated to be
26.45% (2020: (3.0)%).

Opening defined benefit obligation

Contributions by scheme participants
Change in financial assumptions

95,000

113,000

1,193,000

(502,000)

Experience loss on defined benefit obligation

(79,000)

33,000

Change in demographic assumptions

(52,000)

(204,000)

Benefits paid, net of transfers in

16,000

45,000

6,425,000

4,823,000

Closing defined benefit obligation

Page 169

A comprehensive actuarial valuation of the Fund, using the projected unit credit method, was carried
out at 31 March 2019 by the Fund Actuary.

The amounts recognised in profit or loss are as follows:

60

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

14. Pension commitments continued

15. Pension reimbursement asset

Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets were as follows:

Opening fair value of scheme assets
Administrative expenses

2021
£

2020
£

3,580,000

3,082,000

(3,000)

(3,000)

88,000

81,000

896,000

(178,000)

-

176,000

186,000

264,000

Contributions by scheme participants

95,000

113,000

Benefits paid plus unfunded transfers in

16,000

45,000

4,858,000

3,580,000

Other actuarial gains
Contributions by employer

The Company has revised its approach to valuing the reimbursement asset since the prior year (see
note 2.13). The pension reimbursement asset is calculated over a period of 30 years (2020: 14 years),
and allows for the 27 (2020: 23) recharge agreements that were signed by 31 March 2021.

16. Commitments under operating leases
At 31 March the Company had future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases as follows:

Principal actuarial assumptions at the Balance Sheet date (expressed as weighted averages):
2021

2020

Discount rate

2.20%

2.35%

Future salary increases

3.60%

2.85%

Future pension increases

2.60%

1.85%

– for a male aged 65 now

21.6 years

21.8 years

– at 65 for a male aged 45 now

22.9 years

23.2 years

– for a female aged 65 now

24.3 years

24.4 years

– at 65 for a female member aged 45 now

25.7 years

25.8 years

Mortality rates

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

2021
£

2020
£

388,352

582,528

-

388,352

388,352

970,880

The current year lease expense is included in the administrative expenses.

17. Commitment under finance lease
At 31 March the Company had future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable finance leases
as follows:
2021
£

2020
£

Not later than 1 year

1,567

1,567

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

2,742

3,917

4,309

5,484

Page 170

Interest income on plan assets
Return on assets less interest

The Company is implementing agreements with its shareholders so that future pension payments to the
Fund are separately reimbursed by its shareholders. These agreements enable a reimbursement asset
to be established on its Balance Sheet. As at 31 March 2021, allowing only for the fair value of those
recharge agreements signed by individual shareholders as at 31 March 2021, this reimbursement asset,
which is shown separately from the pension deficit, was £817,000 (2020: £1,206,795).

61

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

18. Related party transactions
During the year, each of the 32 (2020: 32) shareholders paid an amount to London LGPS CIV Limited
which totaled £800,000 (2020: £800,000) for service charge fees and £2,720,000 (2020: £2,080,000) for
development funding charge. At the end of the year, £30,000 (2020: £Nil) of service charge fees and
£135,600 (2020: £26,000) of development funding charge remained outstanding and is included within
trade debtors.
During the year, the Company incurred charges of £Nil (2020: £2,214) from London Councils, a related
party by virtue of it being under the control of the members of this Company, for administration services
and accommodation fees. At the end of the year, £Nil (2020: £Nil) remained outstanding.

Page 171

19. Subsequent events
After the Balance Sheet date, a further agreement was received from shareholders which would be
included in the financial statements for year ending 31 March 2021. If this agreement was received before
31 March 2021, the pension reimbursement asset would have increased by an additional £30,000.

Merton

62

London CIV Annual Review 2020-2021

Overview

Business Review

Corporate Governance

Financial Statements

Company information

Investment Managers’ information

Directors

Aviva Investors Global Services
Limited

Local Pensions Partnership
Investments Ltd

PIMCO Europe Limited

St Helens

First Floor

1 Undershaft

1 Finsbury Avenue

London

London

London

EC3P 3DQ

EC2M 2PF

Baillie Gifford & Co
Calton Square

Longview Partners (Guernsey)
Limited

1 Greenside Row

Mill Court

Edinburgh

La Charroterie

EH1 3AN

St Peter Port

C N Bilsland
Lord R W Kerslake
B M Lee
E G Mackay
P G Niven
Cllr S S Alambritis
Cllr R P Govindia
M F O’Donnell
J C Fletcher
A J Talbot
K Ussher

K A Ingate

Registered number
09136445

Registered office

4th Floor
22 Lavington Street
London
SE1 0NZ

Business address
4th Floor
22 Lavington Street
London
SE1 0NZ

Independent auditor
Deloitte LLP
2 New Street Square
London
EC4A 3BZ

CQS (UK) LLP
1 Strand, Charing Cross

Guernsey
GY1 6JG

WC2N 5HR

Morgan Stanley Investment
Management Limited

EPOCH Investment Partners, Inc

Canary Wharf

London

25 Cabot Square

399 Park Avenue

London

31st Floor

E14 4QA

New York
NY 10022

JPMorgan Asset Management
(UK) Limited

Newton Investment Management
Ltd
BNY Mellon Centre
160 Queen Victoria Street

25 Bank Street

London

Canary Wharf

EC4V 4LA

London
E14 5JP

W1U 3AH

Pyrford International Limited
95 Wigmore St, Marylebone
London
W1U 1HH

RBC Global Asset Management
(UK) Limited
77 Grosvenor Street
London
W1K 3JR

Ruffer LLP

80 Victoria Street
London
SW1E 5JL

StepStone Group Real Assets LP
2 St James’s Market
St. James’s
London
SW1Y 4AH

Page 172

Company secretary

11 Baker Street

Page 173

London CIV Fourth Floor,
22 Lavington Street SE1 0NZ

londonciv.org.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Audit Strategy Memorandum

Page 175

Contents
Engagement and responsibilities summary

02

Your audit engagement team

03

Audit scope, approach and timeline

04

Significant risks and other key judgement areas

05

Fees for audit and other services

06

Our commitment to independence

07

Materiality and misstatements

Page 176

01

Appendix – Key communication points

This document is to be regarded as confidential to London Borough of Lambeth Pension Fund. It has been prepared for the sole use of the Corporate Committee as the appropriate sub-committee charged with governance. No
responsibility is accepted to any other person in respect of the whole or part of its contents. Our written consent must first be obtained before this document, or any part of it, is disclosed to a third party.

2

Corporate Committee
London Borough of Lambeth
Lambeth Town Hall
1 Brixton Hill
London
SW2 1RD

Mazars LLP
Tower Bridge House
St Katharine’s Way
London
E1W 1DD

23 September 2021
Dear Corporate Committee Members

Audit Strategy Memorandum – Year ending 31 March 2021

Page 177

We are pleased to present our Audit Strategy Memorandum for London Borough of Lambeth Pension Fund for the year ending 31 March 2021. The purpose of this document is to summarise our audit approach, highlight
significant audit risks and areas of key judgements and provide you with the details of our audit team. As it is a fundamental requirement that an auditor is, and is seen to be, independent of its clients, section 6 of this document
also summarises our considerations and conclusions on our independence as auditors. We consider two-way communication with you to be key to a successful audit and important in:
•

reaching a mutual understanding of the scope of the audit and the responsibilities of each of us;

•

sharing information to assist each of us to fulfil our respective responsibilities;

•

providing you with constructive observations arising from the audit process; and

•

ensuring that we, as external auditors, gain an understanding of your attitude and views in respect of the internal and external operational, financial, compliance and other risks facing London Borough of Lambeth Pension Fund
which may affect the audit, including the likelihood of those risks materialising and how they are monitored and managed.

With that in mind, we see this document, which has been prepared following our initial planning discussions with management, as being the basis for a discussion around our audit approach, any questions, concerns or input you
may have on our approach or role as auditor. This document also contains an appendix that outlines our key communications with you during the course of the audit,
Client service is extremely important to us and we strive to provide technical excellence with the highest level of service quality, together with continuous improvement to exceed your expectations so, if you have any concerns or
comments about this document or audit approach, please contact me on 07387 242052.
Yours faithfully

Lucy Nutley
Mazars LLP
Mazars LLP – Tower Bridge House, St Katharine’s Way, London, E1W 1DD
Tel: 020 7063 4000 – Fax: 020 7063 4001 – www.mazars.co.uk
Mazars LLP is the UK firm of Mazars, an integrated international advisory and accountancy organisation. Mazars LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC308299 and with its registered office at Tower Bridge House, St Katharine’s Way,
London E1W 1DD.
We are registered to carry on audit work in the UK by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Details about our audit registration can be viewed at www.auditregister.org.uk under reference number C001139861. VAT number: 839 8356 73

Section 01:
Engagement and
responsibilities summary
Page 178

1. Engagement and responsibilities summary
Overview of engagement
We are appointed to perform the external audit of London Borough of Lambeth Pension Fund (the Pension Fund) for the year to 31 March 2021. The scope of our engagement is set out in the Statement of Responsibilities of
Auditors and Audited Bodies, issued by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) available from the PSAA website: https://www.psaa.co.uk/managing-audit-quality/statement-of-responsibilities-of-auditors-and-auditedbodies/. Our responsibilities are principally derived from the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the 2014 Act) and the Code of Audit Practice issued by the National Audit Office (NAO), as outlined below.

Audit opinion
We are responsible for forming and expressing an opinion on the financial statements. Our
audit does not relieve management or the Corporate Committee as those charged with
governance, of their responsibilities.

We are required to form and express an opinion on the consistency of the financial
statements within the Pension Fund’s annual report and the Pension Fund’s financial
statements included in the Statement of Accounts of London Borough of Lambeth.

The responsibility for safeguarding assets and for the prevention and detection of fraud,
error and non-compliance with law or regulations rests with both those charged with
governance and management. This includes establishing and maintaining internal controls
over reliability of financial reporting.
As part of our audit procedures in relation to fraud we are required to enquire of those
charged with governance, including key management as to their knowledge of instances of
fraud, the risk of fraud and their views on internal controls that mitigate the fraud risks. In
accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK), we plan and perform our audit so
as to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements taken as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. However our audit should not
be relied upon to identify all such misstatements.

Page 179

Consistency report

Fraud

Going concern
The Pension Fund is required to prepare its financial statements on a going concern basis
by the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting. The Director of Finance and Property
is responsible for the assessment of whether is it appropriate for the Pension Fund to
prepare it’s accounts on a going concern. basis As auditors, we are required to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding, and conclude on the appropriateness of the
Director of Finance and Property’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements and the adequacy of disclosures made.

Engagement and
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key
judgement areas

Electors’ rights
The 2014 Act requires us to give an elector, or any representative of the elector, the
opportunity to question us about the accounting records of London Borough of Lambeth and
consider any objection made to the accounts. This would include an objection made to the
accounts of the Pension Fund included in the administering authority’s financial statements.
We also have a broad range of reporting responsibilities and powers that are unique to the
audit of local authorities in the United Kingdom

Fees for audit and
other services

Our commitment to
independence

Materiality and misstatements

Appendix

5

Section 02:
Your audit engagement team
Page 180

2. Your audit engagement team

Stuart Frith

Chris Maskell

Engagement Lead

Engagement manager

Assistant Manager

Email: lucy.nutley@mazars.co.uk

Email: stuart.frith@mazars.co.uk

Email: chris.maskell@mazars.co.uk

Telephone: 07387 242052

Telephone: 07909 982774

Telephone: 07583 133397

Page 181

Lucy Nutley

In addition, an engagement quality control reviewer (EQCR) has been appointed for this engagement.

Engagement and
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key
judgement areas

Value for money

Fees for audit and
other services

Our commitment to
independence

Materiality and
misstatements

Appendices

7

Section 03:
Audit scope, approach and timeline
Page 182

8

3. Audit scope, approach and timeline
Audit scope
Our audit approach is designed to provide an audit that complies with all professional requirements.
Our audit of the financial statements will be conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK), relevant ethical and professional standards, our own audit approach and in accordance with the terms of our
engagement. Our work is focused on those aspects of your business which we consider to have a higher risk of material misstatement, such as those impacted by management judgement and estimation, application of new
accounting standards, changes of accounting policy, changes to operations or areas which have been found to contain material errors in the past.

Audit approach
Our audit approach is a risk based approach primarily driven by the risks we consider to result in a higher risk of material misstatement of the financial statements. Once we have completed our risk assessment, we develop our
audit strategy and design audit procedures in response to this assessment.

Our audit will be planned and performed so as to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement and give a true and fair view. The concept of materiality and how we define a
misstatement is explained in more detail in section 7.
The diagram on the next page outlines the procedures we perform at the different stages of the audit.

Engagement and
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key
judgement areas

Fees for audit and
other services

Our commitment to
independence

Materiality and misstatements

Appendix

9

Page 183

If we conclude that appropriately designed controls are in place then we may plan to test and rely upon these controls. If we decide controls are not appropriately designed, or we decide it would be more efficient to do so, we may
take a wholly substantive approach to our audit testing. Substantive procedures are audit procedures designed to detect material misstatements at the assertion level and comprise: tests of details (of classes of transactions,
account balances, and disclosures); and substantive analytical procedures. Irrespective of the assessed risks of material misstatement, which take into account our evaluation of the operating effectiveness of controls, we are
required to design and perform substantive procedures for each material class of transactions, account balance, and disclosure.

3. Audit scope, approach and timeline

Interim – September 2021

•

Planning visit and developing our understanding of the Pension Fund

•

Documenting systems and controls

•

Initial opinion assessment

•

Performing walkthroughs

•

Considering proposed accounting treatments and accounting policies

•

Interim controls testing including tests of IT general controls

•

Developing the audit strategy and planning the audit work to be performed

•

Early substantive testing of transactions

•

Agreeing timetable and deadlines

•

Reassessment of audit plan and revision if necessary

•

Preliminary analytical review

Page 184

Planning – July 2021

Completion – November 2021

Fieldwork – September – October 2021

•

Final review and disclosure checklist of financial statements

•

Receiving and reviewing draft financial statements

•

Final partner review

•

Reassessment of audit plan and revision if necessary

•

Agreeing content of letter of representation

•

Executing the strategy starting with significant risks and high risk areas

•

Reporting to the Corporate Committee

•

Communicating progress and issues

•

Reviewing subsequent events

•

Clearance meeting

•

Signing the auditor’s reports

Engagement and
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key
judgement areas

Fees for audit and
other services

Our commitment to
independence

Materiality and misstatements

Appendix

10

3. Audit scope, approach and timeline
Reliance on internal audit

Service Organisations

We do not intend to rely on the work of internal audit. However, we will review their work and it to inform our
assessment of the control environment and we will modify the nature, extent and timing of our audit procedures

International Auditing Standards (UK) (ISAs) define service organisations as third party organisations that
provide services to the Council that are part of its information systems relevant to financial reporting. We are
required to obtain an understanding of the services provided by service organisations as well as evaluating the
design and implementation of controls over those services. We have not identified any relevant service
organisations.

We will meet with internal audit to discuss the progress and findings of their work prior to the commencement of
our controls evaluation procedures.

Management’s and our experts

Items of account

Service organisation

Management makes use of experts in specific areas when preparing the Council’s financial statements. We
also use experts to assist us to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence on specific items of account.

Disclosure notes on
funding arrangements and
actuarial present value of
contractual retirement
benefits.

Financial instrument
disclosures

Engagement and
responsibilities summary

Management’s expert

Our expert

Hymans Robertson

We make use of PWC actuarial services who
are commissioned by the NAO to review the
national analysis of pension trends and
assumptions of the various LGPS actuaries
and consider the findings for potential impact
on the values included within the financial
statements.

Mercers

We will review the output and associated
analysis against available information to
confirm that the basis of the assessments
appears reasonable and the disclosures are
appropriate.

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key
judgement areas

Substantive testing of transactions
occurring in the year, income received and
valuations applied to investments at the
year end.
Investment valuations and
income along with all
related disclosures

Value for money

Fees for audit and
other services

Fund managers and
Custodians

Our commitment to
independence

We will seek an appropriate Type 1 or Type
2 report in respect of the operation of
systems by the service organisation to give
us assurance over their operation of key
controls. We will consider the findings of
this review and the impact on the overall
control environment.

Materiality and
misstatements

Appendices

11

Page 185

Item of account

Audit approach

Section 04:
Significant risks and other key
judgement areas
Page 186

12

4. Significant risks and other key judgement areas
Following the risk assessment approach discussed in section 3 of this document, we have identified relevant
risks to the audit of financial statements. The risks that we identify are categorised as significant, enhanced or
standard. The definitions of the level of risk rating are given below:

Significant risk
A significant risk is an identified and assessed risk of material misstatement that, in the auditor’s judgment,
requires special audit consideration. For any significant risk, the auditor shall obtain an understanding of the
entity’s controls, including control activities relevant to that risk.

Enhanced risk

•

key areas of management judgement, including accounting estimates which are material but are not
considered to give rise to a significant risk of material misstatement; and

•

other audit assertion risks arising from significant events or transactions that occurred during the period.

Page 187

An enhanced risk is an area of higher assessed risk of material misstatement (‘RMM’) at audit assertion level
other than a significant risk. Enhanced risks require additional consideration but does not rise to the level of a
significant risk, these include but may not be limited to:

Standard risk
This is related to relatively routine, non-complex transactions that tend to be subject to systematic processing
and require little management judgement. Although it is considered that there is a risk of material misstatement
(RMM), there are no elevated or special factors related to the nature, the likely magnitude of the potential
misstatements or the likelihood of the risk occurring.

Engagement and
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key
judgement areas

Fees for audit and
other services

Our commitment to
independence

Materiality and misstatements

Appendix

13

4. Significant risks and other key judgement areas
Summary risk assessment
The summary risk assessment, illustrated in the table below, highlights those risks which we deem to be significant
and other enhanced risks in respect of the Pension Fund. We have summarised our audit response to these risks
on the next page.

High

1
Management override of controls

2

Valuation of investments within level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy

Page 188

Financial impact

2

1

Low
Low

Key:

Likelihood

Significant risk

Engagement and
responsibilities summary

High

Enhanced risk / significant management judgement

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key
judgement areas

Fees for audit and
other services

Our commitment to
independence

Materiality and misstatements

Appendix

14

4. Significant risks and other key judgement areas
Specific identified audit risks and planned testing strategy
We have presented below in more detail the reasons for the risk assessment highlighted above, and also our testing approach with respect to significant risks. An audit is a dynamic process, should we change our view of risk or
approach to address the identified risks during the course of our audit, we will report this to the Corporate Committee.

Significant risks
Description
1

Fraud

Error

Judgement

Management override of controls

We will address the risk through performing audit procedures, covering a
range of areas including (but not limited to):

Management at various levels within an organisation are in a unique
position to perpetrate fraud because of their ability to manipulate
accounting records and prepare fraudulent financial statements by
overriding controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively.
Due to the unpredictable way in which such override could occur
there is a risk of material misstatement due to fraud on
all audits.

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key
judgement areas

Fees for audit and
other services

•

accounting estimates included in the financial statements for evidence of
management bias;

•

any significant transactions outside the normal course of business; and

•

journals and other adjustments recorded in the general ledger in
preparing the financial statements.

Our commitment to
independence

Materiality and misstatements

Page 189

This is a mandatory significant risk on all audits due to the
unpredictable way in which such override could occur.

Engagement and
responsibilities summary

Planned response

Appendix

15

4. Significant risks and other key judgement areas
Significant risks

Description
2

Fraud

Error

Judgement

Valuation of level 3 investments

We plan to address this risk by completing the following additional
procedures:

Inherently these assets are harder to value, as they may not have
publicly available quoted prices from a traded market, and as such
they require professional judgement or assumptions to be made
when valuing them at year end.
As the pricing of these investment assets is subject to judgements,
they may be susceptible to pricing variances due to the assumptions
underlying the valuation. We therefore consider that there is an
increased risk of material misstatement.

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key
judgement areas

Fees for audit and
other services

•

agree holdings from fund manager reports to the global custodian’s
report;

•

agree the valuation to supporting documentation including investment
manager valuation statements and cash flows for any adjustments made
to the investment manager valuation;

•

agree the investment manager valuation to audited accounts or other
independent supporting documentation, where available; and

•

where audited accounts are available, check that they are supported by a
clear opinion.

Our commitment to
independence

Materiality and misstatements

Page 190

As at 31 March 2021 the Pension Fund held investments with a fair
value of £232.0m which were identified as level 3 (those where at
least one input that has an impact on the valuation is not based on
observable market data). These assets account for 13.1% of the
Fund’s net investment assets.

Engagement and
responsibilities summary

Planned response

Appendix

16

Section 05:
Fees for audit and other services

Page 191

17

5. Fees for audit and other services
Fees for work as the Pension Fund’s appointed auditor
The scale fee set by PSAA as communicated in our fee letter of 24 April 2019 is £16,170. At this stage we are
planning to charge £3,000 for additional work we will have to undertake as part of our audit of the 2020/21 financial
statements.
Area of work
Code Audit Work

2020/21 Proposed Fee

2019/20 Actual Fee

£19,170

£19,170

Page 192

Fees for non-PSAA work
We confirm that we have not been separately engaged by the Fund to carry out additional work for the London
Borough of Lambeth Pension Fund. Further information about our responsibilities in relation to independence is
provided in section 6.

Engagement and
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key
judgement areas

Fees for audit and
other services

Our commitment to
independence

Materiality and misstatements

Appendix

18

Section 06:
Our commitment to independence

Page 193

19

6. Our commitment to independence
We are committed to independence and are required by the Financial Reporting Council to confirm to you at
least annually in writing that we comply with the FRC’s Ethical Standard. In addition, we communicate any
matters or relationship which we believe may have a bearing on our independence or the objectivity of the
audit team.

We confirm, as at the date of this document, that the engagement team and others in the firm as appropriate,
Mazars LLP are independent and comply with relevant ethical requirements. However, if at any time you have
concerns or questions about our integrity, objectivity or independence please discuss these with Lucy in the first
instance.

Based on the information provided by you and our own internal procedures to safeguard our independence as
auditors, we confirm that in our professional judgement there are no relationships between us and any of our
related or subsidiary entities, and you and your related entities creating any unacceptable threats to our
independence within the regulatory or professional requirements governing us as your auditors.

Prior to the provision of any non-audit services Lucy will undertake appropriate procedures to consider and fully
assess the impact that providing the service may have on our auditor independence.

•

All partners and staff are required to complete an annual independence declaration;

•

All new partners and staff are required to complete an independence confirmation and also complete
computer based ethical training;

•

Rotation policies covering audit engagement partners and other key members of the audit team; and

•

Use by managers and partners of our client and engagement acceptance system which requires all nonaudit services to be approved in advance by the audit engagement partner.

Engagement and
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key
judgement areas

Any emerging independence threats and associated identified safeguards will be communicated in our Audit
Completion Report.

Fees for audit and
other services

Our commitment to
independence

Materiality and misstatements

Appendix

20

Page 194

We have policies and procedures in place which are designed to ensure that we carry out our work with
integrity, objectivity and independence. These policies include:

No threats to our independence have been identified.

Section 07:
Materiality and other misstatements

Page 195

21

7. Materiality and misstatements
Summary of initial materiality thresholds
Initial threshold
£’000s

Threshold

The assessment of what is material is a matter of professional judgement and is affected by our perception of
the financial information needs of the users of the financial statements. In making our assessment we assume
that users:
•

Have a reasonable knowledge of business, economic activities and accounts;

Overall materiality

£26.8m

•

Have a willingness to study the information in the financial statements with reasonable diligence;

Performance materiality

£18.8m

•

Understand that financial statements are prepared, presented and audited to levels of materiality;

•

Recognise the uncertainties inherent in the measurement of amounts based on the use of estimates,
judgement and the consideration of future events; and
Will make reasonable economic decisions on the basis of the information in the financial statements.

Specific materiality:
£5.7m

•

Fund accounts performance materiality

£4.0m

We consider materiality whilst planning and performing our audit based on quantitative and qualitative factors.

£804k

Whilst planning, we make judgements about the size of misstatements which we consider to be material and which
provides a basis for determining the nature, timing and extent of risk assessment procedures, identifying and
assessing the risk of material misstatement and determining the nature, timing and extent of further audit procedures.

Trivial threshold for errors to be reported to the Corporate Committee

Materiality
Materiality is an expression of the relative significance or importance of a particular matter in the context of
financial statements as a whole.
Misstatements in financial statements are considered to be material if they, individually or in aggregate, could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial
statements.
Judgements on materiality are made in light of surrounding circumstances and are affected by the size and
nature of a misstatement, or a combination of both. Judgements about materiality are based on consideration of
the common financial information needs of users as a group and not on specific individual users.

Engagement and
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key
judgement areas

The materiality determined at the planning stage does not necessarily establish an amount below which
uncorrected misstatements, either individually or in aggregate, will be considered as immaterial.
We revise materiality for the financial statements as our audit progresses should we become aware of
information that would have caused us to determine a different amount had we been aware of that information
at the planning stage.
Our provisional materiality is set based on a benchmark of Net Assets. We will identify a figure for materiality
but identify separate levels for procedures design to detect individual errors, and also a level above which all
identified errors will be reported to the Corporate Committee.
We consider that Net Assets remains the key focus of users of the financial statements and, as such, we base
our materiality levels around this benchmark.

Fees for audit and
other services

Our commitment to
independence

Materiality and misstatements

Appendix

22

Page 196

Fund account overall materiality

7. Materiality and misstatements

Materiality (continued)

Misstatements

We expect to set a materiality threshold at 1.5% of Net Assets. Based on the current year financial statements
we have set the overall materiality for the year ending 31 March 2021 as £26.8m (£21.4m in the prior year).

We accumulate misstatements identified during the audit that are other than clearly trivial. We set a level of
triviality for individual errors identified (a reporting threshold) for reporting to the Corporate Committee that is
consistent with the level of triviality that we consider would not need to be accumulated because we expect that
the accumulation of such amounts would not have a material effect on the financial statements. Based on our
preliminary assessment of overall materiality, our proposed triviality threshold is £804k based on 3% of overall
materiality. If you have any queries about this please do not hesitate to raise these with Lucy.

After setting initial materiality, we continue to monitor materiality throughout the audit to ensure that it is set at
an appropriate level.

Performance Materiality

Engagement and
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key
judgement areas

Page 197

Performance materiality is the amount or amounts set by the auditor at less than materiality for the financial
statements as a whole to reduce, to an appropriately low level, the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected
and undetected misstatements exceeds materiality for the financial statements as a whole. Our initial
assessment of performance materiality is based on medium inherent risk, meaning that we have applied 70% of
overall materiality as performance materiality.

Reporting to the Corporate Committee
The following three types of audit differences will be presented to the Corporate Committee:
•

summary of adjusted audit differences;

•

summary of unadjusted audit differences; and

•

summary of disclosure differences (adjusted and unadjusted).

Fees for audit and
other services

Our commitment to
independence

Materiality and misstatements

Appendix

23

Appendix: Key communication points

A
Page 198

24

Appendix: Key communication points

•

Our commitment to independence;

•

Responsibilities for preventing and detecting errors;

•

Materiality and misstatements; and

Relevant points that need to be communicated with you at each stage of the audit are outlined below.

•

Fees for audit and other services.

Form, timing and content of our communications
We will present the following reports:

Key communication points at the completion stage to be included in our
Audit Completion Report

•

Our Audit Strategy Memorandum;

•

Significant deficiencies in internal control;

•

Our Audit Completion Report; and

•

Significant findings from the audit;

•

Auditor’s Annual Report

•

Significant matters discussed with management;

•

Our conclusions on the significant audit risks and areas of
management judgement;

•

Summary of misstatements;

•

Management representation letter;

•

Our proposed draft audit report; and

•

Independence.

These documents will be discussed with management prior to being presented to yourselves and their
comments will be incorporated as appropriate.

Key communication points at the planning stage as included in this Audit
Strategy Memorandum
•

Our responsibilities in relation to the audit of the financial statements;

•

The planned scope and timing of the audit;

•

Significant audit risks and areas of management judgement;

Engagement and
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key
judgement areas

Fees for audit and
other services

Our commitment to
independence

Materiality and misstatements

Page 199

We value communication with Those Charged With Governance as a two way feedback process at the heart of
our client service commitment. ISA 260 (UK) ‘Communication with Those Charged with Governance’ and ISA
265 (UK) ‘Communicating Deficiencies In Internal Control To Those Charged With Governance And
Management’ specifically require us to communicate a number of points with you.

Appendix

25

Appendix: Key communication points
ISA (UK) 260 ‘Communication with Those Charged with Governance’, ISA (UK) 265 ‘Communicating Deficiencies In Internal Control To Those Charged With Governance And Management’ and other ISAs (UK) specifically require
us to communicate the following:

Where addressed

Our responsibilities in relation to the financial statement audit and those of management and those charged
with governance.

Audit Strategy Memorandum

The planned scope and timing of the audit including any limitations, specifically including with respect to
significant risks.

Audit Strategy Memorandum

With respect to misstatements:

Audit Completion Report

•

Uncorrected misstatements and their effect on our audit opinion;

•

The effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods;

•

A request that any uncorrected misstatement is corrected; and

•

In writing, corrected misstatements that are significant.

With respect to fraud communications:
•

Enquiries of the Corporate Committee to determine whether they have a knowledge of any actual,
suspected or alleged fraud affecting the entity;

•

Any fraud that we have identified or information we have obtained that indicates that fraud may exist; and

•

A discussion of any other matters related to fraud.

Engagement and
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key
judgement areas

Page 200

Required communication

Audit Completion Report and discussion at Corporate Committee,
Audit Planning and Clearance meetings

Fees for audit and
other services

Our commitment to
independence

Materiality and misstatements

Appendix

26

Appendix: Key communication points

Required communication

Where addressed

Significant matters arising during the audit in connection with the entity’s related parties including,
when applicable:

Audit Completion Report

•

Non-disclosure by management;

•

Inappropriate authorisation and approval of transactions;

•

Disagreement over disclosures;

•

Non-compliance with laws and regulations; and

•

Difficulty in identifying the party that ultimately controls the entity.
Audit Completion Report

•

Our view about the significant qualitative aspects of accounting practices including accounting policies,
accounting estimates and financial statement disclosures;

•

Significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the audit;

•

Significant matters, if any, arising from the audit that were discussed with management or were the subject
of correspondence with management;

•

Written representations that we are seeking;

•

Expected modifications to the audit report; and

•

Other matters, if any, significant to the oversight of the financial reporting process or otherwise identified in the
course of the audit that we believe will be relevant to the Corporate Committee in the context of fulfilling their
responsibilities.

Significant deficiencies in internal controls identified during the audit.

Engagement and
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Page 201

Significant findings from the audit including:

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Audit Completion Report

Significant risks and key
judgement areas

Fees for audit and
other services

Our commitment to
independence

Materiality and misstatements

Appendix

27

Appendix: Key communication points

Where addressed

Where relevant, any issues identified with respect to authority to obtain external confirmations or inability to
obtain relevant and reliable audit evidence from other procedures.

Audit Completion Report

Audit findings regarding non-compliance with laws and regulations where the non-compliance is material and
believed to be intentional (subject to compliance with legislation on tipping off) and enquiry of the Corporate
Committee into possible instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that may have a material effect
on the financial statements and that the Corporate Committee may be aware of.

Audit Completion Report and Corporate Committee meetings

With respect to going concern, events or conditions identified that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern, including:

Audit Completion Report

•

Whether the events or conditions constitute a material uncertainty;

•

Whether the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate in the preparation and presentation of the
financial statements; and

•

The adequacy of related disclosures in the financial statements.

Reporting on the valuation methods applied to the various items in the annual financial statements including any
impact of changes of such methods

Audit Completion Report

Indication of whether all requested explanations and documents were provided by the entity

Audit Completion Report

Engagement and
responsibilities summary

Your audit
engagement team

Audit scope,
approach and timeline

Significant risks and key
judgement areas

Fees for audit and
other services

Page 202

Required communication

Our commitment to
independence

Materiality and misstatements

Appendix

28

Mazars

Mazars is an internationally integrated partnership, specialising in audit, accountancy, advisory, tax
and legal services*. Operating in over 90 countries and territories around the world, we draw on the
expertise of 40,400 professionals – 24,400 in Mazars’ integrated partnership and 16,000 via the
Mazars North America Alliance – to assist clients of all sizes at every stage in their development.
*where permitted under applicable country laws.

Page 203

Tower Bridge House
St Katharine’s Way
London
E1W 1DD

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix Three - Suggested Training/Events, Q4 2021 - Q1 2022
Cost & Additional
Information

Website

Webinar

£145 - registration via
website

https://www.cipfa.org/training/l/lgps-committee-membersautumn-seminar-20211008-online

LGA

Hybrid

£270 - registration via
website

https://lgaevents.local.gov.uk/lga/frontend/reg/thome.csp
?pageID=417773&eventID=1222&traceRedir=2

Climate Capital: The Future of Climate Finance

Financial Times
Live

Webinar

PLSA Annual Conference

PLSA

Webinar

Responsible and Impact Investment Summit

DG Publishing

etc. Venues,
200 Aldersgate,
London, EC1A
4HD

Date

Time

Event

08/10/2021

12:00 16:00

LGPS Committee Members Autumn Seminar
2021

CIPFA

12/10/2021

All day

Fundamentals (Training Course) - Day 1

12/10/2021

08:00 15:15

12/10/2021 All day
14/10/2021
18/10/2021 All day
19/10/2021

Organiser

Location

£99 - registration via
website
Free for PLSA Members:
registration via website

https://www.plsa.co.uk/Annual-conference

Free upon request
(optional dinner and drinks https://www.dgpublishing.com/responsible-and-impacton evening on 18th) investment-summit/
registration via website

09:30 12:30

Trustee Training - Funding and Investment

LCP

Webinar

£495 - registration via
website
£270 - registration via
website

09/11/2021

All day

Fundamentals (Training Course) - Day 2

LGA

Hybrid

09/11/2021

09:00 16:30

Current Investment Issues for Pension Funds

The Dilly Hotel,
Free to attend upon
SPS Conferences Piccadilly,
request via website
London

ESG and Climate Change Seminar

Pensions
Management
Institute

In Person:
London Wall
Place, EC2Y
5AU.
Webinar

PLSA

Webinar

£720 - full conference in
person
£144 - full conference
online
Registration via website
Free for PLSA Members:
registration via website

https://www.lcp.uk.com/events/2021/10/trustee-trainingfunding-and-investment-autumn-2021/
https://lgaevents.local.gov.uk/lga/frontend/reg/thome.csp
?pageID=418799&eventID=1225
https://www.spsconferences.com/conference-detailsnovember-9-2021

https://my.pensionspmi.org.uk/Shared_Content/Events/Event_Display.aspx
?EventKey=ESG111121

16/11/2021

11:00 12:00

Embedding ESG into Pension Scheme
Decision-Making

17/11/2021

13:30 16:30

Adapting to Change and Creating a Portfolio for Financial Times
the Future
Live

18/11/2021

09:00 16:30

Local Authority Pension Fund's Sustainable
Investment Strategies

The Dilly Hotel,
Free to attend upon
SPS Conferences Piccadilly,
request via website
London

02/12/2021

All day

Fundamentals (Training Course) - Day 3

LGA

09/12/2021 All day
10/12/2021

LGC Investment Seminar (Theme TBC)

Royal
Local Government
Free to attend - registration
Armouries
https://investmentseminar.lgcplus.com/winter-seminar
Chronicle (LGC)
via website
Museum, Leeds

Financial Times
HQ, Bracken
Free upon request House, London, registration via website
EC4M 9BT

Hybrid

£270 - registration via
website

https://www.plsa.co.uk/Events/Webinars/EmbeddingESG-into-pension-scheme-decision-making

https://portfolioforthefuture.live.ft.com/

https://www.spsconferences.com/conference-detailsnovember-18-2021
https://lgaevents.local.gov.uk/lga/frontend/reg/thome.csp
?pageID=420167&eventID=1229

Page 205

20/10/2021

10/11/2021 All day
11/11/2021

https://climatecapitalfinance.live.ft.com/

20/01/2022 All day
21/01/2022

LGPS Governance Conference: Climate
Forecast for the LGPS - (Mc)Cloudy or Bright?

LGA

Highcliff
Marriott Hotel,
Bournemouth /
Online

£515 - full conference in
person (includes meals and
overnight accommodation)
£400 - full conference
online
Registration via website

https://lgaevents.local.gov.uk/lga/frontend/reg/thome.csp
?pageID=429899&eventID=1259&CSPCHD=00100100
0000rJhcFLQdutehmC82mm5uaATNeEhBVkPMavA$9
Z

10/02/2022

09:00 16:30

Climate Change Investment: Risk &
Opportunities for Pension Funds

The Dilly Hotel,
Free to attend upon
SPS Conferences Piccadilly,
request via website
London

https://www.spsconferences.com/conference-detailsfebruary-10-2022

16/03/2022

09:00 16:30

Local Authority Pension Fund Investment &
Stewardship

The Dilly Hotel,
Free to attend upon
SPS Conferences Piccadilly,
request via website
London

https://www.spsconferences.com/conference-detailsmarch-16-2022

Page 206

Page 207
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 8

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 213
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 235
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 243
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 279
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 10

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 285
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 313
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 315
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

This page is intentionally left blank

